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FOREWORD
This document contains the Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Plan, Final Draft for Town
Adoption (the Plan) August 2017. The Plan has been prepared by the Greenwich Harbor
Management Commission (HMC) in accordance with municipal authority provided by the
Connecticut Harbor Management Act of 1984 (Sections 22a-113k through 22a-113t of the
Connecticut General Statutes) and by the Town of Greenwich HMC Ordinance (Chapter 7A of the
Greenwich Town Code).
In accordance with Sec. 22a-113m of the General Statutes and Chapter 7A of the Town Code, the
Plan has been approved by the Board of Selectmen (BOS), reviewed by the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers (USACE), and approved by the Connecticut Commissioner of Energy and
Environmental Protection and the Connecticut Port Authority. To take effect, it requires adoption
by ordinance by the Greenwich Representative Town Meeting (RTM).
Included in the Plan are Town goals, policies, and recommendations for beneficial use and
conservation of the Greenwich Harbors Area (GHA). The GHA includes all navigable waters and
intertidal areas within the Town’s municipal jurisdiction on the Byram River/Port Chester Harbor,
Byram Harbor, Greenwich Harbor, Cos Cob Harbor, Greenwich Cove, Tomac Creek, and other
nearshore waters of Long Island Sound known as Greenwich Outer Harbor.
A principal purpose of the Plan is to strengthen and maintain the Town’s authority for managing
use and conservation of the GHA. That purpose is achieved through Town planning, regulatory,
and other initiatives undertaken in coordination with state and federal agencies, notably the
Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP) and USACE.
Public and private activities affecting the GHA must be consistent with the Plan. The HMC is
responsible for determining this consistency through a Harbor Management Review Process
established in the Plan.
The Plan strengthens and maintains coordination among the different Town agencies with
responsibilities affecting the GHA. It helps ensure that these agencies incorporate an awareness
and understanding of harbor management concerns into their decisions, and that their actions are,
to the extent practical and permitted by law, consistent with the Town goals, policies, and
recommendations established in the Plan. In addition, actions by the State of Connecticut Harbor
Master must be consistent with the Plan.
The Plan adheres to the principles outlined in the 2009 Greenwich Plan of Conservation and Development (POCD). The Plan and POCD are complementary Town documents.
Plan implementation is a dynamic process that will evolve as conditions change. The Plan
establishes a policy and decision-making framework to guide the Town’s actions, including caseby-case decision-making by the HMC. That framework is flexible and requires modification over
time in response to changing conditions. To ensure that it responds to changing conditions, the
Plan contains provisions for future amendment as needed.
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Chapter One:

Introduction and
Plan Overview
This first chapter of the Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Plan (the Plan) provides an
introduction to the Greenwich Harbors Area (GHA). The GHA defines the Town’s area of municipal harbor management jurisdiction over its coastal waters, intertidal areas, and several distinct
harbors on Long Island Sound. As described in this chapter, Town authority for managing use and
conservation of the GHA is provided by Special Legislative Acts, unique to the Town, that were
enacted by the Connecticut General Assembly, and by the Connecticut General Statutes and the
Town Charter and Code of Ordinances. This authority is implemented through actions by the
Greenwich Representative Town Meeting (RTM), the Board of Selectmen (BOS), and the Greenwich Harbor Management Commission (HMC).
This chapter also sets forth the Town’s harbor management goals, identifies the Town’s harbor
management priority issues, and introduces the Plan’s policies, recommendations, and responsibilities for implementation. The policies and recommendations are not intended to provide a definitive solution to every issue confronting the GHA, but instead provide a guiding framework for
case by case decision-making by the HMC.
The Plan adheres to the principles outlined in the 2009 Greenwich Plan of Conservation and Development (POCD). The Plan and POCD are complementary Town documents.
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INTRODUCTION TO THE GREENWICH
HARBORS AREA
The municipal harbor management jurisdiction of the Town encompasses a broad geographic area
waterward of the Mean High Water (MHW) line, including a number of well-known harbors and
coves supporting a diversity of water-dependent uses and activities. For the purpose of the Plan,
this area of jurisdiction is referred to as the GHA. (See map 1-1.)

Photo 1-1: The view east over the Greenwich Harbors Area; Byram River/Port
Chester Harbor in the foreground

Distinct harbors and coves within the GHA include, from west to east: the Byram River/Port Chester Harbor (so much as lies within the Town’s municipal boundaries); Byram Harbor; Greenwich
Harbor; Smith Cove; Indian Harbor; Cos Cob Harbor; Greenwich Cove; and Tomac Creek. Some
of these harbors and coves are defined in Sec. 7-8 of the Greenwich Municipal Code (Town Code)
as distinct “inner harbors” of the Town. Also included in the GHA is the area known as the Outer
Harbor bounded to the west by Byram Point, to the south by Great Captain Island and Little Captain Island, and to the east by Greenwich Point. Three harbors—Byram River/Port Chester, Greenwich, and Cos Cob—are served by federal navigation projects authorized by the U.S. Congress.
The GHA is described in more detail in Chapter Two of the Plan.
Many agencies at the Town, state, and federal levels of government have authorities and responsibilities that affect use, conservation, and enhancement of the GHA. In addition, the general
public and waterfront property owners have important rights in the GHA, and private organizations
are also interested parties. This institutional framework for harbor management is described in
Chapter Three of the Plan.
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Photo 1-2: The view west over Greenwich Cove and the GHA

Town officials and agencies recognize the need for ongoing attention to both maintain safe and
enjoyable use of the GHA and conserve the natural resources and ecological values provided by
the harbors of the Town. This recognition was the impetus for preparing the Town’s Harbor Management Plan. A discussion of harbor management priority issues is included in Chapter Four of
the Plan.

TOWN AUTHORITY FOR HARBOR MANAGEMENT
Board of Selectmen
In addition to its powers and duties for administration of Town government, the three-member
Greenwich BOS has unique municipal authority for harbor management granted through Special
Legislative Acts 288 and 93 of the Connecticut General Assembly (see Appendix C of the Plan.
Significant harbor management authority is also provided to the BOS through Article 19, Sec. 307
of the Town Charter.
On September 15, 2011, the BOS by unanimous vote accepted the September 2011 report “A
Waterways Vision for the Town of Greenwich” prepared by the Greenwich Department and Board
of Parks and Recreation. That report included a recommendation calling for the BOS to evaluate
the potential benefits of preparing a Town Harbor Management Plan as authorized by the Connecticut General Statutes and recommended in both the 1998 and 2009 editions of the POCD.
Following evaluation, the BOS proposed an ordinance, subsequently adopted by the RTM, which
established the HMC. That ordinance also specified the approval authority of the BOS over the
Plan and any Plan amendments before the Plan and any future amendments may be adopted by the
RTM.
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Harbor Management Commission
On September 16, 2013, the RTM adopted the HMC Ordinance as Chapter 7A of the Town Code,
creating the HMC. The HMC was thereby authorized to carry out all of the powers, duties, and
authorities granted to municipal harbor management commissions by the Connecticut General Assembly through the 1984 legislation known as the Connecticut Harbor Management Act (P.A. 84287; Sections 22a-113k through 22a-113t of the Connecticut General Statutes). A specific intent
of the Act is to increase the authority and control of local governments over matters pertaining to
the use, management, and conditions of their harbors. (The Connecticut Harbor Management Act
and Chapter 7A of the Town Code are included as appendices D and E, respectively, of the Plan.)
Chapter 7A of the Town Code contains the following statement of purpose.
Pursuant to the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes §§ 22a-113k through 22a-113t,
there is hereby created the Harbor Management Commission for the Town of Greenwich,
which Commission, subject to the authority held by the Board of Selectmen of the Town of
Greenwich under Town Charter § 307, shall be responsible for preparing, maintaining and
implementing a Harbor Management Plan for the Town of Greenwich in accordance with
General Statutes § 22a-113m through § 22a-113t. Any Harbor Management Plan prepared
by the Harbor Management Commission shall be effective only upon approval and adoption
by the Board of Selectmen and the Representative Town Meeting. Any and all actions of the
Harbor Management Commission may be reviewed by or appealed to the Board of Selectmen
within thirty (30) days of the Harbor Management Commission's action being appealed.

HARBOR MANAGEMENT PLAN
Following its appointment by the RTM, the HMC prepared the Plan. In doing so, the HMC sought
and received input from interested residents and organizations, Town officials and agencies, and
state and federal agencies with harbor management responsibilities. The HMC will continue to
work in coordination with all involved agencies, officials, organizations, and residents when pursuing the Town’s harbor management goals and otherwise implementing the Plan.

Harbor Management Goals
At the outset of the planning process, the HMC set forth 11 goals to serve as the foundation of the
Plan and, in effect, to establish the Town’s harbor management vision. Based in part on the
legislative goals and policies of the Connecticut Coastal Management Act (CCMA), the Town’s
harbor management goals are directed toward achieving an appropriate balance in the GHA between safe and beneficial use of the GHA for recreational and other purposes on the one hand, and
protection of natural coastal resources and the existing character and quality of life in the Town on
the other. The HMC recognizes that, due to the uniqueness of some coastal resources, a balance
accommodating both recreational and commercial use and environmental conservation cannot be
achieved in all areas and at all times.
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The goals are based in large part on the concept of environmental stewardship whereby agencies,
organizations, governmental officials, and Town residents with an interest or authority pertaining
to the Town’s coastal and harbor resources will recognize a responsibility to care for those resources in the public interest. That care—or stewardship—is for the purpose of ensuring that the
resources and their natural and community values are sustained for the future. The goals also
establish the basis for the Plan’s harbor management policies and area-specific recommendations.

Goal 1:

Effective Town Management of the GHA

Use and conservation of the GHA will be actively managed by the Town in the public interest,
while preserving the Town’s natural and traditional character and heritage tied to Long Island
Sound and the tidal watercourses draining into the GHA. Harbor management will be accomplished through thoughtful, long-range planning, effective regulation of water and waterfront activities, and non-regulatory measures including, but not limited to, personal stewardship actions
and continued public outreach and education initiatives.

Goal 2:

Environmental Conservation, Enhancement, and Sustainability

Environmental quality, including water quality, and coastal resources in the GHA will be protected, enhanced, and sustained, with recognition of the vital ecological relationship between Long
Island Sound and its many tributaries and watersheds, including the Byram River, Mianus River,
and other tributaries flowing into the GHA.

Goal 3:

Coastal Resiliency

Vulnerability of the GHA and shoreline to the damaging impacts of natural hazards will be reduced, including vulnerability to flooding, erosion, and wind hazards caused by hurricanes, coastal
storms, and rising sea level. Recovery from damage inflicted by natural hazards will be accelerated, and costs for restoring Town services, public infrastructure, and community functions damaged by natural hazards will be reduced.

Goal 4:

Viable Water-Dependent Uses and Facilities

A diversity of water-dependent uses and facilities that individually and collectively enhance the
GHA, the local and regional economy, and the quality of life in the Town will be supported and
maintained.

Goal 5:

Nonfederal Dredging

Environmentally sound, nonfederal dredging will be encouraged and supported to maintain safe
and efficient access to the GHA and the viability of water-dependent uses, improve water circulation and water quality, and remediate the adverse effects of siltation.

Goal 6:

Recreational Uses

Opportunities for recreational use of the GHA, consistent with the GHA’s capacity to support that
use without the occurrence of significant adverse impacts on environmental quality or on the public’s health, safety, welfare, and enjoyment will be maintained and enhanced.
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Goal 7:

Public Health, Safety, and Welfare

Use and development of the GHA and waterfront will be properly managed to assure the most
orderly and efficient use, reduce and avoid conflicts among competing uses, and otherwise provide
for the continued health, safety, and welfare of everyone who uses and enjoys the GHA and waterfront.

Goal 8:

Sustainable Economic Benefits

Economic benefits associated with the GHA and waterfront, facilitated by coordinated use, development, and enhancement of suitable waterfront areas for water-dependent uses, will be recognized and pursued.

Goal 9:

Appropriate Access to the GHA

Safe and enjoyable opportunities for public use of, and access to, the GHA for active and passive
recreational uses will be provided in appropriate locations, consistent with the capacity of coastal
resources to accommodate public access in an environmentally sound manner.

Goal 10: Coordinated Planning and Regulation of Waterfront Land-Use
Waterfront land-use will be planned and regulated through the POCD and Building Zoning Regulations in coordination with implementation of the Plan, in a manner consistent with the CCMA
and Town goals for land-use and development, and with the capacity of the natural and man-made
environment to support waterfront use and development without significant adverse impacts on
coastal resources and water quality.

Goal 11: Public Interest, Support, and Participation
Public support for implementing the Plan will be established and maintained, along with public
awareness and appreciation of the significant recreational, environmental, economic, and community resources and values provided by the GHA.

Priority Issues
During the harbor management planning process a number of questions and concerns were raised
by Town residents, officials, and others participating in the process. In analyzing the issues, the
HMC found that some require prompt attention; others may be more significant in the future or
require longer-term approaches to their resolution; and many are inter-related. All may be addressed through the Town’s goals, policies, and recommendations established in the Plan.
The HMC identified seven harbor management priority issues. These priority issues, listed below,
are discussed in Chapter Four of the Plan.

1.

Improved procedures are needed to effectively apply the full range of municipal authority for managing the GHA, including authority of the BOS pursuant to Special
Legislative Acts and harbor management authority from the General Statutes.
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2.

Regular maintenance dredging of the Mianus River, Greenwich Harbor, and Port
Chester Harbor (Byram River) federal navigation projects is necessary to maintain
safe and efficient navigation, long-term viability of water-dependent facilities, and
enjoyable public access to Long Island Sound.

3.

A new and comprehensive Town program is needed for fair and equitable management of all boat mooring locations in all harbors of the Town.

4.

An effective procedure is needed for allocating funds, including mooring permit fees,
for maintenance and improvement of the GHA for the public and for expenses for
personnel and equipment directly related to implementation of the Plan.

5.

Existing and potential conflicts among motorized and human-powered vessels require
ongoing attention and coordination among responsible agencies and the public to protect all users, achieve effective enforcement of applicable laws and regulations, and
increase public awareness.

6.

Additional Town guidelines are needed to avoid environmental impacts and other potentially adverse effects of docks and piers, while maintaining property owners’ rights
for reasonable access to navigable water and protecting the public’s rights and interests and the traditional character of the shoreline.

7. Pressure for redevelopment of waterfront sites, especially in the Town’s Waterfront Business zoning district (WB Zone), may require amendment of waterfront zoning regulations to help ensure continuation of some water-dependent land-uses, including recreational boating facilities and services.
8.

Sections of the Town Code pertaining to the GHA are outdated and require amendment to implement the Plan and achieve consistency with current laws and regulations.

Harbor Management Policies
and Recommendations
The Plan establishes Town polices that guide case by case decisions by the HMC and other Town
agencies when responding to the harbor management priority issues and other harbor management
concerns regarding the GHA. The following policies, set forth in Chapter Five of the Plan, apply
throughout the Town’s harbor management jurisdiction: 1) public health, safety, and welfare policies; 2) navigation and water-use policies; 3) coastal resources and water quality policies; 4) recreational boating policies; 5) waterfront land-use and development policies; 6) water and waterfront access policies; and 7) harbor management administration and coordination policies.
More site-specific harbor management recommendations are also included in the Plan in Chapter
Six. These have been formulated for each of the seven identified harbors of the Town: Byram
River/Port Chester Harbor; Byram Harbor; Greenwich Harbor; Cos Cob Harbor; Greenwich Cove
and Tomac Creek; and the Outer Harbor.
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Implementing the Harbor Management Plan
In Chapter Seven, the Plan identifies responsibilities for Plan implementation, including responsibilities of the RTM, BOS, HMC, other Town agencies, the Harbor Master, state and federal governmental agencies, including DEEP and the USACE, and private groups and individuals. Among
other responsibilities, the RTM will apply its authorities to adopt Town plans, ordinances, and fee
schedules, and to approve Town operating and capital budget requests, in a manner to advance the
Plan; the BOS will apply its authority provided by Special Legislative Acts 288 and 93 and Sec.
307 of the Town Charter as needed; and the HMC will conduct a Harbor Management Review
Process to review proposals affecting the GHA to determine their consistency with the Plan, and
establish and implement regulations relating to use and maintenance of the GHA, including regulations for mooring of all vessels.

Benefits of the Harbor Management Plan
The Plan will be used by the Town to achieve a number of important purposes and benefits.
Among other benefits, the Plan will:


Address the Town’s immediate harbor management issues, including mooring administration,
dredging, dock and pier management, and funding matters;



Strengthen the Town’s role, in coordination and cooperation with state and federal authorities,
for planning, management, and regulation of in-water and waterfront activities and development;



Advance the Town’s long-range vision for appropriate and beneficial use and conservation of
the GHA and the individual harbors of the Town, in coordination with the POCD;



Encourage coordination and cooperation among Town agencies and among the different Town,
state, and federal agencies with responsibilities affecting the GHA, including land-use responsibilities affecting water quality in the GHA;



Facilitate increased cooperation by the Harbor Master for achieving Town goals for beneficial
use and conservation of the GHA and the harbors of the Town;



Establish a continuing local forum to give all citizens, officials, and businesses an opportunity
to address issues concerning the GHA and Plan; and



Provide a formal basis for applying operational funds for the beneficial management of the
GHA on an on-going basis and for capital projects and other harbor management initiatives.

Chapter One: Introduction and Plan Overview (August 2017 Final Draft)
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Harbor Management Fund
The Greenwich Harbor Management Fund, established in accordance with Sec. 22a-113s of the
Connecticut General Statutes and Sec. 7A-7 of the Town Code, will provide a source of funds for
implementing administrative and other provisions of the Plan. In accordance with the statute and
code, fees for mooring permits and other activities within the scope of the Plan are deposited into
the Harbor Management Fund administered by the HMC and BOS. The fund may be used only for
maintenance and improvement of the GHA for the benefit of the public and for expenses for personnel, equipment, and other items, including software, directly related to the function of the HMC
and Harbor Master.
The Plan does not commit the Town to future expenditures, but provides a basis for implementing
capital and other projects recommended in the Plan, utilizing the Greenwich Harbor Management
Fund and other funds, including funds available from state, federal, and private grant programs, as
available.

An On-Going Process
Managing the GHA through implementation of the Plan is a dynamic process that will evolve as
conditions and circumstances change. The HMC, acting in coordination with the BOS and other
Town agencies, works to implement the Plan, recognizes that the Plan cannot identify every issue
that is likely to affect the GHA in the future, nor does the Plan provide a definitive answer to every
possible problem. The Plan provides a policy and decision-making framework to guide the Town’s
actions, including case-by-case decision-making by the HMC and other Town agencies, as well as
the actions of state and federal agencies. The framework will be flexible and require modification
over time as conditions change and responses to sometimes complicated harbor management issues develops.
As the Town’s harbor management initiatives progress, additional management provisions may be
needed to respond to changing circumstances so as to ensure that the Plan remains up to date.

NOTE:
Laws and regulations affecting the GHA, including laws and regulations enforced by agencies of
the State of Connecticut, are subject to change and/or renumbering. Persons affected by or otherwise interested in laws and regulations noted in the Plan should consult current statutes and regulations and may contact the appropriate agency for information on the status of current laws.

Final Draft for Adoption
August 2017

Chapter Two:

The Greenwich
Harbors Area
This chapter describes the GHA encompassing the navigable waters and intertidal areas subject to
the harbor management authorities of the Town. The GHA defines the jurisdiction of the Greenwich HMC and Plan. Boundaries of the GHA are coincident with the boundaries of the area,
established in Special Legislative Act 93 and Section 307 of the Town Charter, within which the
Town’s BOS has authority to make rules, regulations, and orders respecting the use of the waters
by all vessels. A diversity of water-dependent activities along with ecologically vital coastal resources is found in the GHA.
Included in this chapter are descriptions of: 1) the Town’s coastal area setting on Long Island
Sound; 2) historical uses and development of the Town’s shoreline and navigable waters; 3) the
boundaries of the GHA and some general conditions of interest in the GHA; and 4) conditions in
each of the several distinct and well known harbors and coves of the Town within the GHA.
The information presented emphasizes how the Town’s character and quality of life have always
been, and remain, intrinsically tied to the Town’s harbors and coves and the water and shoreline
resources of Long Island Sound. The coastal area is generally recognized by Town officials and
the general public as the Town’s most important natural resource, providing a variety of environmental, economic, and community benefits for the Town and its citizens.
Prominent features of the GHA are shown on maps and photos included in this chapter.
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COASTAL AREA SETTING
The Town of Greenwich in southwest Connecticut’s Fairfield County is a coastal, primarily residential community with well-defined neighborhoods and village centers. Historically called the
“gateway to New England,” the Town may be characterized with regard to the exceptional natural
character of its interior and shore area landscapes. The 2010 census counted the Town’s population at 61,171. The area of the Town covers about 67 square miles, including about 48 square
miles of land and 19 of water.
Set on the north shore of Long Island Sound, the Town is bounded on the east by the City of
Stamford, on the north by the Town of North Castle; on the west by the Village of Port Chester,
Town of Harrison and City of Rye; and on the south by the Sound. (See maps 2-1 and 2-2.)
The Town is served by the major transportation arteries of the Connecticut Turnpike (I-95), Merritt
Parkway (Rt. 15), Post Road (Rt. 1), and Metro-North Commuter Railroad, and by navigable waterways in Long Island Sound.
The Town is part of the coastal area of the State of Connecticut as defined by the Connecticut
Legislature in the Connecticut Coastal Management Act (CCMA). Much of the Town’s historical
growth and development as well as its beneficial quality of life is tied to Long Island Sound and
the several distinct harbors and coves along the Town’s shoreline. As the Town continues to
thoughtfully plan for the beneficial use and conservation of its coastal and navigable waterways,
it is helpful to consider some of its history, particularly as that history is related to the Town’s
coastal area setting on Long Island Sound—an estuary of national significance designated by the
U.S. Congress.

A MARITIME COMMMUNITY
The Town’s roots as a community go back to the original settlement in 1640 when Daniel Patrick
and Robert Feake, two settlers acting in the name of the New Haven colony, purchased the area
now known as Old Greenwich (and formerly known as Sound Beach) from the Native American
Siwanoy Tribe. Included was the land between the watercourse now called Long Meadow Creek
(which flows through the present-day Binney Park into Greenwich Cove) and the present-day
boundary between Greenwich and Stamford. As with Connecticut’s other early communities, the
site of the Town’s first settlement was chosen because the coastal and estuarine environment provided abundant oysters, finfish, and other seafood; the salt marshes provided cordgrass and salt
hay to sustain livestock; the upland forests provided firewood and game; and the creeks flowing
into Greenwich Cove and Long Island Sound provided plentiful fresh water.
For security purposes, the settlement became a manor protected by the nearby Dutch colony of
New Netherland in 1642. After a boundary dispute with the Dutch in 1650, the settlement again
became part of the New Haven colony. The Town was considered part of Stamford from 1656
until 1665, when the Connecticut General Assembly declared Greenwich to be a separate township. In 1672, additional land along the shoreline to the west known as “Horseneck” (comprising
the Field Point peninsula and so named because of the peninsula’s shape) was purchased from the
Native Americans. Settlements then grew along the entire shore from the Stamford boundary to
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the Byram River and north to the border with New York State. By 1730, the Town’s present
boundaries were set.
Throughout the 1700s, farming was the Town’s principal enterprise. Tide-powered grist mills,
corn mills, and saw mills were built on the coastal creeks and rivers, including the Davis Mill built
on the Indian Harbor inlet and operated for 200 years. Shipping businesses along the Mianus River
and in Greenwich Harbor were established.
During the American Revolution, the Town’s shoreline continued to support maritime trade in
Long Island Sound, but the Sound also provided opportunity for British attacks on Greenwich and
other western Connecticut towns. Raids from New York and Long Island were frequent, and in
1779 the British looted and burned the Town.
After the war, maritime trading and fishing industries took hold and prospered throughout much
of the 19th century. Ships based at three Town landings transported agricultural goods to New
York City and other ports. In the 1830s, steamboats began regular service for passengers and
goods, stopping in Greenwich and Byram harbors. In 1840, a granite quarry on the site of the
present-day Byram Park began operation and provided stone for major construction projects in
New York City and elsewhere. Most of the Town’s economic and cultural activities during this
period took place on or near the waterfront.
When the New York and New Haven Railroad was completed through Greenwich in 1848, it set
in motion a chain of events that would dramatically change the character of the Town. In addition
to increasing the ease of transportation, the railroad brought many immigrants who became railroad workers, stone masons, and mill, foundry, and factory workers. In addition, the Town’s popularity as a suburb of New York City began to grow as businessmen purchased sizable tracts of
land and built homes outside the crowded city. During the latter part of the 1800s, the Town
became a summer resort favored by New Yorkers. Town residents and visitors began to look at
Long Island Sound and the Town’s shoreline as a recreational resource. The original Riverside
Yacht Club building was built in 1889. Hotels sprang up along the shore, and as more and more
visitors decided to build permanent homes in the Town, shorefront communities such as Belle
Haven, Field Point Park, and Byram Shore were established. Elsewhere in Town, farmland gave
way to construction of grand estates. National leaders in business, finance, art, literature, and
many other fields recognized Greenwich as an ideal location in which to live; they came to the
Town to make their homes.
Despite the ongoing shift to rail and highway transportation, maritime commerce in the Town’s
harbors remained significant. Toward the end of the 19th century, the U.S. Congress authorized
the first federal navigation improvements to be constructed in the Town’s harbors, including
dredged channels from Long Island Sound to the wharves in Greenwich and Cos Cob harbors.
Since then, the navigation projects have been modified and expanded several times as they evolved
from facilitating maritime commerce to serving pleasure craft. The federal lighthouse on Great
Captain Island, a mile offshore and near the main shipping lanes in Long Island Sound, was constructed in 1829.
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By the 1920s, Greenwich had the highest per capita income of any town in the nation and the
building of waterfront estates continued along the entire shoreline. In addition to the residents
who owned large tracts of land, many others owned or rented smaller homes and the need developed for public land for recreational purposes. Land for the first public park was bequested by
Robert Bruce on the Davis Mill Pond near the center of Town. Bruce Park was thereby established
in 1908 and improved for public use. Ten years later the Town purchased property on the west
shore of Byram Harbor and Byram Park was built. Binney Park on the creek flowing into Greenwich Cove was established in 1927. In the 1940s and 1950s, prominent waterfront parks such as
Greenwich Point Park (Tod’s Point) and Roger Sherman Baldwin Park at the head of Greenwich
Harbor were established. Most of Great Captain Island was acquired by the Town in 1966; the
lighthouse property on the island was acquired in 1973.

HARBOR MANAGEMENT HISTORY
The Town’s coastal location on Long Island Sound has been a major and constant influence affecting growth and development in Greenwich since the first settlement in 1640. The coastal location has provided the Town and its citizens with vital economic, environmental, and cultural
opportunities and benefits throughout the Town’s history.
In 1949 and 1955, the Connecticut General Assembly enacted Special Legislative Acts 288 and
93, respectively, giving the Board of Selectmen unique harbor management authority to make
rules, regulations, or orders respecting the use of Town waters by all vessels. (See Chapter Three
of the Plan.) By another Special Act in 1975 (Special Act 75-53), the General Assembly validated
all actions of the Town pursuant to the powers granted by the 1955 Act, and ratified, confirmed,
and approved all provisions of the 1955 Act and the powers and authority thereby granted to the
Town. Special Act 75-53 was subsequently incorporated in the Town Charter as Sec. A-11.
In 1980, the CCMA established the state’s policies for both conservation of natural coastal resources and beneficial use of those resources. The Town then established its own planning and
zoning provisions to address the Town’s coastal management issues. The Planning and Zoning
Commission adopted appropriate modifications to the Town’s land use policies and zoning regulations to protect water-dependent uses and achieve other goals for beneficial use and conservation
of coastal resources. These planning and zoning initiatives recognized the quality of life and economic benefits associated with use of the Town’s coastal area as well as the need to ensure that
coastal resources and beneficial water-dependent uses are properly sustained.
Today, the attention given by Greenwich officials and planners to the Town’s shoreline and harbor
areas continues to reflect the Town’s foresighted efforts to address the ongoing pressures and interest for use of Town and privately owned properties on and near the shoreline.
In 2008, the First Selectman of the Town established a 15-member advisory committee including
representatives of Town agencies and interested stakeholders. The committee’s purpose was to
advise the BOS on matters concerning management of the GHA and the Town’s harbors.
Pursuant to the authorities provided by the Special Legislative Acts of 1949 and 1955 and Sec.
307 of the Town Charter, the BOS in 2008 initiated several programs to strengthen the Town’s
role in guiding use and conservation of the GHA, and to address several harbor management issues
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of interest to the public. In this regard, the BOS reaffirmed the “Rules and Procedures for Greenwich Harbor and Cos Cob Harbor” adopted by the BOS in 1985; supported establishment of a
computerized boat mooring registration system; supported establishment of a special account
within the Town’s General Fund to receive all mooring permit fees; established a policy that all
such fees may be used only for purposes of managing and improving the GHA for the benefit of
the public; and actively pursued, in coordination with the USACE, specific planning initiatives to
achieve maintenance dredging of the federal navigation channel in the Town’s Cos Cob Harbor.
In 2009, the Town’s Planning and Zoning Commission updated the Town’s 1998 POCD, emphasizing the value of the Town’s coastal neighborhoods and resources and calling for long-range
planning to guide beneficial use and conservation of the Town’s navigable waterways. It included
a recommendation calling for the Town to manage its waterways through development and adoption of a Town Harbor Management Plan, utilizing authority provided to the Town by the Connecticut General Statutes.
In 2013, the RTM, utilizing authority provided by Sections 22a-113k through 22a-113t of the Connecticut General Statutes, adopted an ordinance, proposed by the BOS, establishing the Greenwich
HMC. Among other powers, duties, and responsibilities, the HMC is authorized to prepare, maintain, and implement the Plan for the most desirable use of the Town’s coastal and navigable waterways.

THE GREENWICH HARBORS AREA
For harbor management purposes, the Town’s municipal jurisdiction over coastal waters of Long
Island Sound encompasses a broad geographic area including tidal and navigable waters, other
natural coastal resources, and a number of distinct and well known harbors and coves that support
a diversity of water-dependent uses. This jurisdictional area, defined in Section 307 of the Town
Charter, is the area for which the 1949 and 1955 Special Legislative Acts, the Charter, and the
Greenwich Municipal Code (Town Code) authorize the Selectmen to make reasonable rules and
regulations regarding the use of the water by all vessels. For the purpose of the Plan, this jurisdictional area is herein referred to as the GHA. Defined in the Charter and Special Legislative Act
93 (see map 2-3; see also map 1-1 in Chapter One of this Plan), this area is:
“.. bounded on the east by so much of the line separating the Town of Greenwich from the
Town of Stamford as lies north of the forty-first parallel of latitude; on the south by a line
running from the intersection of the Town line with the forty-first parallel westerly to Flat
Neck Point, thence southwesterly through lighted bell buoy No. 1 east of Little Captains
Island, thence southwesterly to red nun buoy No. 2 immediately southwesterly of Great
Captains Island, and thence to the State line on a line running northwesterly through black
can buoy No. 1 on Mansuring Reef at the entrance to Port Chester Harbor; on the west by
the line between New York and Connecticut, and on the north by the shore line of the Town
of Greenwich...”
To summarize, the GHA is waterward of the MHW line, bounded on the west and east, respectively, by the jurisdictions of the Village of Port Chester, New York and City of Stamford, Connecticut. The jurisdictional boundary between Greenwich and Port Chester is surveyed by the
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State of Connecticut.1 The boundary between the Town and Stamford in Tomac Creek and Long
Island Sound, however, is not defined by any known governmental survey. On the south, the GHA
is bounded by a line that runs, within the projection of the boundary lines of the neighboring municipalities, generally along the outside of Flat Neck Point, Little Captains Island, Great Captains
Island, and Mansuring Reef at the entrance to Port Chester Harbor.2 The GHA is not to be confused with Greenwich Harbor which is one of the Town’s several distinct inner harbors within the
GHA.
The Town’s irregular shoreline along the GHA covers about 27 miles according to the POCD;
includes 30 islands (seven are Town-owned); and supports a number of different waterfront uses,
including residential, recreational, commercial, and open space uses. The GHA also includes a
number of distinct harbors and coves including, from west to east, the Byram River/Port Chester
Harbor (so much as lies within the Town’s boundaries)3, Byram Harbor, Greenwich Harbor, Smith
Cove, Indian Harbor, Cos Cob Harbor, Greenwich Cove, and Tomac Creek. Several of these harbors and coves are defined in Chapter 7, Sec. 7-8 of the Town Code as distinct “inner harbors’’ of
the Town, and are described later in this chapter.

Conditions Affecting Navigation
Federal navigation projects authorized by Acts of Congress to facilitate navigation and provide
opportunities for boat mooring and anchoring have been established in three Town harbors. These
projects, maintained by the USACE, have been established in Cos Cob Harbor (Mianus River
project), Greenwich Harbor, and the Byram River. The USACE’s New England District is responsible for maintenance dredging of the Cos Cob and Greenwich Harbor projects to maintain the
projects’ authorized dimensions as necessary. In the Byram River, the navigation project is known
as the Port Chester Harbor; maintenance of this navigation project is the responsibility of the
USACE’s New York District.

1

See the 1997 “Connecticut-New York State Boundary Line Perambulation” by the Connecticut
Department of Transportation.

2

The territorial limits of the Town of Greenwich extend southward to the Connecticut/New York
boundary in the center of Long Island Sound. Recognizing that municipal harbor management
authority does not extend to the center of the Sound, the area traditionally managed by the Town
pursuant to the Special Legislative Acts and defined in the Town Charter is herein defined as the
jurisdiction of the HMC and Plan. In addition, it is recognized that locations of aids to navigation
used to identify the jurisdictional area defined in the Charter and Special Legislative Act 93 may
have changed over time. As a result, the Plan recommends a jurisdictional area defined with
reference to geographic coordinates.

3

For the purpose of the Plan, the harbor of the Town identified in Sec. 7-8 of the Town Code as Port
Chester Harbor, “so much as lies in Connecticut and north of the southernmost end of the breakwater on Byram Point,” is called Byram River/Port Chester Harbor.
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Since construction and maintenance of federal navigation projects are funded by federal
tax dollars, the USACE has a policy that all
navigation projects must be “open to all on
equal terms.’’ This policy is to ensure that all
citizens have an equal opportunity to benefit
from the projects.
Historically, the federal channels in the GHA
have not been subject to very rapid shoaling
and maintenance dredging has been required
at relatively wide intervals. Dredged material
from the GHA has typically been placed in
open water disposal sites in Long Island
Sound. Maintenance dredging was conducted
by the USACE in 1985 in the Mianus River
channel. At that time, the Town established
“Rules and Regulations for Greenwich Harbor and Cos Cob Harbor” to achieve compliance with the USACE’s “open to all on equal
terms” policy. (See Appendix H of the Plan.)
Most recently, at the request of the Town and
with funds provided by the State of Connecticut, the USACE conducted maintenance
dredging of the Mianus River navigation project during the 2016-2017 dredging season.
Photo 2-1: The federal channel in Greenwich Harbor follows the shoreline of the
Steamboat Road Peninsula

In addition to the federal channels, non-federal navigation channels maintained by the
Town also provide access to boating facilities
in the GHA, notably in Byram Harbor and
Greenwich Cove.

Aids to navigation in the GHA include federal aids maintained by the U.S. Coast Guard and private
aids maintained by the Town’s Department of Parks and Recreation, operators of commercial marine facilities, and private clubs.
Navigation in the GHA is affected by weather, tide, and many other natural and man-made conditions. In summer, the prevailing southwest wind averages eight miles per hour. In winter, the
prevailing wind is northwesterly and averages 12 miles per hour. Temperature throughout the year
normally ranges from below zero F to over 100 degrees F with an average temperature of 53 degrees. Mean tidal range in the GHA is approximately 7.09 feet.
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Coastal Resources
The Town’s character and quality of life are intrinsically tied to the natural coastal resources in the
GHA. These resources provide vital ecological functions related to fish and wildlife habitat (including shellfish habitat), water quality, flood and erosion control, and scenic quality. They also
provide significant economic, recreational, and cultural values and benefits.
In addition to their natural values, the coastal resources provide opportunities for beneficial use
and have significant economic, recreational, historic, scientific, and educational values. They enhance the value of waterfront properties, for example, and provide opportunities for the variety of
boating and other water-dependent activities that provide significant recreational and economic
benefits to the Town and its citizens.
A variety of coastal resources is found in and adjacent to the GHA, including, but not limited to,
the area’s tidal waters and embayments, intertidal flats, tidal wetlands, beaches, islands, floodplains, and living marine resources such as finfish and shellfish. The several tributaries and watersheds that drain into the GHA through the Town also have significant natural values and ecological functions. In addition to the major watersheds of the Byram and Mianus Rivers, the smaller
watersheds associated with Horseneck Brook, Strickland Brook, Brothers Brook, Long Meadow
Creek, Tom’s Brook, and Tomac Creek also affect the GHA and Long Island Sound.
There is a fundamental relationship among these tributaries, watersheds, the GHA, and Long Island Sound. Storm water runoff from the watersheds eventually enters the GHA and Sound, affecting the quality of surface waters. Environmental quality of the GHA and Sound may be affected by contaminants emanating from upland building and construction projects and storm water
runoff from roads and highways. The environmental quality of the Sound depends significantly
on the environmental quality of its many tributaries and watersheds, including the watersheds
draining into the GHA. All Town agencies recognize that storm water runoff from throughout the
Town’s watersheds affects water quality in the GHA and they apply cooperatively their various
authorities to identify and correct sources of pollution.
The location and extent of coastal resources were identified by the Town in the course of developing the Town’s coastal management policies and zoning requirements and are available for review
in the Planning and Zoning Office.
Parts of the Town’s shoreline, particularly in the Byram and Old Greenwich areas, have been subject historically to severe tidal flooding, most notably during hurricanes in the 1930s, ‘40s, and
‘50s; the December 1992 Nor’easter; and Hurricane Irene and “Superstorm” Sandy in 2011 and
2012, respectively. Shoreline flooding and erosion are also caused by more frequent spring and
winter storms. Portions of the shore area fall within coastal flood hazard areas identified on Flood
Insurance Rate Maps. Flood boundary locations shown on those maps predict the flooding extent
of the theoretical 100-year (one percent chance) flood.
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In recent years there have been a number
of accomplishments with regard to understanding and improving water quality conditions in the GHA and Long Island
Sound, including improvements of municipal wastewater collection and treatment
systems along the Sound (such as the significant improvements to the Town’s
Grass Island wastewater treatment plant
over the past decade) and establishment of
water quality monitoring and educational
efforts. Nevertheless, pollution and the
risk of pollution still exist. Bacteria and
other pollutants can affect the enjoyment
of boating activities, the vitality of fish and
wildlife, and the health of those who come
in contact with the water. Simply stated,
water pollution in the GHA would diminish the quality of life and should be of concern to everyone.

Photo 2-2: Intertidal resources, including in Long
Meadow Creek, provide many environmental benefits.

Pursuant to the Connecticut Water Pollution Control Act, all state waters are classified by DEEP in accordance with state
water quality standards. The classifications establish designated uses for surface
waters and identify the criteria necessary
to support those uses. The classifications
applied in the GHA include “SA” and
“SB.”

Class “SA” is the highest classification applied to the state’s coastal and marine surface waters.
Designated uses of class “SA” waters are “marine fish, shellfish and wildlife habitat, shellfish
harvesting for direct human consumption, recreation, and all other legitimate uses including navigation.” Designated uses of class “SB” waters are “marine fish, shellfish and wildlife habitat,
shellfish harvesting for transfer to a depuration plant or relay (transplant) to approved areas for
purification prior to human consumption, recreation, industrial and other legitimate uses including
navigation.”
Much of the GHA is classified by the State of Connecticut as “SA.” Areas with the “SB” classification are in the Byram River/Port Chester Harbor and the inner portion of Greenwich Harbor
between Field Point on the west and the Steamboat Road peninsula on the east. At times, bacterial
contamination, excessive nutrients, and other pollutants are found in the GHA in amounts that do
not support, based on state-established standards, the designated uses of class “SA” and “SB” waters. As a result, DEEP has determined that some areas of the GHA do not meet the assigned state
water quality goals. Those areas and the cause of their impairment are included on the state’s list
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of impaired water bodies. (See 2014 “State of Connecticut Integrated Water Quality Report, Final,” October 2014, by DEEP.)
Water quality has a significant effect on the quality of the Town’s shellfish resources which consist
of not only shellfish populations but also the habitat required for those populations to reproduce,
survive, and flourish. Significant shellfish beds with populations of hard- and soft-shell clams,
razor clams, mussels, oysters, and slipper shells are found throughout the GHA. Pursuant to state
laws originally enacted in the 1800s, three basic types of shellfish grounds totaling 5,630 acres
have been designated in and near the GHA for shellfishing and shellfish management purposes: 1)
private grounds (often called “Town grounds”) designated by the Town and worked by commercial shellfishing companies that own the exclusive rights to raise shellfish on these grounds; 2)
“natural” shellfish grounds as defined by decrees of the Superior Court to be left open to the general public; and 3) state grounds within the jurisdiction of the Connecticut Department of Agriculture’s Bureau of Aquaculture where commercial shellfishing is in accordance with franchise rights
(granted by the state prior to 1915) or lease arrangement with the state.
The Greenwich Shellfish Commission manages use and conservation of the natural shellfish
grounds. Within those grounds, shellfishing areas currently open for recreational harvest are found
in Greenwich Cove and the waters around the Captain Islands.
The Bureau of Aquaculture has calculated 1,244 acres of natural shellfish grounds, 660 acres of
town grounds, and 3,726 acres of state-leased or franchised shellfish grounds within the Town’s
territorial waters. (See map 2-3.)
Waters and intertidal areas of the GHA have been classified for shellfishing purposes by the Bureau. These classifications to protect the public health are called shellfish growing area classifications and are distinct from the water quality classifications established by DEEP. Shellfish growing area classifications currently applied in the GHA are: “Approved,” “Conditionally Approved,”
“Restricted-Relay,” and “Prohibited.”
Intertidal resources in the GHA, including tidal wetlands and intertidal flats subject to alternating
periods of tidal inundation and exposure, are of particular ecological significance. As areas of
high nutrient value and biological productivity, the wetlands provide detrital products which become the food of organisms living in Long Island Sound, including crabs, worms, snails, finfish
and shellfish. Tidal wetlands also provide habitat, nesting, feeding, and refuge areas for shorebirds
and serve as the nursery ground for larval and juvenile forms of many of the Sound’s marine organisms.
Intertidal flats are gently sloping or flat areas usually devoid of vegetation and composed of
muddy, silty and fine sandy sediments. They are found along the shoreline throughout the GHA
and provide natural values similar to the values provided by wetlands. Intertidal flats serve as
sources and reservoirs of nutrients for a variety of marine organisms. Microflora and algae, along
with decaying marsh plants, can contribute to a vast reservoir of fragmented organic matter or
detritus in the intertidal area. Shellfish are among the conspicuous benefactors of the productive
intertidal flats in the GHA. In addition, intertidal flats enhance shellfish habitat by acting as a sink
for toxic material and other pollutants.
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Water and Waterfront Uses and Activities
The shoreline of the GHA is used for residential, recreational, and commercial purposes. There
are a number of distinct shore area residential neighborhoods and villages, including the Cos Cob,
Old Greenwich, and Byram villages, that developed with a connection to a specific harbor of the
Town and retain their historic and beneficial patterns of development.
Commercial development along the shoreline, including commercial marinas and other boating
facilities, is generally limited to the Town’s four Waterfront Business Districts: one on the Byram
River/Port Chester Harbor; one on Greenwich Harbor; and two on Cos Cob Harbor. These zoning
districts were established to assure that limited waterfront areas are reserved for the uses they are
uniquely suited for and not pre-empted by uses that are not water-dependent and which therefore
can be more appropriately located elsewhere.
The GHA shoreline is also characterized by substantial waterfront parks providing exceptional and
varied opportunities for public access to the harbors of the Town and Long Island Sound for boating and other beneficial purposes. These include Greenwich Point Park on Greenwich Cove and
Long Island Sound, Cos Cob Park adjoining Cos Cob Harbor, Roger Sherman Baldwin Park and
Grass Island Park adjoining Greenwich Harbor, Byram Park on Byram Harbor, and the Town islands (Great Captain and Little Captain) in the outer harbor. A significant feature of Grass Island
Park is the Town’s wastewater treatment plant which operates alongside public boating facilities.
The Town is a significant center of recreational boating in western Long Island Sound. A number
of facilities serving the boating public are located on the Town’s waterfront and in the GHA. These
facilities include docks, boat slips, moorings, and boat launching ramps as well boat sales, service,
repair, and storage facilities. Boating facilities include those operated by the Town for public use,
including the Byram, Grass Island, Cos Cob, and Greenwich Point municipal marinas, as well as
privately owned facilities. The privately owned facilities include commercial marinas, boatyards,
and excursion/charter boat businesses. Several private waterfront clubs provide recreational boating opportunities for their members and guests. In addition, private docks enable boating access
from many waterfront residential properties.
Significant portions of the shoreline are also designated and managed for conservation purposes,
including the Grass Island conservation area, the Great Captain Island bird sanctuary, the Shell
Island wildlife sanctuary, and the Calf Island unit of the Stewart B. McKinney National Wildlife
Refuge.
Along with the recreational boating activities, a variety of other water-dependent uses take place
in and adjoining the GHA. These include swimming, commercial and recreational fishing and
shellfishing, waterfowl hunting, land-based recreational fishing, excursions to islands in the GHA,
and more passive recreational activities such as walking along the shoreline, picnicking, island
camping, and the enjoyment of scenic views of the GHA.
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Photo 2-3: Grass Island Park and Marina and the Town’s wastewater treatment
plant on Greenwich Harbor.

Subject to specified restrictions concerning minimum distance from dwellings and other restrictions, waterfowl hunting is permitted by state law waterward of the intertidal area unless specifically prohibited by regulations established by DEEP. In the GHA, waterfowl hunting is prohibited in areas of Byram Harbor, Greenwich Harbor, Cos Cob Harbor, and Greenwich Cove. (See
map 2-4.)
Numerous boat mooring locations have been established in the GHA, including in the federal anchorage basins in Greenwich Harbor, the special anchorage areas in Cos Cob Harbor, and elsewhere. Mooring locations are used by persons who require access through Town facilities to reach
their moored vessels, by the members of private waterfront clubs, and by waterfront property owners.
Recreational vessels moored in Byram Harbor, Greenwich Harbor, Cos Cob Harbor, and Greenwich Cove add to the vitality of water-dependent uses of the GHA. Many moorings are maintained
in large managed fields, and include moorings placed and maintained by private clubs in accordance with area permits issued by DEEP and the USACE and Town-established agreements, as well
as moorings placed and used individually by members of the general public in accordance with
Town rules and regulations. In 2016, the Harbor Master reported a total of 455 individual-private
mooring locations in the GHA and 350 mooring locations managed by private clubs.
The location of water-dependent uses on the GHA shoreline, including public and private facilities,
is shown on maps 2-5 through 2-18.
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Map 2-4: Waterfowl Hunting Areas

Planning and Development Initiatives
Commercial development and redevelopment proposals affecting the waterfront in the Town’s
four designated Waterfront Business Districts are subject to the use regulations and special requirements of the Town’s WB Zone. To implement the coastal management goals of the CCMA
and POCD, the uses permitted in the WB Zone are water-dependent uses such as recreational and
commercial boating and fishing facilities, water-based recreational uses, and dock facilities. Continued pressure for redevelopment in the WB Zone is recognized by the Town’s land-use agencies.
In 2015, the Board of Estimate and Taxation approved funds for the 2015/16 Fiscal Year to study
and, if necessary, revise the WB Zone regulations to maintain consistency with the POCD.
Elsewhere along the waterfront, Town planning and development initiatives include efforts to enhance opportunities for public access, including access for boating and other beneficial purposes,
to and along the GHA through the Town parks, marinas, and islands. A major initiative includes
the recently opened Cos Cob Park on the site of the former Cos Cob Power Plant. The common
theme in all these Town projects is not new; it can be seen throughout the Town’s history; and
involves connecting the Town with its harbors and Long Island Sound while protecting the Town’s
most valuable natural assets for the benefit of future generations.
When considering potential development initiatives that may affect the GHA, Town planners anticipate that a significant number of applications for work in the GHA will continue to be submitted
each year to DEEP and the USACE for approval. Those applications will include, but not be
limited to, proposals by water-dependent facility operators, residential property owners, and the
Town to construct or extend docks and piers to reach navigable water in the GHA and/or increase
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docking capacity. As a result, state and federal decisions will continue to have a significant influence on the GHA and it will be in the best interest of the Town to continue to strengthen its influence on those decisions. To do so will require, in part, continued informed and thoughtful review
of the applications submitted to DEEP and the USACE, and pursuit of available means to ensure
that the state and federal decisions incorporate the Town’s input to the maximum extent possible,
and are consistent with the Town’s goals and policies for use and conservation of the GHA.

BYRAM RIVER / PORT CHESTER HARBOR
Byram River/Port Chester Harbor is formed by the tidally influenced portion of the Byram River.
The harbor includes the navigable waterway in the Byram River, so much as lies within the Town’s
jurisdiction, upstream from Byram Point to the head of navigation at the Mill Street Bridge, a
distance of about 1.7 miles. The river begins in New York State and its main stem flows south
about 20 miles before entering Long Island Sound. The 29-square mile Byram River watershed
includes parts of Greenwich and five towns in New York State.
The harbor, including that part of the waterway within the jurisdiction of the Village of Port Chester, supports a mix of recreational, commercial, and industrial water-dependent uses and is served
by the Congressionally authorized Port Chester Harbor Federal Navigation Project, including a
navigation channel 100 to 175 feet wide with an authorized depth of three to 12 feet measured at
Mean Lower Low Water (MLLW), a breakwater at Byram Point, and an anchorage area with authorized depth of 12 feet MLLW.
Prominent waterfront features include the Connecticut Turnpike (I-95) bridge crossing over the
harbor about half way between Byram Point and Mill Street; the several waterfront terminals and
the village wastewater treatment plant site on the Port Chester shoreline; and recreational boating
facilities, including commercial boatyard and marina facilities and boat slips associated with waterfront restaurants and residential development. The Town’s WB zoning district covers all of the
waterfront properties along South Water Street, from Mill Street south to the I-95 bridge. There
are several public areas on both shorelines that provide access to the harbor. (See map 2-5.) Waterfront land-use in the WB Zone, including a review of Town-owned properties providing opportunities for future access to the harbor, is described in more detail in the Town’s Byram Comprehensive Plan (updated May 2011).
The 2011 Byram River Watershed Management Plan describes water quality in the harbor as impaired by bacterial pollution to the extent that shellfish and recreation are adversely affected. Pollution is attributed to sewage from poorly functioning septic systems, illicit sanitary connections
to storm water pipes, wildlife, pets, sewage from boats, marinas, and runoff from urban infrastructure such as roads, bridges, parking lots and other impervious surfaces. Also described in the
Watershed Management Plan, administrative orders have been issued previously by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to the Village of Port Chester to identify and repair illicit storm
sewer connections.
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Photo 2-4: The view south over the Byram River/Port Chester Harbor; Mill
Street Bridge in foreground; Port Chester, NY to right.

BYRAM HARBOR
Byram Harbor includes the navigable waters bounded on the west by the Long Island Sound shoreline of the Byram area of the Town, and on the east by the area of the Town known as Belle Haven.
Byram Point on the west and Field Point on the east are prominent landmarks that frame the harbor.
The Metro North Railroad and I-95 pass close by the shoreline of the northern part of the harbor.
(See map 2-6.)
On the west, the harbor’s shoreline is characterized by the waterfront homes along Byram Shore
Road, virtually all with docks and piers for boating access, and by the Town’s Byram Park. The
park includes the Town’s Byram Marina, one of four municipal boating facilities in the GHA, as
well as beach facilities and waterfront recreation and open space areas. The marina provides boat
slips and access to nearby Town-managed mooring locations in the harbor. The general locations
of individual-private boat moorings identified by the Harbor Master in the period 2012-2016 are
shown on map 2-7.
Within the boundaries of Byram Park, the Byram Shore Boat Club operates on Town-owned land
in accordance with a lease agreement with the Town. Several small islands surround the marina.
The nearby Shell Island is owned by the Greenwich Land Trust and managed as a nature preserve.
On the east, the harbor shoreline is characterized by waterfront homes and the private Belle Haven
Club which operates and maintains beach and marina facilities along with boat mooring locations
for its members and guests. Boat moorings controlled by the club are within a club-managed area
delineated in mooring area permits issued by DEEP and the USACE.
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Photo 2-5: Byram Harbor looking north over Shell Island; Byram Park and
Marina to left.

Tom’s Brook flows under the Metro North Railroad and I-95 and enters the northern part of the
harbor through a box culvert. The brook’s watershed includes the Town’s Holly Hill waste disposal and recycling facility where the Town is implementing storm water best management practices to address runoff from the facility.

GREENWICH HARBOR
Greenwich Harbor includes all of the navigable waters north of an imaginary line between Field
Point on the west and Tweed Island on the east. In addition to the main harbor (commonly known
as Greenwich Harbor), it also includes Smith Cove and Indian Harbor—two other distinct bodies
of water between prominent points of land. (See map 2-8.)
The main harbor, near the commercial center of the Town, is bounded by Field Point on the west
and the Steamboat Road peninsula on the east. This body of water supports a variety of Town and
private recreational boating facilities and activities, is served by the Greenwich Harbor Federal
Navigation Project, and has provided a “harbor of refuge” for local and visiting boaters since the
1940s. The navigation project includes a 1.4-mile long channel 100 to 140 feet wide with a congressionally authorized depth of 12 feet MLLW, and two adjoining anchorage basins, including
one historically called a “hurricane hole” providing a sheltered location for vessels during severe
storms. (See map 2-9 providing a general description of the navigation project.)
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Prominent features of the main harbor include the Town-owned Grass Island peninsula containing
the Town’s Grass Island Marina, a public boat launching ramp open to all, and the Town’s
wastewater treatment plant. The marina provides boat slips and access to mooring locations managed by the Town in the federal anchorage basins. A vessel waste pump-out facility available for
public use free of charge is also provided. On the west side of Grass Island are the marina facilities
of the Greenwich Boat and Yacht Club operating on Town-owned land in accordance with a lease
agreement with the Town. The general locations of individual-private boat moorings identified by
the Harbor Master in the Greenwich Harbor area in the period 2012-2016 are shown on map 2-10.

Photo 2-6: Looking over Greenwich Harbor toward Grass Island; Indian
Harbor in the foreground, then Smith Cove, the Steamboat Rd. peninsula, and
the main harbor.

Near the northern limit of the navigation project is the Town’s Roger Sherman Baldwin Park
providing waterfront open space for passive recreation and special events. On the east side of the
park are the docks from which Town ferries provide public access to the Town’s island recreation
areas. Also on the east side of the park are the docks and base of operations of the Greenwich
Police Department’s Marine Operations Division.
On the west, south of Grass Island, the harbor’s shoreline is characterized by waterfront homes
along Field Point, with docks and piers for boating access. On the east, commercial developments
located in the Town’s WB Zone along Steamboat Road have established waterfront docking facilities. The private Indian Harbor Yacht Club, a prominent water-dependent facility near the southern terminus of Steamboat Road, operates and maintains waterfront facilities and nearby boat
mooring locations for its members and guests. Boat moorings controlled by the club are within a
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club-managed area delineated in mooring area permits issued by DEEP and the USACE. In addition, per the Town’s “rules and regulations for Greenwich Harbor and Cos Cob Harbor” established to achieve compliance with the USACE’s “open to all on equal terms” policy, the club
historically has assisted the Town, as its agent, with administration of mooring locations in a portion of the federal anchorage. The Town Landing at the foot of the road provides public views of
the GHA.
Boating activities also take place in Smith Cove and Indian Harbor (also known as Chimney Corner) but water depths are significantly more shallow than in the main harbor. The shoreline is
characterized by waterfront homes, many with small private docks and floats, and intertidal flats.
Horseneck Brook flows through the central portion of the Town and, after flowing beneath the
Metro North Railroad and I-95, discharges into the northernmost part of the harbor through a large
culvert. As a result of flooding issues within the brook’s 3,900-acre watershed, the Town is pursuing substantial drainage system improvements in the watershed. Storm water from the Town’s
Central Business District drains into the harbor through two 60-inch culverts to the east of Roger
Sherman Baldwin Park.
The inner portion of Greenwich Harbor, along with Smith Cove and Indian Harbor, are included
on DEEP’s list of impaired water bodies due to bacterial and nutrient pollution adversely affecting
habitat for marine fish, other aquatic life, and wildlife. Potential sources of bacterial pollution
identified by DEEP include permitted and non-permitted storm water, illicit discharges, insufficient septic systems, and nuisance wildlife.

COS COB HARBOR
Cos Cob Harbor is defined by the tidally influenced reach of the Mianus River, downstream of the
Mianus Pond Dam. The southern boundary of the harbor is marked by an imaginary line in Long
Island Sound between Horse Island on the west and Elias Point on the east. To the west of the
harbor is the Cos Cob area of the Town and to the east is the area of the Town known as Riverside.
(See maps 2-11 and 2-12.) Originating in New York State, the Mianus River flows south about
14 miles before entering Long Island Sound. The river’s watershed covers about 35 square miles
in parts of five towns, including Greenwich and Stamford in Connecticut and Bedford, North Castle, and Pound Ridge in New York.
The harbor, served by the Mianus River Federal Navigation Project, supports a variety of waterdependent facilities and businesses that provide access to and from the harbor and Long Island
Sound. The navigation project consists of a 1.2-mile long, congressionally authorized federal navigation channel with an authorized depth of six feet at MLLW extending from the more open
waters of the harbor up the river to the head of navigation at the Rt. 1 Bridge. (See map 2-13
providing a general description of the navigation project.) Maintenance dredging to restore the
channel’s authorized dimensions was conducted by the USACE, at the request of the Town, during
the 2016-17 dredging season. The Mianus Pond Dam and Fishway, just upstream of the Rt. 1
Bridge, marks the upstream extent of tidal influence on the river. The fishway allows migrating
fish to swim over the dam.
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The Town-owned Cos Cob Park opened on the west side of the harbor in April 2015 on the site of
the former Cos Cob Power Plant, and includes an athletic field, waterfront walkways, and picnic
areas. Other prominent features include the I-95 and Metro North Railroad bridges crossing the
navigable waterway.

Photo 2-7: The River Road Waterfront Business District on Cos
Cob Harbor is a center of water-dependent uses.

A significant concentration of water-dependent facilities and businesses is found on the west side
of the harbor, including facilities and businesses within the Town’s WB Zone along River Road.
(The WB Zone also encompasses property adjoining Cos Cob Park.) Within the River Road WB
Zone are marinas; boat service, storage and repair yards; boat dealers; suppliers of boating equipment; three rowing facilities; and charter companies providing services and facilities for local and
visiting boaters. A vessel waste pump-out facility available for public use free of charge is provided at Beacon Point Marine.
Historically, the west side of the harbor supported businesses involved with the waterborne
transport of bulk materials. Today, the water-dependent operations provide service to the region’s
recreational boating industry and opportunities for public access to the harbor and Long Island
Sound, including a public access walkway required as a condition of development plan approval
by the Planning and Zoning Commission.
Waterfront land-use in the WB Zone, including a review of Town-owned properties providing
existing and future opportunities for access to the harbor, is described in more detail in the Town’s
2013 Cos Cob Neighborhood Plan.
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Also on the west side of the harbor is the Town’s Cos Cob Marina. The marina provides boat slips
and a public dock for access to the harbor and Long Island Sound. Nearby, the Mianus River Boat
and Yacht Club operates its marina on Town-owned land in accordance with a lease agreement
with the Town. A vessel waste pump-out facility available for public use free of charge is provided
on the Town-owned public landing known as the Ferris Dock.
The harbor’s western shore, south of Cos Cob Park, is characterized by waterfront homes. On the
eastern shore is the private Riverside Yacht Club, a prominent water-dependent facility that provides boat slips and access to nearby mooring locations used by club members and guests. Mooring locations have been established in two Coast Guard-designated “special anchorage areas” identified on published navigation charts. In addition, per an agreement with the Town, the club historically has assisted the Town, as its agent, with administration of mooring locations in the Special
Anchorage Areas.
Significant coastal resources associated with the harbor, in addition to its navigable waters, include
the intertidal flats and tidal wetlands along the shoreline, and the Cos Cob Mill Pond with a tidal
connection to the harbor. The Mill Pond, part of the GHA, is described in the Cos Cob
Neighborhood Plan as a significant cultural, historic, and environmental asset of the Cos Cob
neighborhood. The pond’s aquatic habitat provides nutrients and small fish that serve as food for
a variety of birds and larger fish, including herons and egrets raising their young on Town-owned
Great Captain Island in the GHA. Residents report seeing many different species of ducks, geese,
wading birds and other water birds throughout the year. On the west side of the pond, the Town’s
two-acre Mill Pond Park provides water views. Strickland Brook, a tributary of the Mianus River
with a history of flooding issues, flows for about five miles before entering the Mill Pond.
Additional information concerning the natural values of the Mianus River is provided in the 2012
Mianus River Watershed-Based Plan, funded in part by DEEP and prepared to promote measures
to reduce pollution and otherwise maintain and enhance environmental quality in the watershed.

GREENWICH COVE AND TOMAC CREEK
Greenwich Cove, sheltered from Long Island Sound by the peninsula that forms Greenwich Point
and Flat Neck Point, provides opportunities for boating, shellfishing, and other beneficial uses of
the water and shoreline. The irregular shoreline of the cove is characterized by waterfront homes,
many with small private docks and floats, and by the Town’s Greenwich Point Park. Long
Meadow Creek flows into the cove from the north, through the Town’s Binney Park and under the
Metro-North Railroad and West End Avenue. Under normal conditions, Binney Pond is not exposed to tidal exchange and therefore not subject to the coastal regulatory programs of DEEP. For
the purpose of defining the GHA, West End Avenue marks the upstream extent of the GHA on
Long Meadow Creek while it is recognized that actions further upstream may affect the GHA and
be of interest to the HMC.
There is no commercial development on, in, or contiguous to the cove. To the west of the cove is
the Riverside area of the Town and to the east is the area of the Town known as Old Greenwich.
(See map 2-14.)
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Greenwich Point Park is the Town’s largest waterfront park, providing opportunities for beach
recreation, picnicking, walking, fishing, shellfishing, and enjoyment of scenic views of the cove
and Long Island Sound. In addition, the Town’s Greenwich Point marina is located on the park
shoreline. The marina provides boat storage space, a launching ramp, and a public pier and dock
for access to the cove and the Town-managed mooring locations in the cove. The general locations
of individual-private boat moorings identified by the Harbor Master in the Greenwich Cove area
in the period 2012-2016 are shown on map 2-15. A nonfederal channel provides a navigable connection between Long Island Sound and the cove. Nearby the Town marina, the Old Greenwich
Yacht Club operates on Town-owned land in accordance with a lease agreement with the Town,
and, among other activities, sponsors the Town’s community sailing program.
Significant coastal resources associated with the cove, in addition to its navigable waters, include
the intertidal flats along much of the shoreline, tidal wetlands adjoining Long Meadow Creek, the
cove’s extensive shellfish resources, and Eagle Pond with its tidal connection to the cove. Greenwich Point Park is identified by Audubon Connecticut and DEEP as an Important Bird Area, and
is a significant stopover point for many species of migrating birds, and many waterfowl winter
offshore and in Eagle Pond.

Photo 2-8: Greenwich Cove looking over Greenwich Point Park

The small cove at the mouth of Tomac Creek is also designated as a harbor of the Town. It is
characterized by waterfront residential development and the Town-owned public area known as
the Tomac Creek overlook at the foot of Tomac Road. A portion of the municipal boundary between the Town and City of Stamford runs through the cove. The private Rocky Point Club is
located on the Old Greenwich shoreline west of the Creek. The general locations of individual-
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private boat moorings identified by the Harbor Master along the Old Greenwich shoreline and in
the Tomac Creek area in the period 2012-2016 are shown on map 2-16.

OUTER HARBOR
The Outer Harbor of the Town encompasses all other navigable waters within the GHA outside of
the six distinct inner harbors of the Town (Byram River/Port Chester Harbor, Byram Harbor,
Greenwich Harbor, Cos Cob Harbor, Greenwich Cove, and Tomac Creek). For the purpose of the
Plan, the boundaries of the Outer Harbor in Long Island Sound conform to the boundaries set forth
in the Town Charter as marking the outer limits of the area within which Town’s Board of Selectmen may make reasonable rules, regulations, and orders regarding the use of the water by all vessels. (See map 2-17.)
Prominent features of the Outer Harbor include the Town-owned islands Great Captain Island and
Little Captain Island (also known as Island Beach) managed by the Town’s Parks and Recreation
Department for public recreation and conservation purposes. Both islands are moraines—glacially
formed accumulations of rock and soil. Calf Island, an island formed on bedrock and one of eleven
units of the Stewart B. McKinney National Wildlife Refuge, is also part of the Outer Harbor. (See
map 2-6.)
The 17-acre Great Captain Island is about one mile south of Field Point and accessible by Town
ferry from the public landing at Roger Sherman Baldwin Park and private vessels. The western
portion of the island is managed for active recreation and includes a designated swimming beach,
shelter, and restrooms. Camping is permitted by permit. The eastern part of the island includes a
tidal lagoon and managed conservation area. The general locations of individual-private boat
moorings identified by the Harbor Master in the vicinity of Great Captain Island in the period
2012-2016 are shown on map 2-18.
Great Captain Island is identified as an Important Bird Area by Audubon Connecticut and DEEP.
Described by Audubon Connecticut, the island is the site of the largest heron and egret rookery in
Connecticut, with over 300 nesting pairs of nesting egrets and night-herons observed. A large
colony of Herring and Great Black-backed Gulls is also found on the island.
The 1868 lighthouse on the island’s southeast shore, included in the National Register of Historic
Places, has been restored and is managed as an historic site and 9/11 memorial. The Coast Guard
has installed an automated light for navigation and the lighthouse no longer provides an official
aid to navigation.
Public access to the four-acre Island Beach, about 3,500 feet east of the larger Great Captain Island,
is also via Town ferry from the public landing at Roger Sherman Baldwin Park and private vessels.
Island Beach is one of the Town’s oldest public parks. It provides a designated swimming beach
along with other amenities, including picnic tables, dressing rooms, restrooms, and covered shelters. Tidal wetlands and intertidal flats provide valuable coastal habitat on the south side of the
island.
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Managed by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, the 31.5-acre Calf Island is the largest island in
the GHA. The island supports a diverse coastal habitat including tidal wetlands, intertidal flats,
rocky intertidal shore, sandy beach, mixed forest and coastal shrub land. It provides excellent
wading bird habitat and is open to the public for wildlife observation and environmental education
purposes.

Photo 2-9: Great Captain Island; lagoon, conservation area,
and lighthouse historic site.

Final Draft for Adoption
August 2017

Chapter Three:

The Institutional
Framework
This chapter describes agencies with harbor management authorities in the GHA. Specific responsibilities of these agencies for implementing the Plan are set forth in Chapter Seven of the Plan.
The general public and waterfront property owners also have significant interests in the GHA, as
do several regional and private organizations. In addition, actions originating in other municipalities can affect the GHA and are noted in this chapter.
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TOWN OF GREENWICH
A number of Town agencies have authorities affecting use and conservation of the GHA. In addition to the RTM, BOS, and HMC, the agencies with harbor management-related responsibilities
are the Department of Parks and Recreation, Board of Parks and Recreation, Planning and Zoning
Commission, Planning and Zoning Board of Appeals, Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency,
Conservation Commission, Shellfish Commission, Police Department, Fire Department, Department of Health, Public Works Department, and Flood and Erosion Control Board.

Representative Town Meeting
The RTM—the Town’s legislative body—has significant authorities influencing the Town’s harbor management initiatives, including authorities for enacting Town ordinances, approving all
Town expenditures over $5,000, approving or rejecting nominations by the BOS to Town agencies,
and approving appropriations. The RTM adopted the HMC Ordinance (Chapter 7A of the Town
Code) creating the HMC and may adopt other ordinances affecting the GHA. (The HMC Ordinance is included in Appendix E of the Plan.) In addition, the RTM is responsible for adopting
the Plan and any future amendments to the Plan. Any fees proposed by the HMC for activities
within the scope of the Plan require approval by the BOS and RTM.

Photo 3-1: The view west over Greenwich Harbor in the GHA
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Board of Selectmen
As the executive agency of the Town, the BOS exercises authorities that directly and indirectly
affect use and conservation of the GHA. The First Selectman is the Town’s Chief Executive Officer, responsible for administration of all offices of Town government. The BOS nominate the
members of the HMC for approval by the RTM, review the HMC’s budget requests, and provide
leadership and direction for the Town’s harbor management initiatives.
As noted, the BOS has significant harbor management authorities pursuant to Special Legislative
Acts of the State of Connecticut, the Town Charter, and Town Code. These authorities are unique
among Connecticut towns implementing harbor management plans using the municipal authority
provided by the Connecticut General Statutes.
Pursuant to Special Legislative Acts 288, 93, and 75-53 enacted by the Connecticut General Assembly (see Appendix C of the Plan), the BOS has specific authorities for regulating use of the
Town’s coastal waters by all vessels, including authority to regulate the mooring and anchoring or
all vessels, and authority for fixing vessel speed limits. Special Legislative Act 288 also specifies
that “The harbormaster of the harbors of Greenwich, and his deputies, if any, shall, from time to
time, advise the selectmen with respect to matters hereinbefore described or provided for and shall,
upon request of the selectmen, confer with the latter and make such reports to the Selectmen as
they shall from time to time require with respect to any matter or matters hereinbefore referred to.”
(Sec. 5 Special Legislative Act 288.) (See the later section on the Harbor Master.)
Sec. 307 (“Harbor regulations; areas”) of the Town Charter defines the waters of the Town within
which the BOS has authority to regulate the anchoring and mooring of all vessels and to make
reasonable rules, regulations, and orders regarding use of the waters by all vessels. That area of
authority, for the purpose of the Plan, is defined as the GHA. This section enables the BOS to
designate the places to be used for mooring and anchoring, and to specify the methods and gear to
be used.
With adoption of the HMC Ordinance by the BOS and RTM in 2013, the former delegated certain
of their harbor management authorities to the HMC, including but not limited to the authority to
regulate the anchoring and mooring of all vessels, while retaining all of its existing authorities
provided by the Special Legislative Acts and the Town Charter and Town Code. The HMC Ordinance specifies that the HMC shall function subject to the authority held by the BOS and that “any
and all actions by the HMC may be reviewed by or appealed to the BOS within thirty (30) days of
the HMC’s action being appealed.” (Sec. 7A-1 of the Town Code.) In addition, the Plan and any
amendments to the Plan are subject to approval by the BOS prior to approval by the State of Connecticut and adoption by the RTM.

Harbor Management Commission
The HMC is responsible for preparing, maintaining, and implementing the Plan. Among its other
duties, the HMC shall regulate mooring areas and anchorage areas and review proposals affecting
the real property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA that are received by other Town agencies. The
HMC also may establish regulations concerning use and maintenance of the GHA; may propose
fees to the RTM and BOS for mooring permits and other activities within the scope of the Plan
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and shall consult with and coordinate with other agencies, commissions, and boards of the Town.
In addition, the HMC reviews proposals submitted to state and federal agencies, including but not
limited to, DEEP and the USACE. Pursuant to Sec. 22a-113n of the Connecticut General Statutes,
a recommendation of the HMC that is consistent with and adequately supported by the Plan with
respect to a proposed project shall be binding on any official of the State of Connecticut when
making regulatory decisions or undertaking or sponsoring development affecting the GHA unless
such official shows cause why a different action should be taken.
The HMC Ordinance specifies that the HMC shall consist of seven members and two alternate
members, all of whom are to be nominated by the Board of Selectmen and appointed by the RTM.
In addition, the Harbor Master and members and representatives of the following Town bodies and
agencies are non-voting, ex-officio members of the HMC: the RTM, BOS, Planning and Zoning
Commission, Board of Parks and Recreation, Conservation Commission, Shellfish Commission,
Police Department, Department of Parks and Recreation, and Department of Public Works.

Department and Board of Parks and Recreation
The Department of Parks and Recreation supervises, maintains, regulates, and otherwise manages
the recreational facilities of the Town, including the Town’s boating facilities and beaches and the
ferry service to the Town’s island beaches. The Department promulgates and enforces regulations
for the use of all recreational facilities and manages the boating facilities, including the four municipal marina facilities and the Town’s boat launching area, through its Division of Marine and
Facility Operations. An employee of the Department functions as the “dock master” of each Town
marina facility. To reduce and avoid adverse impacts on coastal water quality, the Department has
prepared and implements storm water management plans for each of the four marina facilities.
The Department historically has implemented rules and regulations established by the BOS for
mooring and other uses of the Town’s coastal waters, including the 1985 “Rules and Regulations
for Greenwich Harbor and Cos Cob Harbor’’ adopted by the Selectmen.
Chapter 7 (Parks and Recreation) of the Town Code governs use of all Town parks and recreation
places, including the Town’s boating facilities and mooring areas. It establishes the authority of
the Department and the Director of Parks and Recreation to manage those facilities and areas.
Article 4 of Chapter 7 addresses “vessels, boating facilities and recreation places” and establishes
regulations and fees for use of the Town boating facilities.
The Department has supported active Town management of the GHA. The Board of Parks and
Recreation, an advisory board to the First Selectman and Department, conducts studies and prepares proposals, recommendations, and long-range plans related to the parks and recreation system
of the Town. In conjunction with the Department, the Board has prepared the Town’s Parks and
Recreation Master Plan including recommendations for improvements, use, and maintenance of
the Town’s recreational facilities, including the Town’s boating facilities and beaches, and conducted several studies and issued several reports concerning the GHA, including the 2008 “Institutional Framework Study for Waterways Management,” 2010 “Town of Greenwich Waterways
Management Study,” and 2011 “Waterways Vision for the Town of Greenwich.”
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In accordance with state and federal approvals, the Department in 2008 conducted Town-funded
maintenance dredging to enhance the use of the Town’s Grass Island marina facility, including
that part of the duly permitted facility located within a portion of the federal anchorage in Greenwich Harbor. More recently, the Department served as the Town’s representative for working
cooperatively with the USACE to achieve maintenance dredging of the Mianus River and Greenwich Harbor federal navigation projects.

Photo 3-2: Greenwich Cove boatyard managed by the Department
of Parks and Recreation

Planning and Zoning Commission
The Planning and Zoning Commission is responsible for preparing and adopting the Town’s
POCD; adopting, amending, and enforcing the Town’s Building Zone Regulations and Subdivision Regulations; and reviewing municipal improvement projects for approval. The Commission
also is responsible for conducting “coastal site plan reviews” of proposed activities within the
coastal area of the Town pursuant to the Connecticut Coastal Management Act (CCMA). (See the
following section on the State of Connecticut.)
The POCD, most recently amended by the Commission and approved by the RTM in 2009, establishes the Town’s land-use goals and policies and contains a section on coastal water resources
that emphasizes the Town’s waterfront and coastal waters as significant assets to be protected.
The POCD describes issues affecting the coastal waters, including issues concerning water quality
and waterfront development; provides support for the Town’s WB Zone; and recommends that the
Town should manage its waterways through development and adoption of a Town harbor management plan, utilizing authority provided by the Connecticut General Statutes.
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Goals and policies of the POCD are implemented in part through the Town’s Building Zone Regulations including the WB Zone and regulation giving priority and preference to water-dependent
uses. Among the stated purposes of the WB Zone, applied to four separate sections of the Town’s
shoreline, are to implement the goals of the CCMA and assure that limited waterfront areas are
reserved for the uses they are uniquely suited for and not pre-empted by uses which can be more
appropriately located elsewhere. Uses permitted in the WB Zone are water-dependent uses such
as recreational and commercial boating and fishing facilities, water-based recreational uses, and
dock and port facilities. Nonwater-dependent uses such as office, retail, and residential uses are
not permitted in the WB Zone.
In accordance with the CCMA, the Town has established the boundaries of its coastal land area in
the form of a Coastal Overlay Zone included in the Building Zone Regulations. As required by
the CCMA, the Town undertakes coastal site plan reviews of all non-exempt projects or activities
proposed within the coastal boundary to determine the consistency of those projects and activities
with the CCMA’s policies. The Town’s requirements for coastal site plan review are also established in the Building Zone Regulations.

Planning and Zoning Board of Appeals
To the extent that the powers and duties of the Planning and Zoning Board of Appeals may affect
the use of properties adjoining or near the GHA, those powers and duties may influence conditions
in the GHA. The Board hears and decides appeals for: 1) variances from the Building Zone Regulations; 2) special exceptions for certain uses specified in the regulations; and 3) requests to override a decision of the Zoning Enforcement Officer. The Board must conduct a Coastal Site Plan
Review for all such requests affecting land in the Town’s coastal area.

Conservation Commission
The Conservation Commission was established by the Town in 1964 with authority provided by
state statutes to promote the conservation, supervision, and regulation of natural and cultural resources, including water resources and open space lands, within the Town. The Commission
serves as an advisory agency to all Town departments and agencies and is supported by professional staff with extensive expertise in environmental planning and natural resource management.
The Commission recognizes Long Island Sound as the most significant natural resource in Greenwich and works to protect, maintain, and restore the ecological integrity of the Sound.
The Commission has numerous programs relating to Long Island Sound and the GHA and is the
lead Town agency for a number of programs to protect and preserve critical natural and cultural
resources. Key activities relating to fisheries, wildlife, and habitat of the Sound include operating
and managing the Mianus River Fishway; monitoring and managing the Important Bird Areas at
Greenwich Point and Great Captain’s Island; conducting the horseshoe crab survey at Greenwich
Point; coordinating the purple martin restoration program; managing invasive species at the
Town’s coastal parks; and conducting research in coordination with state and federal agencies and
often in coordination with the Shellfish Commission to supplement Town inventories. Cultural
resource work includes overseeing archaeological work on Town properties, preserving and restoring historic structures and landscapes, and reviewing land-use applications for compliance with
cultural resource protection goals.
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The Commission is part of a Town-wide team working to protect and enhance the quality of coastal
and inland water resources. Conservation staff routinely review applications for compliance with
requirements for erosion and sedimentation control, best management practices for storm water
management, and other water quality considerations. Included are proposals for docks, piers,
mooring placement, dredging, and development projects that may come before the Planning and
Zoning Commission, other agencies of the Town, DEEP, and federal agencies. The Commission
was the lead Town agency for development of the Byram River and Mianus River watershed management plans and coordinates implementation of those plans with the Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency and other Town departments.
Recognizing that protection of Long Island Sound requires strong partners, the Commission serves
as a liaison to numerous governmental and private organizations. Commission members and/or
staff serve on the Long Island Sound Assembly board and on the Connecticut Council for Soil and
Water Conservation. The Commission also has an extensive education and outreach program with
a focus on Long Island Sound that targets all ages and diverse audiences and often works in concert
with partners such as the Bruce Museum Seaside Center.
The Commission has been at the forefront of Town efforts on climate change adaptation and natural hazard mitigation. Work includes Geographic Information System (GIS) mapping to identify
potential impacts of sea level rise and various storm scenarios; dune restoration work; and assisting
homeowners plan for home elevations in coastal flood areas. Planning efforts include keeping the
Hazard Mitigation Plan current, vulnerability studies for Town infrastructure, evaluating new mitigation strategies and technologies such as living shorelines, and coordinating with the U.S. Geological Survey on Town-supported tidal and river gages. Commission staff serves in the Emergency Operations Center providing GIS and other support during periods of coastal and riverine
flooding.

Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency
The Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency carries out specific provisions of the state’s wetlands protection statutes and administers the Town’s Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Regulations to protect the Town’s inland wetlands and watercourses. The Agency reviews applications
for development and other activities that would affect those wetlands and watercourses, and may
grant, deny, or place conditions on permits for a regulated activity. The Agency oversees compliance with permit conditions and pursues enforcement actions against unauthorized activities.
The Agency has a significant influence on land-use in the watersheds draining into the GHA.
Through its regulatory decisions affecting inland wetlands and watercourses in those watersheds,
the Agency can influence the maintenance and improvement of water quality in the GHA. The
Agency has adopted guidelines for regulation of docks in the watercourses subject to its jurisdiction outside the GHA, including the Byram River and upstream sections of the Mianus River.

Shellfish Commission
The Shellfish Commission is appointed by the First Selectman and has principal authority for the
Town’s significant shellfish resources. The Commission’s mandate is to manage, protect, propagate, and conserve the shellfish beds subject to its jurisdiction. The Commission, whose area of
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jurisdiction is generally coterminous with the GHA, prepares a Town Shellfish Management Plan
and promotes enhancement of shellfish production and harvest for both recreational and commercial purposes in Town waters as well as preservation and restoration of shellfish habitat and water
quality.
Under the direction of the Department of Agriculture’s Bureau of Aquaculture, the Commission
performs regular monthly water sampling to ensure Greenwich waters meet the State of Connecticut’s physical and chemical standards for shellfishing. This requires continuous coordination between the Commission and all commercial shellfishermen farming in Town waters.
Maintaining a working relationship with DEEP, the Commission is required to inspect the location
of, and sign off on, project plans for state permits to repair, build, or place in-water structures,
including docks, jetties, seawalls, revetments, moorings, and drainage structures, thereby ensuring
these projects will not have a negative impact on shellfish resources.
For educational purposes, the Commission cooperates with both the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and University of Connecticut on their ecosystem services programs in
Greenwich waters; holds recreational shellfishing demonstrations for the general public; and sponsors talks on shellfishing by internationally recognized experts.
With authority provided by the General Statutes, the Commission issues licenses for the taking of
shellfish. It sets fees for that taking; designates the quantities and sizes of the shellfish that can be
harvested, the methods that may be used, and promulgates Town regulations for recreational shellfishing.
All fees collected by the Commission for the taking of shellfish must be used by the Commission
for protecting and propagating shellfish under its control.

Department of Health
The Department of Health, responsible for enforcing the state Health Codes and Town ordinances
concerning public health, has several water quality-related programs that directly affect the GHA.
The Department monitors swimming water quality at the Town beaches weekly throughout the
swimming season, and has established written policies to close beaches after certain amounts of
rainfall. These policies are reviewed periodically to ensure their continued validity. The Department also assists the Shellfish Commission with the testing of Town waters for shellfishing and
works with the Department of Public Works Sewer Division and Planning and Zoning Department
to assess needs for expanding the sewer collection system.

Department of Public Works
The Department of Public Works is responsible for construction, development, and maintenance
of the physical properties of the Town, except for the design and maintenance of school property
and property under the control of the Department of Parks and Recreation. Storm water management, flood mitigation, and waste-water treatment responsibilities of the Department are particularly significant with respect to the GHA. The Department’s Division of Sewers constructs, operates, maintains, and repairs all sewers, sewerage systems, and sewage disposal plants, including
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the Town’s Grass Island Waste-Water Treatment Plant which is operated in accordance with state
and federal regulations. In addition, the Department administers the Town of Greenwich Drainage
Manual providing guidelines for land development activities and storm water management.

Police Department
The Police Department has significant harbor management responsibilities for law enforcement
and boating safety in the GHA. Like other municipal police departments in Connecticut, the Department has state-delegated authority to enforce state boating laws and regulations that apply in
the GHA and Long Island Sound. In addition to its law enforcement authorities, the Department’s
Marine Operations Division provides general assistance to boaters in the GHA; responds to emergency situations, including medical emergencies and search and rescue situations, in coordination
with other emergency services agencies; may conduct boating safety inspections for compliance
with state boating safety requirements; and may initiate the state-established procedures for removal of abandoned vessels. Education of the boating public is also part of the mission of the
Marine Operations Division which operates the Department’s Marine Operations vessel. In addition, the Department’s underwater Dive Team is trained in underwater search and rescue.
Police Department responsibilities affecting the GHA and waterfront also include law enforcement
responsibilities at public areas along the waterfront and patrol of those areas to maintain public
safety. The Department also enforces Town shellfishing regulations.

Fire Department
The Fire Department is responsible for fire protection and emergency response and management
on the waterfront and in the GHA, including response to any hazardous materials spills that may
affect water quality in the GHA. Fire prevention and preparedness responsibilities in and adjoining
the GHA are particularly significant because of the presence of volatile fuels, wooden and fiberglass hulls, and other combustible materials associated with boats and marinas. The Town’s Fire
Marshall reviews the development plans of all applicants seeking zoning/building approval (including waterfront development plans) and specifies necessary measures for fire protection in accordance with the Connecticut Fire Safety Code.

Flood and Erosion Control Board
The Flood and Erosion Control Board plans, acquires, constructs, maintains, supervises, and manages flood and erosion control systems and may enter into agreements with state and federal agencies to accomplish its purposes. The Department of Public Works provides administrative and
technical support to the Board.

NEIGHBORING TOWNS
Actions originating in or involving other towns can affect the GHA. Among the number of harbor
management issues of common interest to the Town and the neighboring towns are issues concerning water quality, boating safety, emergency response, law enforcement, and public access to
Long Island Sound and along the shoreline. As a result, and because many environmental and
harbor management issues are not limited by municipal boundaries, there is a need for ongoing
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coordination of harbor management initiatives with the neighboring City of Stamford to the east
and Village of Port Chester to the west. Both Stamford and Port Chester have prepared municipal
harbor management plans for their harbor management jurisdictions which adjoin the GHA. In
addition, actions originating in other towns upstream in the Byram River and Mianus River watersheds in the State of New York may also affect the GHA.

STATE AGENCIES AND OFFICIALS
The most prominent state agencies with harbor management-related roles and responsibilities in
the GHA are DEEP, the Connecticut Port Authority, and the Department of Agriculture’s Bureau
of Aquaculture. As discussed below, the Harbor Master, appointed by the Governor, is a state
official with authorities established by state statutes. Other state agencies of interest include the
Department of Motor Vehicles which administers Connecticut’s boat registration law requiring all
boats with motors, regardless of size, and all boats of at least 19 1/2 feet in length powered by sail
alone to be registered and numbered; the Department of Economic and Community Development
which may be a source of funds for remediation of formerly polluted (“brownfields”) sites and
provides administrative support for the Connecticut Port Authority, the Connecticut State Police
which enforces state boating laws and regulations and may respond to emergencies in Long Island
Sound; and the Department of Transportation whose principal authorities affecting the GHA concern storm water drainage from I-95 and Rt. 1, and responsibility for the Cos Cob Railroad Bridge
crossing the Mianus River.

Department of Energy and Environmental Protection
Land and Water Resources Division
DEEP’s Land and Water Resources Division (LWRD) has significant responsibilities for implementing the Connecticut Harbor Management Act of 1984, and Connecticut Coastal Management
Act of 1979. The LWRD, within DEEP’s Bureau of Water Protection and Land Reuse, provides
municipalities with technical assistance for harbor management and reviews proposed municipal
harbor management plans and harbor management plan amendments to determine their consistency with the General Statutes. Pursuant to Sec. 15-1 of the General Statutes, the Commissioner of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP Commissioner) is responsible for oversight
of the state’s harbor masters; administration of this oversight is assigned to the LWRD.
The LWRD also reviews, pursuant to the Tidal Wetlands Act and Structures and Dredging Act,
proposed development activities in the state’s coastal waters and issues or denies permits for the
following activities: placement of structures waterward of the Coastal Jurisdiction Line1; placement of structures in tidal wetlands; filling in tidal wetlands; filling in coastal, tidal, or navigable
waters; dredging for navigation and disposal of dredged material; construction and maintenance
of nonfederal channels; and placement of commercial moorings. The LWRD works closely with
the USACE in processing permit applications involving filling, dredging, or structures in wetlands
or coastal waters.
1

Effective October 1, 2012, DEEP’s regulatory jurisdiction for proposed work in coastal waters is
defined by the CJL defined in accordance with standards set forth by DEEP and determined for the
state’s tidal waterbodies, including the waterbodies in the GHA.
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Other Divisions of DEEP
Other divisions of DEEP also have authorities and responsibilities that affect the GHA.

Boating Division: The Boating Division within the Bureau of Outdoor Recreation offers boating
safety instruction and certifies boaters on completion of basic boating and personal watercraft operation courses. In addition, it is responsible for implementing the state’s permitting programs for
special marine events and for placement of all regulatory, special purpose, and navigational markers, including markers to delineate restricted speed zones and swimming areas. Pursuant to Sec.
15-136 of the Connecticut General Statutes, the Boating Division is responsible for reviewing local
ordinances establishing regulations regarding the operation of vessels to ensure those regulations
are not arbitrary, unreasonable, unnecessarily restrictive, inimical to uniformity, or inconsistent
with state policy.

Environmental Conservation Police Division: Within the Bureau of Outdoor Recreation,
this Division, which cooperates as necessary with local police departments, the State Police, and
the U.S. Coast Guard in law enforcement and search and rescue, has responsibility for enforcing
state boating laws, fish and wildlife laws, and other state laws and regulations. The Division also
enforces the state laws and regulations concerning recreational and commercial fishing.

Planning and Standards Division: The Planning and Standards Division within the Bureau
of Water Protection and Reuse develops the Connecticut Water Quality Standards (WQS) and
applies them to all state water bodies (including the surface-waters of the GHA), monitors and
assesses the state’s water quality, regulates municipal discharges, and assists municipalities in upgrading municipal sewerage facilities. In addition, the division develops the state list of impaired
water bodies that do not meet the CT WQS; conducts the Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL)
analysis for each impaired water body as required by the Federal Clean Water Act; and facilitates
the state’s watershed management program to improve and maintain water quality through watershed-based planning. The purpose of the TMDL is to set pollution reduction objectives for bringing the impaired water body into compliance with the CT WQS, and to specify the maximum
amount of a pollutant that the water body can receive without exceeding the standards.

Bureau of Natural Resources: The Bureau of Natural Resources manages inland and marine
fish populations for commercial and recreational fishing and is involved with restoration, management, regulation, and research concerning fish species and populations in Long Island Sound and
the GHA. Anyone age 16 or older, fishing (taking or attempting to take fish or bait species) from
shore or from a boat in the marine district of this state or landing marine fish or bait species in
Connecticut taken from offshore waters is required to have a Marine Waters Fishing License (also
known as a saltwater fishing license). This license is issued on a calendar year basis and may be
purchased from the DEEP web site, some DEEP offices, and participating town clerks and retail
vendors.
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Bureau of Materials Management and Compliance Assistance: This Bureau enforces the
state’s water pollution control laws; regulates storm-water discharges from industrial and commercial activities; conducts pollution prevention, monitoring, and enforcement inspections; and provides emergency response for oil and chemical spill incidents and releases of hazardous materials
and petroleum products.

Remediation Division: Within the Bureau of Water Protection and Land Reuse, the Remediation Division oversees the investigation and remediation of environmental contamination that can
impact the quality of land, groundwater, surface water, and air, and ensures that cleanup of contaminated sites meets Connecticut’s Remediation Standard Regulations to protect human health
and the environment.

Connecticut Port Authority
Effective July 1, 2015, the Connecticut General Assembly enacted a law establishing a quasi-public agency known as the Connecticut Port Authority. The law transferred, effective July 1, 2016,
the maritime-related authorities and responsibilities formerly held by the Commissioner of Transportation and Department of Transportation to the Authority.
Among its responsibilities, the Authority is to: coordinate the development of Connecticut's ports
and harbors; pursue federal and state funds for dredging and other infrastructure improvements to
increase cargo movement through the ports and maintain navigability of all ports and harbors;
work with the Department of Economic and Community Development and other state, local and
private entities to maximize the economic potential of the ports and harbors; support and enhance
the overall development of the state's maritime commerce and industries; coordinate the state's
maritime policy activities; and serve as the Governor's principal maritime policy.
In addition, any harbor management plan or harbor management plan amendments proposed by a
municipality must be submitted for approval to the Authority (approval by the Commissioner of
Energy and Environmental Protection is also required) before they can be adopted by the municipality.
The CPA also assumed the previously held responsibility of the Connecticut Department of Transportation to act as the state’s proponent or coordinator for dredging projects, including federal
maintenance dredging projects undertaken by the USACE to maintain maritime commerce and the
viability of water-dependent facilities and activities. In this regard, the CPA is responsible for
administration of the State Grant in Aid for Harbor Improvements program through which statebonded funds in the amount of two million dollars and one million dollars were provided in 2013
and 2015, respectively, to support the USACE dredging project for the Mianus River Federal Navigation Project completed in January 2017.
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Bureau of Aquaculture
The Department of Agriculture’s Bureau
of Aquaculture has an important role for
managing shellfish resources in the GHA,
particularly with respect to evaluating and
classifying Town waters for shellfishing,
licensing shellfishing, and generally working in coordination with the Greenwich
Shellfish Commission and other agencies
to protect and enhance shellfish resources.
To ensure compliance with the National
Shellfish Sanitation Program of the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration, the Bureau
tests water quality in the GHA to determine
if the water is suitable for shellfish harvesting. Following evaluation of water quality,
the Bureau classifies coastal waters,
shores, and tidal flats for the taking of
shellfish. The basic classifications are
“Approved,” “Conditionally Approved,”
“Restricted,” “Conditionally Restricted,”
and “Prohibited.”
The Bureau works in an advisory capacity
to local shellfish commissions and DEEP.
To identify potential impacts of proposed
Photo 3-3: A federal navigation channel serves waterwork in the state’s marine and tidal waters
dependent facilities in the Mianus River.
on shellfish habitat and the shellfish industry, the Bureau reviews permit applications submitted to the LWRD for dredging, filling, and placement of in-water structures, and may
comment on those applications. Also, any shellfish management plan prepared by a municipality’s
shellfish commission must be submitted by that commission to the Commissioner of Agriculture
for review and comment.
In addition, the Bureau has authority for granting or denying permits for aquaculture activities,
including activities involving placement of racks, cages, or bags, as well as buoys marking such
structures which must be placed in leased or designated shellfish areas.
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State of Connecticut Harbor Master
The Harbor Master is a state officer appointed by the Governor of Connecticut for a three-year
term, subject to the direction and control of the Commissioner of Energy and Environmental Protection. The Harbor Master has certain state-established authorities affecting the GHA.

Under Sec. 15- 1 of the Connecticut General Statutes, harbor masters are responsible for the general care and supervision of the harbors and navigable waterways over which they have jurisdiction, and are responsible to the DEEP Commissioner for the safe and efficient operation of such
harbors and waterways. Among their powers and duties, harbor masters are empowered to enforce
the provisions of the General Statutes concerning removal of abandoned and derelict vessels, including Sec. 15- 11a and Sec. 15-140c.
Sec. 15- 154 of the General Statutes empowers harbor masters to enforce state boating laws within
their jurisdiction, except that harbor masters who are not certified law enforcement officers may
not enforce the ‘boating under the influence’ laws. Since no police training is provided to Connecticut harbor masters, the Connecticut Department of Transportation advised harbor masters
who have not been certified as law enforcement officers to report violations of law to the local
police department or other law enforcement authorities.
Sec. 15- 1 of the General Statutes requires any harbor master to exercise his or her duties in a
manner consistent with any harbor management plan for a harbor over which he or she has jurisdiction. This section also requires that the harbor master for any municipality with a state-approved and locally adopted harbor management plan shall be appointed by the Governor from a
list of not less than three candidates provided by the municipality’s harbor management commission. Sec. 22a-113k of the General Statutes specifies that the harbor master or deputy harbor
master for any municipality with a duly established harbor management commission shall be a
nonvoting, ex-officio member of that commission.
In addition to the Harbor Master’s authorities and responsibilities specified in the General Statutes,
Special Legislative Act 288 concerning “regulation of the mooring, anchoring, and speed of boats
and vessels in the harbors of Greenwich” imposes specific responsibilities upon the Harbor Master.
The Act specifies that “The harbormaster of the harbors of Greenwich, and his deputies, if any,
shall, from time to time, advise the selectmen with respect to matters hereinbefore described or
provided for and shall, upon request of the selectmen, confer with the latter and make such reports
to the Selectmen as they shall from time to time require with respect to any matter or matters
hereinbefore referred to.” (Sec. 5 Special Legislative Act 288.) (See the earlier section on the
BOS.)
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FEDERAL AGENCIES
Principal federal agencies with responsibilities and authorities pertaining to the GHA include the
USACE, U.S. Coast Guard, and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Several other federal
agencies also have roles and responsibilities.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
The Connecticut Harbor Management Act requires that any harbor management plan proposed by
a municipality must be submitted to the USACE for review, comments, and recommendations
before the plan can be approved and adopted.
The GHA is within the jurisdiction of the New England District of the USACE which is responsible for: 1) implementing the federal regulatory programs that regulate all proposed projects for
dredging and the placement of such structures as docks, floats, piers, pilings, bulkheads, and commercial moorings waterward of the MHW line (the jurisdictional line for the state regulatory programs conducted by DEEP is the CJL); and 2) maintaining the Cos Cob Harbor and Greenwich
Harbor Federal Navigation Projects. Responsibility for maintaining the Port Chester Harbor Federal Navigation Project rests with the USACE’s New York District which is also responsible for
implementing the federal regulatory programs that regulate all proposed projects waterward of
MHW on the Port Chester side of the Byram River.
Regarding activities subject to the USACE’s regulatory programs, the USACE may issue individual permits and general permits. Typically, an individual permit must be obtained from the USACE
for most activities that involve: 1) any filling in wetlands and navigable water; 2) placement of
structures in navigable water; and 3) dredging and disposal of dredged material. A general permit
is an authorization issued for categories of activities that are judged to be substantially similar in
nature and to cause only ‘minimal individual and cumulative adverse environmental impacts.’ In
2016, the USACE is implementing a Programmatic General Permit (PGP) developed jointly with
DEEP that applies throughout the State of Connecticut, including the GHA. The PGP eliminates
the need for an individual USACE permit for: 1) work or structures of minimal impact in navigable
water; and 2) minimal impact discharges of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States.
A state permit from DEEP is still needed, and projects with more than minimal impacts continue
to require an individual permit from the USACE.
Docks, piers, pilings, bulkheads, and “commercial” boat moorings as defined by the USACE are
all structures in navigable water that require authorization from the USACE. While the USACE
has regulatory authority over “individual-private” moorings placed for private use, Connecticut
harbor masters have approval authority for these moorings and, pursuant to the PGP, no application
to the USACE is required.
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U.S. Coast Guard
The GHA and all of Long Island Sound are within the jurisdiction of the First Coast Guard District
South headquartered in Boston. Coast Guard Sector Long Island Sound headquartered in New
Haven is responsible for carrying out the different Coast Guard functions in the Sound. Harbor
management-related responsibilities of the Coast Guard in the GHA and Long Island Sound include: placement and maintenance of aids to navigation; search and rescue; response to oil and
hazardous materials spills; Homeland Security; enforcement of federal boating laws, regulations,
and rules; control of water-based events; education for boating and navigation safety; and designation of Special Anchorage Areas.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency is responsible for a number of programs for protecting
and improving water quality pursuant to the Federal Clean Water Act (CWA). In Connecticut,
those programs are carried out in coordination with DEEP. For example, the CWA requires that
Connecticut, along with all other states, must adopt water quality standards and assess surface
waters to evaluate compliance with those standards; publish a list of impaired water bodies that do
not meet the standards; and prepare a TMDL analysis for each impaired water body.
The Agency establishes standards for discharge of municipal and industrial wastewater; provides
grants for construction of municipal sewerage systems; and administers the National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES). In Connecticut, responsibilities for administration and
enforcement of the NPDES have been delegated to DEEP. Following action taken by the Agency
and State of Connecticut in 2007, all of Connecticut’s coastal waters, including the GHA, are now
part of a state-designated no discharge area, making it illegal for boaters to discharge sewage from
their vessels anywhere in the state’s portion of Long Island Sound or its tributaries. The Agency
also reviews applications submitted to the USACE for dredging and filling in navigable waters;
provides technical and funding support for watershed management projects to reduce pollution,
including the Byram River Watershed Management Plan and Mianus River Watershed-Based
Plan; and is responsible for designating any dredged material disposal sites that may be used in
Long Island Sound.
Pursuant to conditions included in the Agency’s designation of the existing dredged material disposal sites in the Sound, including the Western Long Island Sound site to be used for maintenance
of the Mianus River federal navigation project, the Agency has worked with the USACE to complete in February 2016 a Dredged Material Management Plan for the Sound. That plan addresses
use of open water dredged material disposal sites and opportunities for beneficial use of dredged
material as alternatives to open water disposal.

Other Federal Agencies
Other Federal agencies also have roles and responsibilities affecting the GHA. The U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service provides advice and comments to the USACE regarding the potential impacts
that proposed activities requiring a USACE permit may have on fish and wildlife resources. The
Service also manages the Calf Island Unit of the Stewart B. McKinney National Wildlife refuge
in Byram Harbor in the GHA.
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The Federal Emergency Management Agency is responsible for conducting studies and publishing
maps to determine flood vulnerability and for providing flood insurance in communities such as
Greenwich that participate in the National Flood Insurance Program.
Within the Department of Commerce, the Food and Drug Administration regulates the interstate
movement and sale of shellfish through the provisions of the National Shellfish Sanitation Program. Also within the Department of Commerce, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration’s National Ocean Service prepares navigation charts, conducts bathymetric surveys, and
determines changes in sea level. In addition, NOAA’s Office for Coastal Management administers
the federal Coastal Zone Management Program which authorizes and funds Connecticut’s Coastal
Area Management Program.

THE GENERAL PUBLIC
The general public has important rights to use the waters of the GHA and Long Island Sound for
navigation, recreation, and other purposes in accordance with the Public Trust Doctrine—the body
of law pertaining to waters subject to the ebb and flood of the tide as well as navigable freshwaters.
Under the Public Trust Doctrine, all tidewaters, navigable freshwaters, submerged lands beneath
those waters, and the plant and animal life inhabiting those waters are held in trust by the State of
Connecticut for the benefit of the general public.
In Connecticut, court decisions have affirmed the Public Trust in navigable waters and define the
Public Trust area as the area waterward of the MHW line. Private ownership of upland areas
adjoining the Public Trust area, including ownership by a municipality or any governmental
agency, may not extend past the MHW line.
Rights of the general public for use of navigable waters, including the waters of the GHA, are
generally classified under three major headings: 1) transportation and navigation; 2) recreational
activities; and 3) commercial and consumer use of “sea products” (fishing, including shellfishing).
Use of public waters for navigation is the central and essential public right and generally takes
precedence over other rights. The public has the right to pass and repass on navigable waters
without interference or obstruction. Where an obstruction does occur, it constitutes a public nuisance. The right of free navigation is subject to lawfully enacted restrictions (concerning the operation of vessels in the interest of public safety, for example) and includes the right to anchor.
To the extent that members of the public can gain access to navigable waters without trespassing
on the adjoining uplands of littoral or riparian owners they may use navigable waters for recreational purposes, including boating, swimming, and related activities.
Where title to the land adjoining navigable waters is in private ownership, the property owner may
deny access across his or her land to the Public Trust area.
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WATERFRONT PROPERTY OWNERS
Certain rights—referred to as riparian or littoral rights2—are inherent in the ownership of lands
bordering navigable water. One of the most important of these rights is the right of access to
navigable water, a right that applies whether the affected lands are utilized for residential, commercial, or public purposes. The littoral right of access to a navigable water course is distinct from
the right of the general public to use that water course.
Connecticut courts have held that the owner of upland property adjacent to navigable water has
certain exclusive yet qualified rights and privileges in the adjoining submerged land and navigable
waters, including the exclusive right to build docks and piers from the upland to reach deep water
(often referred to as “wharfing out”). These structures, however, must not obstruct the paramount
right of navigation and must be acceptable under applicable regulatory statutes, including the statutes that protect wetlands and other natural resources. In other words, the exercise of the littoral
right must not interfere with the rights of the state and general public and with the federal interest
in navigation. To the extent that state and federal activity and regulation is necessary to secure the
benefits of public waters for the general public, the individual littoral right is generally described
as subservient and inferior.
A waterfront property owner cannot exclude the general public from lawful uses of the Public
Trust area adjoining the owner’s property. Also, all littoral rights must be exercised with due
regard for the rights of other littoral owners. The waterfront property owner cannot wharf out from
shore, for example, in a manner that encroaches on the littoral area of an abutting waterfront property owner.

PRIVATE ORGANIZATIONS
Several private groups and nongovernmental organizations also have significant interests concerning use of the GHA and protection of the GHA’s environmental quality. These include neighborhood associations concerned with the quality of life in the Town’s coastal area neighborhoods,
water-dependent businesses, and private clubs providing access to the GHA. Historically, several
yacht clubs have participated in the Town’s management of moorings in the GHA. The Greenwich
Point Conservancy and the Friends of Greenwich Point provide assistance to the Town for management of Greenwich Point Park.
Educational organizations and environmental groups also have interests and programs concerning
the GHA and the Town’s waterfront. Environmental and educational organizations such as SoundWaters, Save the Sound, Audubon Connecticut, and Audubon Greenwich, for example, actively
promote conservation of the GHA’s coastal resources. The Greenwich Land Trust owns Shell
2

With regard to water rights law, water rights arise when property either abuts or contains water. If
the water in question is flowing (e.g., river or stream) the rights are said to be riparian. If the
property is subject to the ebb and flood of the tide, or is located on a lakeshore, the rights are said
to be littoral rights. Despite these distinctions, the terms “riparian” and “littoral” are commonly
used interchangeably. The term littoral rights is herein used to describe the rights of the owners of
property adjoining the GHA.
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Island in Byram Harbor and manages the island for conservation purposes. Other interested parties
are the Byram Watershed Coalition and Mianus River Watershed Council pursuing implementation of the Byram River Watershed Management Plan and Mianus River Watershed-Based Plan,
respectively.
Another involved private organization is the Coast Guard Auxiliary, a volunteer organization that
assists the U.S. Coast Guard with search and rescue efforts and with education for boating safety
in the GHA and vicinity.

Photo 3-4: Riverside Yacht Club on Cos Cob Harbor and the Mianus River
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Chapter Four:

Priority Issues
This chapter summarizes harbor management issues concerning use and conservation of the GHA.
These issues, identified and reviewed by the HMC in the course of preparing the Plan, are based
on concerns expressed by citizens and agencies participating in the harbor management planning
process.
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PRIORITY ISSUES
1.

MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY:

Improved procedures are needed to effectively apply the full range of municipal authority
for managing the GHA, including authority of the BOS pursuant to Special Legislative Acts
and the harbor management authority provided by the General Statutes.
Unlike most other Connecticut towns, Greenwich derives authority for managing its coastal waters
through Special Legislative Acts as well as the General Statutes. Described in Chapter Three,
some authority available to the Town through the Harbor Management Act is not provided by the
Special Legislative Acts, and vice versa. The HMC recognizes the need for special procedures to
ensure that these authorities are applied in a way that: 1) maintains the most effective Town role
for guiding safe and beneficial use and conservation of the GHA; and 2) avoids confusion and
conflicts with respect to the different harbor management authorities.

2.

MAINTENANCE DREDGING:

Regular maintenance dredging of the Mianus River, Greenwich Harbor, and Port Chester
Harbor (Byram River) federal navigation projects is necessary to maintain safe and efficient
navigation, long-term viability of water-dependent facilities, and enjoyable public access to
Long Island Sound.
Described in Chapter Two, federal navigation projects authorized by the U.S. Congress and maintained by the USACE have been established in Cos Cob Harbor, Greenwich Harbor, and the Byram
River/Port Chester Harbor. Vessels using the navigation projects’ channels and anchorage basins
require adequate water depths and space to navigate safely. The harbors are subject to naturally
occurring siltation and, as a result, maintenance dredging of the channels and anchorage basins is
needed from time to time.
The current regulatory and funding process to achieve maintenance dredging of federal navigation
projects in Connecticut ports and harbors is lengthy and complex, involves a number of state and
federal agencies, and generally takes years to complete. As a result, needed maintenance dredging
projects are often delayed. At the Town’s request and with funding from the State of Connecticut
and USACE, the USACE conducted successful maintenance dredging of the Mianus River Federal
Navigation Project in Cos Cob Harbor during the 2016-17 dredging season. Planning for maintenance dredging of Greenwich Harbor, including development of a plan for disposal of dredged
sediment unsuitable for open water disposal, is a harbor management priority.
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BOAT MOORINGS:

A new and comprehensive Town program is needed for fair and equitable management of
all boat mooring locations throughout the GHA.
In 2016, the Harbor Master reported a total of 455 individual-private mooring locations in the
GHA and 350 mooring locations managed by private clubs. The HMC, other agencies, and the
boating public recognize that mooring locations in the GHA require effective oversight to ensure
that available space is used safely; that mooring locations are managed in a fair and equitable
manner; and that coastal resources are not adversely affected by mooring placement. Effective
oversight through a Town mooring program requires ongoing coordination between the Town and
Harbor Master. The need for continued improvement of that coordination is recognized by the
HMC, along with the need for new and effective Town regulations for managing mooring locations.

4.

FUNDS FOR HARBOR MANAGEMENT:

An effective procedure is needed for allocating funds, including mooring permit fees, for
improvement of the GHA for the public and for expenses for personnel and equipment directly related to implementation of the Plan.
With authority provided by the Connecticut General Statutes and Chapter 7A of the Greenwich
Code of Ordinances, the HMC may propose a fee schedule—for approval by the BOS and RTM—
for a permit for a mooring or any other activity within the scope of the Plan. Any such fees collected must be deposited into the Greenwich Harbor Management Fund and used solely for maintenance and improvement of the GHA and necessary expenses of the HMC and Harbor Master. That
fund may be used to implement many of the provisions of the Plan, including administrative provisions and capital projects. The HMC must establish a fair and equitable procedure for allocating
mooring permit fees and other fees collected pursuant to the Plan.

5.

HUMAN-POWERED VESSELS:

Conflicts involving human-powered vessel operations such as rowing, kayaking, and canoeing arise from time to time and must be addressed in order to maintain safe and beneficial
use of the GHA.
Human-powered vessel operations in the GHA, including organized rowing programs, have increased in recent years. Such operations contribute significantly to the vitality of the GHA but
have the potential for conflicts with motorized and wind-powered vessels in competition for navigable water space in the GHA. Congestion in the Mianus River federal channel in Cos Cob Harbor is a notable example. Accordingly, ongoing coordination is needed among the HMC, Greenwich Police Department, DEEP Boating Division, Harbor Master, Town land use authorities, the
boating public, and waterfront facility operators to: 1) work collaboratively on ways to support
human-powered vessel operations in harmony with other users; 2) enforce effectively all applicable boating laws and regulations; 3) increase public awareness of these laws and regulations; and
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4) consider the carrying capacity of the GHA’s navigable waterways when making land use decisions affecting the GHA.

6. DOCK MANAGEMENT:
Additional Town guidelines are needed to avoid environmental impacts and other potentially adverse effects of docks and piers, while maintaining property owners’ rights for reasonable access to navigable water and protecting the public’s rights and interests and the
traditional character of the shoreline.
Waterfront property owners have the littoral right of reasonable access to navigable water, often
exercised through construction of in-water structures such as docks and piers. Proposals by waterdependent facility operators and individual land-owners to construct or extend such structures in
the GHA has raised planning issues regarding: 1) the potential environmental impacts of those
structures (including impacts on wetlands and intertidal flats as well as visual impacts); 2) the
possible effect of those structures on public uses of Public Trust waters; 3) the appropriate size
and length to which docks and piers should be constructed or extended; and 4) the extent to which
the Town can and should control or limit such structures. The HMC must address these concerns
when reviewing proposals for docks and piers in the GHA and providing recommendations to the
state and federal regulatory agencies (DEEP and the USACE) responsible for permitting in-water
structures. When considering the potential impacts of docks and piers, the difficulties in pre-determining the appropriate size and scale of such structures in the absence of a specific proposal is
recognized by the HMC. Notwithstanding, DEEP has advised the HMC that because state policies
regarding visual quality, views and vistas, and aesthetic impacts are imprecise and undefined, they
have rarely been determining factors in DEEP’s coastal regulatory decisions absent specific harbor
management plan criteria or standards.

7. WATER-DEPENDENT USES:
Pressure for redevelopment of waterfront sites, especially in the Town’s WB Zone, may require amendment of waterfront zoning regulations to help ensure continuation of some water-dependent land-uses, including recreational boating facilities and services.
The Town, through policies established in the POCD and the requirements of the WB Zone, has
promoted and protected water-dependent land uses defined in the POCD and Connecticut Coastal
Management Act, including recreational boating facilities and services. The Planning and Zoning
Commission, HMC, and other Town agencies recognize that economic and regulatory conditions
may influence the future viability of water-dependent uses as the principal uses of waterfront sites,
thereby diminishing the availability of boating support facilities, including needed boat storage
facilities. Currently, in 2016, the Planning and Zoning Commission is evaluating the WB Zone,
and modification of some zoning requirements may be appropriate to ensure continuation of viable, water-dependent land-uses consistent with the Plan, POCD, and CCMA.
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8. REGULATORY REVIEW:
Sections of the Town Code, rules, and regulations pertaining to the GHA, including sections
attached hereto as Appendices F, G, and H, are outdated and require amendment to implement the Plan and achieve consistency with current laws and regulations.
The HMC recognizes that as implementation of the Plan proceeds, consideration must be given to
the need for new or modified Town ordinances, rules, and regulations for boating and boating
safety.
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Chapter Five:

Harbor Management
Policies
This chapter sets forth the harbor management policies of the Town for guiding the beneficial use
and conservation of the GHA. These provisions of the Plan complement, and are consistent with,
the Town’s conservation and development provisions set forth in the POCD.
The policies are not intended to provide specific responses to harbor management issues affecting
the GHA. Instead, along with the Town’s harbor management goals presented in Chapter One,
the harbor management policies establish a guiding framework for case-by-case decisions by the
HMC and other Town agencies with programs or authorities that directly or indirectly affect the
GHA. In addition, the goals and policies should be considered by state agencies making decisions
concerning the GHA.
The policies are grouped into the following seven categories.
1) Public Health, Safety, and Welfare Policies
2) Navigation and Water-Use Policies
3) Coastal Resources and Water Quality Policies
4) Recreational Boating Policies
5) Waterfront Land-Use and Development Policies
6) Water and Waterfront Access Policies
7) Harbor Administration Policies
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1.0 PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE
Maintaining boating safety in the GHA and a safe environment for those who enjoy waterfront
parks and other public areas requires ongoing attention. The capacity of the GHA for safe boating
and other water uses is not unlimited, and the potential for conflicts exists among the different
types and sizes of vessels operating in the GHA. A wide range of emergency situations are possible in the GHA and on the Town’s waterfront, including potential situations involving vessels in
distress, personal injuries, fuel spill emergencies, fires, coastal flooding, and Homeland Security
issues. Abandoned or derelict vessels or structures, including docks and moorings, can create an
obstruction or hazard to navigation, detract from the scenic quality of the GHA, and cause environmental damages. In addition, flooding and shoreline erosion are natural, ongoing processes
that will continue to affect water and waterfront use and development. Effective planning, preparedness, response, and recovery initiatives are essential to enhance the Town’s ability to deal effectively with coastal hazards.
1.1

Boating Laws and Public Safety Regulations: Capital and operating budget requirements
for necessary and effective Town enforcement of boating laws, ordinances, and public safety
regulations by the Greenwich Police Department should be supported.

1.2

Vessel Speed and Wake: Town regulations concerning restricted speed zones within the
GHA may be established and/or amended by Town ordinance, as necessary, in accordance
with the Connecticut General Statutes and upon recommendations by the HMC and Greenwich Police Department, acting in consultation with the Harbor Master. Effective enforcement of five statute miles per hour restricted speed zones established in the Town Code is
supported.

1.3

Emergency Planning and Response:
1.3.1

Necessary personnel and facilities for effective response to emergency situations
on, in, or contiguous to the GHA by responsible Town, state, and federal agencies
should be maintained and, to the extent necessary and feasible, enhanced.

1.3.2

Capital and operating budget requirements for necessary and effective provision of
emergency services and other assistance to boaters and other users of the GHA and
waterfront by the Greenwich Police Department and Greenwich Fire Department
should be supported.

1.3.3

The Town’s emergency operations plan should address the full range of natural and
man-made emergency situations and responses possible in the GHA. Effective implementation of the emergency operations plan should be supported.

1.3.4

All water-dependent facilities should develop and maintain emergency procedures
for effectively securing and protecting vessels and other property from the impacts
of storms, flooding, and erosion, and for responding to emergencies involving the
spillage of fuel or other materials in the GHA.
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1.5

1.6
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Capacity of the GHA for Safe Boating and Other Water Uses:
1.4.1

Town agency decisions concerning use of the GHA for boating and other uses
should consider that the capacity of the navigable waters of the GHA to accommodate such uses and their supporting facilities in a safe and environmentally sound
manner is limited. New or expanded uses and facilities expected to exceed the
capacity of the GHA should be avoided. (See Coastal Resources and Water Quality
Policies.)

1.4.2

It should be the responsibility of applicants proposing projects that would affect the
GHA to provide the information necessary for the HMC and other Town agencies,
including, but not limited to, the Planning and Zoning, Conservation, and Shellfish
commissions, to assess the capacity of the GHA and waterfront to accommodate
the proposed projects in a safe and environmentally sound manner. The information required should be reasonable in scope and commensurate with the size,
type, scale, and potential positive and negative impacts of the proposal.

Avoiding Water Use Conflicts and Congestion:
1.5.1

Recreational, commercial, and other uses of the GHA should be planned, managed,
and regulated as necessary to avoid congestion and conflicts among vessels operating in the GHA, including but not limited to, conflicts among wind-powered, motorized, and hand-powered vessels.

1.5.2

All activities and events involving special purpose craft such as rowing shells, sail
boards, kayaks, and other vessels should be planned and undertaken in a manner to
reduce or avoid potential conflicts and negative impacts affecting navigation.

Coastal Resiliency:
1.6.1

All construction in flood and erosion hazard zones designated for flood insurance
purposes contiguous to the GHA should conform to floodplain regulations and construction standards intended to reduce the vulnerability of at-risk development.

1.6.2.

Living shoreline1 and nonstructural2 alternatives to the use of seawalls, bulkheads,
revetments, breakwaters, jetties, groins, and other structural measures for protecting existing development from flooding and erosion should be considered by the

1

Living shoreline shore protection techniques, defined in the CCMA, utilize a variety of structural
and organic materials such as tidal wetland plants, submerged aquatic vegetation, coir fiber logs,
sand fill and stone for the primary purpose of maintaining or restoring tidal wetlands, beaches,
dunes, or intertidal flats what at the same time providing shoreline protection.

2

Nonstructural shore protection measures include planning, public policy, and regulatory measures
intended to discourage or avoid dangerous, uneconomical, or unwise use of floodplains and erosion-prone areas, as distinguished from more traditional structural methods such as revetments,
seawalls, groins, and breakwaters used to decrease shoreline erosion, wave damage, and flooding.
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owners/operators of waterfront sites and facilities and encouraged where feasible.
Those proposing to use structural measures to protect existing development must
demonstrate compliance with the applicable policies of the CCMA, including the
policies that promote living shorelines and other natural and nonstructural solutions
to flood and erosion problems. Where feasible, removal of deteriorated shoreline
structures no longer needed to protect existing development is encouraged, along
with restoration of natural shoreline features.

1.7

1.6.3.

To achieve consistency with the CCMA, traditional structural solutions to flood
and erosion problems may be permitted when necessary and unavoidable for the
protection of infrastructural facilities, water-dependent uses, commercial and residential structures constructed as of January 1, 1995, and other structures and uses
specified in the CCMA, and where there is no feasible, less environmentally damaging alternative, and where all reasonable mitigation measures and techniques defined in the CCMA have been provided to minimize adverse environmental impacts.

1.6.4.

Where consistent with the CCMA’s coastal management policies concerning flood
and erosion control measures, the timely repair and maintenance of properly authorized bulkheads and other shore protection structures should be encouraged and
supported as needed to protect existing water-dependent uses, commercial and residential structures (constructed as of January 1, 1995), infrastructure, and other development specified in the CCMA from flooding and erosion.

1.6.5

Potential sea level rise should be considered in planning, design, and cost determinations for infrastructure such as, but not limited to, municipal and private roads,
water and sewer systems, and electric utilities.

Removal of Abandoned and Derelict Vessels and Structures:
1.7.1

No building, structure, or floating facility on, in, or contiguous to the GHA, including but not limited to any bulkhead, seawall, or marine facility, should be allowed
to deteriorate to the point that a hazard or obstruction to navigation or condition
adversely affecting public safety may result.

1.7.2

In accordance with State of Connecticut boating statutes and regulations, all abandoned vessels as defined in the General Statutes shall be removed from the GHA
according to the procedures initiated by the Police Department, Harbor Master, or
other party of standing and specified in pertinent sections of the General Statutes,
including Sec.15-140c as amended by Public Act 14-57 effective January 1, 2015.

1.7.3

In accordance with State of Connecticut boating statutes and regulations, all derelict
vessels as defined in the General Statutes shall be removed from the GHA according to the procedures initiated by the Harbor Master or other duly authorized representative of the Town and specified in pertinent sections of the General Statutes,
including Sec.15-11a and any amendments.
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Any person with a grievance regarding a decision or action of the Harbor Master to
remove a vessel from the GHA is encouraged to attempt to resolve that grievance
with the HMC prior to exercising his or her rights pursuant to Sec. 15-9(c) of the
General Statutes. Furthermore, the First Selectman, acting as the chief executive
officer of the Town, may appoint a hearing officer to hear any grievance that may
be filed concerning an action by the Harbor Master to remove a vessel from the
GHA.

2.0 NAVIGATION AND WATER-USE POLICIES
Timely maintenance dredging of the federal navigation projects as well as necessary dredging of
Town and commercial boating facilities require ongoing attention. Also, it is recognized that
docks, piers, moorings, and other structures located too close to designated navigation channels,
fairways, and anchorage basins can interfere with vessels using these navigation areas. Any unauthorized encroachments into navigable water are a significant harbor management concern as
structures or other work placed or undertaken in the GHA without necessary Town, state, or federal
approvals would be illegal and can damage the environment and interfere with navigation. Regular
attention must also be given to federal and nonfederal aids to navigation to ensure that they are
appropriate for marking the federal channels and other boating activity areas and conditions. Similarly, regular attention must be given to the maintenance and operation of bridges crossing the
GHA or the tributaries draining into the GHA to avoid any adverse impacts on navigation and
coastal resources.
2.1

Federal Navigation Projects:
2.1.1

The existing federal navigation projects in the Greenwich Harbors Area, including
congressionally authorized federal channels and anchorage areas, should be retained to serve recreational and commercial vessels, provide safe and efficient navigation, and ensure the continued viability of water-dependent uses. Dredging of
channels and anchorage areas should be conducted as needed to provide the navigable depths and dimensions required to maintain safe and efficient navigation and
the viability of water-dependent uses.

2.1.2

Use of the federal navigation projects should be managed by the Town in accordance with the “open to all on equal terms” policy of the USACE.

2.1.3

Modification of the existing dimensions and/or positions of any of the Town’s federal navigation projects may be considered, as necessary, to meet requirements for
navigation and public safety and to facilitate beneficial use and development of the
GHA and waterfront consistent with the Plan, provided such modification is accomplished through federal legislation requested by the Town with input from all
affected parties, including any affected waterfront property owners. Any proposed
modification should be subject to approval by the HMC and BOS and be demonstrated to serve the overall public interest.
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2.2

Nonfederal Dredging and Dredged Material Disposal: Environmentally sound dredging
of nonfederal channels, coves, anchorages, docking facilities, boating access facilities, marinas, and other areas of vessel traffic as necessary to maintain safe and efficient navigation,
the viability of water-dependent facilities, and public access to the GHA, and to improve
water quality and circulation, is encouraged and supported. To the extent feasible, nonfederal dredging should be coordinated with dredging of the federal navigation projects for the
purpose of reducing the economic costs and potential adverse environmental impacts of
dredging in the GHA, and to achieve the most efficient and effective use of available funds
and other resources for maintenance dredging.

2.3

Aids to Navigation: Aids to navigation in the GHA, including federal aids maintained by
the U.S. Coast Guard as well as nonfederal (private) aids, and including regulatory buoys,
beacons, and signs, should be placed and maintained in compliance with state and federal
regulations and be appropriate for effectively marking navigation channels, fairways, anchorages, mooring areas, any navigation hazards and obstructions, restricted speed zones,
and other areas and conditions affecting navigation.

2.4

Navigation Fairways: Where necessary, specific water areas to be kept free of obstructions
may be designated as navigation fairways by the HMC, acting in consultation with the
Greenwich Police Department and Harbor Master, to ensure safe passage of recreational and
commercial vessels to, from, and through the federal channels and anchorages, mooring areas, boating facilities, and other areas of vessel traffic in the GHA.

2.5

Set-Back Distances from Channels, Anchorages, Mooring Areas, and Fairways:

3

2.5.1

All piers, docks, bulkheads, pilings, moorings, and other structures located waterward of the CJL3 in the GHA should be set back from the boundaries of designated
channels, anchorages, mooring areas, and fairways a safe and sufficient distance to
ensure that these structures, and any vessels docked or anchored at these structures,
do not interfere with the safe and unimpeded passage of any vessel using the channels, anchorages, mooring areas, and fairways.

2.5.2

Appropriate set-back distances for proposed structures and work waterward of the
CJL should be determined on a case-by-case basis by the HMC based on a review
of existing conditions. When determining the distance that in-water structures
should be set back from a designated channel, anchorage, mooring area, or fairway,
consideration should be given to guidance provided by the USACE, DEEP, and
other appropriate agencies. In the absence of compelling reasons to the contrary,
set-back distances should be consistent with the USACE’s guidelines. (See

The CJL line, marking the elevation of the highest predicted tide, defines the regulatory jurisdiction of DEEP. Proposed work and structures waterward of the CJL are subject to DEEP’s
coastal regulatory authorities, including authorities regulating structures, dredging, and fill.
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“Guidelines for the Placement of Fixed and Floating Structures in Navigable Waters of the United States Regulated by the New England District, U.S. Army Corps
of Engineers,” July 1996.)4
2.6

2.7

4

Correcting Unauthorized Encroachments:
2.6.1

No structures or any other work (including, but not limited to, docks, piers, floats,
pilings, bulkheads, moorings, and dredging or filling of aquatic areas) should be
placed or undertaken waterward of the CJL in the GHA without necessary Town,
state, and federal authorization. Any unauthorized structures or other work in federal navigation projects or in any other areas waterward of the CJL should be considered unauthorized encroachments to be eliminated or otherwise corrected in accordance with Town, state, and federal laws, regulations, and ordinances.

2.6.2

Civil penalties assessed by DEEP for unauthorized work in the GHA subject to
regulatory programs administered by the LWRD should be used to fund beneficial
projects for environmental enhancement and other improvements in the GHA,
nearby the location of the violation where feasible, to the extent consistent with
state laws and policies, including but not limited to the CCMA, statutory restrictions concerning civil penalties, and DEEP’s enforcement and supplemental
environmental project policies.

Managing Fishing and Aquaculture:
2.7.1

Opportunities for vessel- and shore-based recreational fishing in the GHA should
be maintained and, to the extent feasible, enhanced.

2.7.2

Recreational and commercial fishing activities, including shellfishing, are encouraged and supported in a manner that does not unreasonably conflict with other traditional water-dependent uses and the operation of vessels in designated navigation
channels, and with consideration of the sustainable capacity of fisheries resources
in the GHA as determined by the appropriate resource management agencies of the
State of Connecticut and the Shellfish Commission.

The Plan recognizes that, for the purpose of maintaining federal navigation projects in the
GHA, the USACE’s guidelines describe the typical set-back distance from a navigation project
as three times the authorized project depth. Since USACE maintenance dredging projects often
specify side slopes of 3 (horizontal) to 1 (vertical), the typical set-back distance is intended to
minimize the need for removal of in-water structures prior to dredging operations. The
USACE’s guidelines also allow for appropriate set-back distances to be established on a caseby-case basis, giving consideration to traditional navigation patterns and the presence of existing, previously authorized structures which, in some instances, might result in a set-back distance of less than three times the authorized project depth.
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2.7.3

Use of any commercial fishing gear as defined in Sec. 26-1(8) of the Connecticut
General Statutes and regulations adopted by the Commissioner of Energy and Environmental Protection shall be in accordance with all applicable Town, state, and
federal laws, regulations, and ordinances.

2.7.4

It should be recognized that placement of unattended gill nets in congested or welltraveled locations may substantially interfere with orderly, safe, and efficient allocation and operation of the GHA. No unattended gill net should be set at any time
in any location where the placement of that net will create a hazard to navigation
or otherwise substantially interfere with orderly, safe, and efficient allocation and
operation of the GHA.

2.7.5

Any commercial fish harvesting structures and aquaculture activities requiring state
and/or federal authorization, including but not limited to marine pound nets and
aquaculture racks, cages, and bags, as well as buoys to mark the location of such
structures, should be carefully designed, constructed, and maintained to avoid or
reduce any significant adverse impacts on navigation and coastal resources and on
the public’s right to use the GHA consistent with the Public Trust Doctrine. Any
proposals for such structures and activities should be reviewed for consistency with
the Plan.

2.7.6

Commercial shellfishing in the GHA shall be in accordance with all applicable
Town, state, and federal laws, regulations, and ordinances concerning the use of: 1)
private shellfishing grounds designated by the Town for exclusive private use; 2)
“natural” shellfish grounds as defined by decrees of the Superior Court to be left
open to the general public; and 3) state grounds where commercial shellfishing is
in accordance with state-granted franchise rights or lease arrangements with the
state.

2.7.7

Alternative measures and technologies to mark the boundaries of private shellfishing grounds are encouraged and supported to reduce or eliminate the use of stakes
and thereby avoid adverse impacts on general navigation.

Bridges and Dams: All bridges and dams crossing or otherwise affecting navigable water
in the GHA should be maintained and/or operated in a manner to avoid or reduce the potential for any significant adverse impacts on navigation, public safety, environmental quality,
or any other beneficial uses and conditions. Any plans for bridge or dam construction, replacement, maintenance, or removal should be designed, reviewed, and implemented in a
manner to avoid or minimize adverse impacts on beneficial uses and conditions in the GHA
and coastal resources, and should be reviewed for consistency with the Plan.
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3.0 COASTAL RESOURCES
AND WATER QUALITY POLICIES
Achieving and maintaining an appropriate balance between beneficial use of the GHA and conservation of coastal resources and environmental quality in the GHA is an ongoing challenge. The
environmental capacity of the GHA’s coastal resources is not unlimited; and there are a number
of potential adverse environmental impacts associated with in-water uses, waterfront development,
and recreational use that must be avoided or otherwise mitigated if those resources and their natural
values are to be sustained. One of the most basic harbor management issues concerns the need to
maintain and improve surface water quality. Bacteria and other water pollutants can affect the
enjoyment of boating activities, the vitality of fish and wildlife, and the health of those who come
in contact with the water. Any significant pollution in the GHA, including runoff pollution generated throughout the Town’s watersheds and point source pollution from the Town’s sanitary
sewer system and other sources, would diminish the Town’s quality of life. Also, wetlands and
intertidal flats in and near the GHA can be gradually diminished in quality and extent as nearby
uses and development place greater stress on them. Possible loss of fish and wildlife resources,
including shellfish resources, as a result of cumulative development impacts, water pollution, human disturbances, overfishing, and other conditions is a well-recognized harbor management concern.
3.1

3.2

Balancing Environmental Conservation and Beneficial Use of the GHA:
3.1.1

Efforts to maintain and enhance beneficial use of the Greenwich Harbors Area
should be pursued in coordination with efforts to protect, enhance, and sustain environmental quality, natural resources, and ecological functions.

3.1.2

Use and development within the GHA or affecting real property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA should be balanced with protection of natural coastal resources and
their ecological functions in the GHA, and should not cause significant adverse
impacts on environmental quality, including water quality. Proposals should
demonstrate that reasonable efforts have been made to minimize environmental impacts; that the benefits of the proposals outweigh the negative impacts; and that
there are no reasonably feasible alternatives.

Capacity of Coastal Resources:
3.2.1

Town agency decisions concerning use of the GHA for boating and other uses
should consider that the capacity of coastal resources in the GHA to accommodate
such uses and their supporting facilities in a sustainable and environmentally sound
manner is limited. It also should be recognized that cumulative impacts on environmental quality can result from individually minor but collectively significant
actions taking place over a period of time. New or expanded uses and facilities
expected to exceed the environmental capacity of the GHA should be avoided. (See
Public Health, Safety, and Welfare Policies.)
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3.2.2.

3.3

It should be the responsibility of applicants proposing projects that would affect the
GHA to provide the information necessary for the HMC and other Town agencies,
including, but not limited to, the Planning and Zoning Commission, Conservation
Commission, and Shellfish Commission, to assess the capacity of the GHA and
waterfront to accommodate the proposed projects in a sustainable and environmentally sound manner. The information required should be reasonable in scope and
commensurate with the size, type, scale, and potential positive and negative impacts
of the proposal.

Surface Water Quality:
3.3.1

All feasible measures to protect and improve surface water quality in the GHA and
achieve consistency with the Connecticut Water Quality Standards (CT WQS), including implementation of TMDL analyses and other management plans, and implementation and enforcement of applicable Town, state, and federal laws, regulations, and ordinances, are encouraged and supported, along with coordination
among all agencies with water quality authorities and responsibilities.

3.3.2

Efforts to improve water quality in the GHA through reduction or elimination of
point and nonpoint (runoff) sources of pollution, including storm water runoff from
roads, bridges, parking areas, and other surfaces, as well as seepage from septic
systems, are encouraged and supported.

3.3.3

Efforts to improve water quality in the GHA should include: maintenance, repair,
and improvement of storm water collection and treatment facilities as necessary in
accordance with best available technology; reduction or elimination of pollution
that may be caused by boating activities; reduction of the amount of sand, debris,
and other pollutants discharging into the GHA from roads, bridges, and waterfront
properties, including large debris that may be carried downstream and into the GHA
by tributaries of the GHA; reduction of chemical fertilizers and pesticides used for
lawn maintenance; reduction of the amount of pollution generated by potential
sources of bacterial contamination, including wildlife and domestic animals and
seepage from any poorly functioning septic systems; and reduction or elimination
of all other activities that unnecessarily introduce sediment, debris, or pollutants
into the GHA.

3.3.4

The use of suitable best management practices (BMPs) to manage, reduce where
feasible, or otherwise control and treat storm water runoff prior to discharge into
the GHA should be encouraged and supported, including, but not limited to, establishment and maintenance of: buffer zones of vegetation to naturally filter polluted
runoff draining into the GHA; appropriate buffer/setback distances around tidal
wetlands in the GHA; low impact development strategies; public outreach and education initiatives; and other BMPs for site planning, source control, and storm water treatment identified in DEEP’s Stormwater Quality Manual and Town of Greenwich Drainage Manual.
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3.3.5

All new development generating significant storm water discharges directly or indirectly into the GHA should employ appropriate storm water treatment systems
and technology to reduce the potential for nonpoint source pollution to enter the
GHA. All such systems and technology should be properly maintained and operated in accordance with regularly scheduled maintenance procedures and all accumulated residue should be properly disposed of.

3.3.6

Feasible opportunities to improve water circulation and tidal exchange between
Long Island Sound and the coves and embayments in the GHA for the purpose of
improving water quality, reducing sedimentation, and restoring and/or enhancing
coastal resources, including shellfish resources, should be investigated. Any proposal for improving water circulation and tidal exchange should be based on best
available scientific information and sound engineering practices and prepared in
consultation with the Town, state, and federal agencies with relevant authorities
and interests. Any project for improving water circulation and tidal exchange in
the GHA should be pursued if it is determined that the project will provide significant environmental benefits, be implemented at a reasonable cost to the Town relative to anticipated benefits, and not be substantially outweighed by any significant
adverse impacts on coastal resources.

3.3.7

An effective, ongoing program of water quality monitoring and assessment in the
GHA and upstream in the GHA’s tributaries by qualified governmental agencies
and/or nongovernmental organizations is encouraged and supported. Water quality
monitoring and assessment should evaluate consistency with the CT WQS, identify
existing and potential sources of pollution, and establish and maintain a database
of information to support water quality improvement initiatives. Consistency with
the CT WQS, achievement of the highest, reasonably attainable water quality classifications in the GHA should be pursued through correction or elimination of both
point and nonpoint sources of pollution, including storm water runoff.

3.3.8

Vessel waste pump-out facilities with adequate capacity to serve the needs of all
boaters in the GHA should be maintained in the GHA.

Intertidal Resources, Including Tidal Wetlands and Intertidal Flats:
3.4.1

The ecological values of intertidal resources, including values related to fish and
wildlife habitat, nutrient productivity, water quality functions, and flood protection,
should be protected.

3.4.2

Restoration of degraded intertidal resources should be encouraged and supported,
to the extent feasible, and where such restoration will enhance the quality of natural
coastal resources through improvements to water quality, scenic quality, fish and
wildlife habitat, and other natural values. When considering opportunities for restoring tidal wetlands, consideration may be given to replacement of existing culverts and tidegates, including replacement of conventional tidegates with self-regulating tidegates that will provide a sufficient amount of tidal flow to support ecologically viable tidal wetlands while providing necessary flood protection.
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Fisheries Resources, Including Shellfish Resources:
3.5.1

It is recognized that the natural features of the GHA, including its estuarine environment, tidal wetlands, extensive areas of intertidal flats, and the presence of
Greenwich Point and the Greenwich Islands which shelter much of the GHA from
waves generated in Long Island Sound, provide shellfish habitat of significant resource value. It is further recognized that shellfish habitat is susceptible to adverse
impacts caused by the installation, presence, or use of water access structures such
as docks, floats, piers, and moorings.

3.5.2

Science-based initiatives to protect, maintain, and enhance fisheries resources, including shellfish resources, in the GHA for recreational and commercial use and
public enjoyment, consistent with Town, state, and federal laws, regulations, and
ordinances, should be encouraged and supported. Efforts to protect and enhance
shellfish resources in the GHA should be in accordance with any duly established
Town plan for shellfish management prepared by the Shellfish Commission and
implemented in coordination with the Plan.

3.5.3

For the purpose of these policies, shellfish resources in the GHA include populations of shellfish species and the natural areas (habitat) with characteristics for supporting one or more of those species. Shellfish habitat includes tidal waters, underwater lands, wetlands, and intertidal flats.

3.5.4

Proposals affecting the real property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA that would
cause acute and/or cumulative adverse impacts on shellfish resources or opportunities for beneficial cultivation/harvesting of shellfish, or otherwise conflict with any
duly established Town plan for shellfish management, should be avoided. Proposals that could affect shellfish resources or cultivation and/or harvesting opportunities should be carefully designed and evaluated to avoid significant adverse impacts on those resources and opportunities.

Reducing Siltation: Efforts to avoid or reduce siltation and the resulting need for dredging
in the GHA should be encouraged and supported, including: regular maintenance of storm
drainage catch basins; construction of additional catch basins as necessary; effective street
cleaning; control of runoff from construction sites; avoidance of the disposal of leaves,
branches, and other debris in the GHA and its tributaries; and reduction or elimination of all
other activities that introduce sediment into the GHA. Efforts to avoid or reduce runoff of
sand and other materials into the GHA from roads and bridges throughout the watersheds
draining to the GHA are encouraged and supported.
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4.0 RECREATIONAL BOATING
Managing boat mooring locations and ensuring the availability of boating services and facilities
for resident and visiting boaters enjoying the variety of boating activities taking place in the GHA
require ongoing attention. Boating activities require waterfront facilities and services, including
facilities and services for berthing, repair, maintenance, and storage and well as vessel-waste
pump-out services. Continued operation, maintenance, and enhancement of the Town’s boating
facilities, including marina facilities, is a basic harbor management consideration. Long-range
planning is required to maintain existing docks, bulkheads, pilings, and other structures and provide new facilities as may be necessary.
4.1

4.2

Public Boating Facilities:
4.1.1

Enhancement and expansion of existing public, Town-provided boating facilities
and establishment of new facilities should be encouraged and supported to provide
dock space, boat slips, boat launching areas, and other facilities as well as appropriate opportunities for beneficial access to the GHA by resident and visiting boaters. Facilities provided should be consistent with demonstrated need and with the
capacity of the GHA and upland areas to accommodate those facilities in a safe and
environmentally sound manner.

4.1.2

The establishment and maintenance of small craft launching and landing areas
available for public use at suitable locations on the GHA waterfront should be encouraged and supported for the purpose of accommodating small vessels such as
canoes, dinghies, and kayaks that can be transported without trailers.

Private Boating Facilities:
4.2.1

The Town should encourage and support the continued operation of private boating
and yacht clubs and commercial marinas and boatyard facilities and the establishment of new boating facilities, as needed and feasible, in appropriate locations.
Any future development that may affect existing marina and/or boatyard facilities
should not result in a significant reduction of currently available boating facilities
and services.

4.2.2

The authority and policies of the CCMA, the POCD incorporating the Town’s
coastal area management policies, and the Greenwich Building Zoning Regulations
should be applied to encourage and support the continued operation of water-dependent boat service facilities (including boat maintenance, repair, and storage facilities) and to promote the establishment of new boat service facilities in appropriate locations. (See Waterfront Land-Use and Development Policies.)

4.2.3

Town planning and zoning requirements should be applied as necessary to protect
and promote water-dependent uses such as private boating and yacht clubs and
commercial marina and boatyard facilities. (See Waterfront Land-Use and Development Policies.)
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Mooring and Anchoring:
4.3.1

The HMC shall properly manage the location and placement of all mooring tackle
in the GHA in a manner that provides for efficient, equitable, and environmentally
sound distribution of individual-private and commercial moorings. All moorings
shall be properly permitted by the Harbor Master, and commercial moorings additionally require appropriate permits from DEEP and the USACE.

4.3.2

To protect the safety of persons and property and protect environmentally sensitive
resources in the GHA, all mooring tackle should meet minimum standards, including standards for inspection, established by the HMC acting in consultation with
the Harbor Master.

4.3.3

Mooring and anchoring of vessels in the GHA should not cause an obstruction or
hazard to navigation nor any significant adverse impacts on environmental quality
or other public uses or purposes, and shall comply with all applicable laws and
regulations for protecting coastal resources, including Sec. 26-157a (e) of the Connecticut General Statutes concerning the placement of moorings on oyster beds.

4.3.4

All mooring locations in federal anchorage basins shall be properly permitted by
the Harbor Master and managed in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and
local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and any duly approved agreements
and orders relative to management of moorings consistent with local, state, and
federal requirements. Any mooring tackle that would interfere with approved
maintenance dredging of a federal anchorage basin must be removed from the anchorage by the owner of that tackle prior to commencement of dredging operations.

4.3.5

As may be necessary to ensure safe and efficient use of the GHA, including mooring locations within federal anchorage basins and special anchorage areas, the
HMC may prepare surveyed plans with mooring area boundaries and individual
mooring locations identified, utilizing the most up to date and appropriate survey
and mapping technology to the extent practical. Such technology will utilize the
State Plane Coordinate System of the State of Connecticut or geographic coordinates as appropriate. Preparation and implementation of such mooring area plans
will not require amendment of the Harbor Management Plan.

4.3.6

All mooring buoys must comply with DEEP Regulations of Connecticut State
Agencies concerning dimensions, layout, and color.

Human-powered Boating: Human-powered boating activities such as rowing, canoeing,
and kayaking conducted in a safe and environmentally sound manner, including organized
events, should be encouraged and supported in the GHA, in balance with other beneficial
recreational and commercial uses, and in a manner that avoids or minimizes the risk of conflict with other vessels using the GHA, including vessels operating in any federal navigation
project. Human-powered vessels should not operate in a manner that poses a hazard or significant adverse impact to navigation.
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Sailing Classes and Small Craft Training: Continued operation of sailing classes and
small craft training programs is supported; such programs should be conducted in accordance with all applicable boating laws, regulations, and ordinances, and should not operate
in federal navigation channels and any designated navigation fairway in a manner that poses
a hazard or significantly adverse impact to navigation.

5.0 WATERFRONT LAND-USE AND DEVELOPMENT
Waterfront land-use and development have a significant influence on the use and condition of the
GHA. The future viability of water-dependent land-uses, the effects of waterfront redevelopment,
and the impacts of docks and piers constructed by waterfront property owners in accordance with
their littoral rights for access to navigable water are among the principal management concerns.
Redevelopment plans, including plans involving properties within the Town’s Waterfront Business Zoning Districts, may have significant long-term impacts on the character of the waterfront
and require careful planning and review. In addition, the environmental quality associated with
the GHA can be adversely affected by deterioration and lack of maintenance of waterfront sites
and facilities, including bulkheads and other shore protection structures, and the traditional character and beneficial quality of life in shorefront residential neighborhoods can be effected by water
and waterfront use and development.
5.1

5.2

Waterfront Development Proposals:
5.1.1

All public and private development proposals affecting the GHA should be carefully planned and reviewed for consistency with the Plan and to mitigate any potentially significant adverse impacts on beneficial uses and conditions in the GHA,
including impacts on existing water-dependent uses and future water-dependent development opportunities.

5.1.2

The HMC should serve in an advisory capacity in the development of all Townsupported development initiatives affecting the GHA waterfront.

5.1.3

When reviewing proposals for waterfront development, Town should apply the authority and policies of the Plan, POCD, Building Zone Regulations, and CCMA.

Water-Dependent Uses and Activities:
5.2.1

The Town should continue to implement (through appropriate zoning and other
regulations) the coastal area management policies established in the POCD to encourage and support the development and continued operation of water-dependent
land uses as defined in the Connecticut Coastal Management Act.

5.2.2

Access to the GHA should be promoted wherever feasible, but the Town should
ensure, through appropriate zoning and other land-use provisions, that existing water-dependent uses are not replaced by nonwater-dependent uses providing only
limited pedestrian and visual public access to the GHA.
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In-Water Structures:
5.3.1

Construction of public and private floats, docks, piers, and other water-access structures should not have a significant adverse impact on coastal resources, including
aesthetic resources which may be degraded through significant alteration of the natural features of vistas and viewpoints, opportunities for beneficial access to the
GHA, traditional water uses, and the traditional character of shorefront areas. Water-access structures for private residential use should be of the minimal length
needed to provide reasonable access to navigable water. For the purpose of this
policy, “reasonable access to navigable water” does not necessarily mean access
available at all stages of the tide. Structures of a size and mass that would require
lighting where such lighting may have a negative effect on navigation or conflict
with the traditional character of shorefront areas should be considered inconsistent
with the Plan. In the absence of compelling reasons to the contrary, new wateraccess structures for private residential use should not extend farther waterward
than any existing, nearby structures. In appropriate cases, especially with regard to
littoral residential properties, alternatives to the construction of fixed structures to
provide access to the GHA should be considered. Alternatives to be considered
should include floating docks, and individual-private moorings.

5.3.2

When reviewing proposals for water-access structures, including floats, docks, and
piers, the HMC should consider the intended use of the structures, including, but
not limited to, use for private residential purposes, public water-access purposes,
and marine commercial purposes. The appropriate extent to which water-access
structures should extend waterward in order to provide reasonable access to the
navigable waters of the GHA and maintain the viability and beneficial use of commercial water-dependent uses and public access facilities should be evaluated on a
case by case basis by the HMC and appropriate state and federal regulatory agencies, including DEEP and the USACE. That evaluation should take into consideration:
● the rights of waterfront property owners, including the littoral rights of the property owner proposing a water-access structure, and the littoral rights of the owners of properties adjoining the proposed project;
● existing conditions in the GHA such as distance from shore to navigable water;
● the amount of time during each tidal cycle when the water-access structure will
be usable for boating access to the GHA;
● the presence of coastal resources such as intertidal flats, tidal wetlands, shellfish
resources, and aesthetic resources, to the extent aesthetic resources may be defined in the Connecticut coastal management act and any implementing regulations;
● potential changes in tidal water flow patterns that could occur and impact the
health and existence of coastal resources;
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● traditional character and historic use of affected neighborhoods, including traditional views of the GHA from public properties and rights-of-way nearby the
site of the proposed structure, and traditional views of the shoreline from the
GHA;
● extent of potential visibility of the proposed structure, the views and viewers
affected, quality of views, and the magnitude of visual impact as determined by
duration, nature, scale, and other criteria;
● existing structures in the vicinity of the proposed structure, including the risk
of conflicts with nearby structures and adjoining littoral areas;
● distance from the proposed structure to any designated navigation channels and
anchorage areas; and
● any other pertinent conditions.
5.3.3

Docks, floats, bulkheads, and other in-water structures should be maintained in a
manner that: 1) contributes to continued safe and beneficial use of the harbor; and
2) does not detract from the utility of the affected properties for water-dependent
uses.

5.3.4

In the absence of compelling reasons to the contrary, the construction of private
floats, docks, piers, and other water-access structures by groups of homeowners or
neighborhood associations for group use are encouraged and supported as a preferred alternative to the construction of single structures for use by individual owners.

5.3.5

To reduce potential adverse impacts on navigation resulting from the construction
of new or extended in-water structures, design guidelines established by the
USACE for placement of fixed and floating structures in navigable water should be
considered by the HMC in its review of proposed in-water structures. In the absence of compelling reasons to the contrary, including the need to protect valuable
coastal resources, new or extended in-water structures should be consistent with the
USACE’s guidelines. (See “Guidelines for the Placement of Fixed and Floating
Structures in Navigable Waters of the United States Regulated by the New England
District U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,” July 1996.)

5.3.6

In the HMC’s case-by-case review of individual proposals for docks, piers, and
other water-access structures, it is the responsibility of the applicant to provide sufficient information concerning the potential impacts of the proposed structure on
navigation and coastal resources.

5.3.7

In the future, the HMC may consider formulating more detailed standards concerning water-access structures in the GHA, including, but not limited to, dimensional
standards and criteria for avoiding or otherwise mitigating adverse visual impacts,
and for inclusion of those standards and criteria in the Plan.
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5.3.8

All swim floats must comply with DEEP requirements concerning size, color, and
markings.

5.3.9

No dock, float, pier, or other in-water structure in the GHA may unduly interfere
with a federal maintenance dredging project. In accordance with state and federal
regulatory requirements and at the direction of the USACE, specified in-water
structures should be temporarily removed from the GHA at the owner’s expense as
necessary to accommodate maintenance dredging of the federal navigation projects.
Failure of an owner to remove an in-water structure causing undue interference with
a federal dredging project after proper notification may result in removal of that
structure by the USACE at the owner’s expense.

5.3.10 Notwithstanding anything in the preceding sections 5.3.1 through 5.3.9, DEEP has
advised the HMC that because state policies regarding visual quality, views and
vistas, and aesthetic impacts are imprecise and undefined, they have rarely been
determining factors in DEEP’s coastal regulatory decisions absent specific harbor
management plan criteria or standards.
5.4

Neighborhood Character and Quality of Life: Activities in the GHA and use and development of the GHA waterfront should be carefully planned, reviewed, and regulated to avoid
adverse impacts on the traditional character and quality of life in the Town’s coastal area
neighborhoods. In-water and waterfront activities should not cause nuisance impacts that
affect waterfront residential areas, including, but not limited to, noise, litter, unshielded light,
and wave impacts.

6.0. WATER AND WATERFRONT ACCESS
The Town’s waterfront character, along with the vitality of its navigable waters, depend, in large
part, on continued provision of safe and enjoyable opportunities for both physical and visual access
to the GHA and shoreline, including access by both Town residents and non-residents. The
Town’s waterfront parks and marinas will require continued management attention to ensure that
they are effectively maintained for beneficial public use and enjoyment, and that plans for establishment of new areas and facilities and enhancement of existing areas and facilities are achieved.
In addition, through application of the Connecticut Coastal Management Act’s water-dependent
use policies, the Town has the opportunity to obtain public access amenities from the developers
of properties within the WB Zones. Balancing the littoral rights of waterfront property owners
and the rights of the general public for navigation and access waterward of the MHW line will
remain a perennial issues requiring careful attention.
6.1

Access to the GHA and Along the Shoreline:
6.1.1

Facilities and opportunities for appropriate and beneficial public access to the
GHA, consistent with the capacity of the GHA and waterfront to accommodate
those facilities and opportunities and with the existing character of coastal area
neighborhoods, should be encouraged and supported. Public access should be considered as physical and/or visual access to the GHA that will be available to all
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members of the general public, including both residents and non-residents of the
Town.

6.2

6.1.2

When developing facilities and opportunities for public access to the GHA, consideration should be given to the inherent hazards associated with intertidal flats and
other coastal resources and conditions.

6.1.3

Existing views of the GHA and waterfront from public streets should be maintained; removal of nonessential barriers and other feasible initiatives to improve
visual access to the GHA and waterfront are encouraged and supported.

6.1.4

When pursuing opportunities for access to the GHA, consideration should be given
to avoiding conflicts with active water-dependent uses, including recreational boating facilities.

Public and Private Rights for Use of the GHA:
6.2.1

The littoral rights of the owners of land contiguous to the GHA, including the right
of access to navigable water and the right to other improvements and useful purposes, should be recognized. However, it should also be recognized that no rights
are absolute. The exercise of littoral rights by waterfront owners should not have a
significant adverse effect on public water-access opportunities, coastal resources,
visual quality, traditional water uses, and other public rights and interests associated
with the land and water resources waterward of the MHW line.

7.0 HARBOR ADMINISTRATION
Achieving and maintaining the most effective coordination and cooperation among the many different agencies and organizations with significant interests and authorities concerning the GHA
will be an on-going harbor management focus. Related issues concern how funds for implementation of the Plan are obtained and allocated; how to make sure that governmental and private
actions affecting the GHA are planned and implemented in a manner consistent with the Plan, and
how to ensure that the Plan can respond to changing conditions and circumstances affecting the
GHA.
7.1

Harbor Management Review: A Town Harbor Management Review Process should be
maintained to ensure effective implementation of the Plan and to provide coordinated, efficient, and comprehensive local review of proposed projects affecting the real property on,
in, or contiguous to the GHA.

7.2

Harbor Management Funds: Adequate funds should be obtained and allocated to properly
manage and maintain the GHA and public facilities on, in, or contiguous to the GHA in the
public interest. In accordance with authorities provided by the Connecticut General Statutes
and Special Legislative Acts, a fee schedule should be established for mooring or anchorage
permits and other activities within the scope of the Plan. All funds obtained and allocated
for harbor management purposes should be managed according to the highest governmental
standards of transparency and fiscal responsibility.

5-20

Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Plan (August 2017 Final Draft)

7.3

Public Support and Interest: The presentation and discussion of all relevant public concerns regarding the GHA and Plan should be encouraged and supported, including concerns
expressed by Town residents, waterfront property and business owners, public officials,
boaters and other users of the GHA, interested organizations, and the general public.

7.4

Coordination Among Town Agencies:
7.4.1

For the purpose of implementing the Plan, the HMC should maintain coordination
with all Town agencies with authorities and responsibilities affecting the GHA, including, but not limited to, the Department of Parks and Recreation, Board of Parks
and Recreation, Planning and Zoning Commission, Planning and Zoning Board of
Appeals, Conservation Commission, Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency,
Shellfish Commission, Department of Health, Department of Public Works, Police
Department, Fire Department, and Flood and Erosion Control Board.

7.4.2

Implementation of all Town plans and programs affecting the GHA, including the
Plan and the POCD, should proceed in the most coordinated manner possible, emphasizing consistent objectives related to future beneficial use of the GHA and protection of environmental quality, including water quality, associated with the GHA.
The Plan and the POCD should be implemented as complementary and consistent
documents.

7.5

Mooring Administration: In accordance with Sec. 22a-113r of the Connecticut General
Statutes and regulations adopted pursuant to the Plan, the users of all mooring locations in
the GHA, including individual-private and commercial mooring locations, must obtain a
permit from the Harbor Master; the administration of all mooring permits shall be in accordance with applicable state and federal laws and any regulations adopted pursuant to
the Plan.

7.6

Coordination with the Harbor Master: The Harbor Master should exercise his or her
duties in a manner consistent with the Plan and work cooperatively with the HMC, Greenwich Police Department, and other agencies and officials to advance the Plan’s goals for safe
and efficient operation of the GHA. The Harbor Master’s responsibility in this regard should
be carried out in a manner consistent with all applicable federal, state, and Town laws, statutes, regulations, and ordinances, including, but not limited to, the Connecticut General Statures and Special Legislative Acts.

7.7

Coordination with Other Municipalities: To the extent practical, the Town should coordinate harbor management initiatives with other Connecticut and New York State communities with jurisdictions in Long Island Sound. This coordination should be for the purpose
of addressing any common interests and concerns that may affect the GHA, including, but
not limited to, concerns for boating safety, homeland security and protection of coastal resources and water quality.

7.8

Coordination with Private Boating and Yacht Clubs: To the extent practical, the Town
should coordinate harbor management initiatives with private boating and yacht clubs for
the purpose of achieving the Plan’s goals.
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August 2017

Chapter Six:

Recommendations and
Guidelines
This chapter sets forth harbor management recommendations and guidelines for each of the seven
harbors of the Town within the boundaries of the GHA. The harbors, shown on map 6-1, are:
1) Byram River/Port Chester Harbor
2) Byram Harbor
3) Greenwich Harbor
4) Cos Cob Harbor
5) Greenwich Cove
6) Tomac Creek
7) Outer Harbor
Some of the recommendations and guidelines are depicted geographically for each harbor on maps
6-2 through 6-8.
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BYRAM RIVER / PORT CHESTER HARBOR
1.
Water-Dependent Uses: Continued beneficial operation and enhancement of water-dependent uses in the harbor, including recreational boating facilities in the South Water Street WB
Zone, is supported, consistent with all other applicable provisions of the POCD, Byram Comprehensive Plan, Town Building Zone Regulations, and the CCMA. Future development projects that
may affect established water-dependent uses in the South Water Street WB Zone should not result
in significant reduction of available recreational boating services, including, but not limited to,
boat maintenance, repair, berthing, and storage facilities.
2.
Federal Navigation Project: The Port Chester Harbor federal navigation project including
the federal navigation channel from Long Island Sound to the Mill Street bridge, the federal anchorage basin west of the Byram Point jetty, and the Byram Point jetty, should be maintained as
needed according to Congressionally authorized dimensions and locations, including authorized
channel depths of 10 to 12 feet MLLW and anchorage depth of 12 feet MLLW.
3.
Public Boating Facilities: Opportunities for establishing a public landing to serve
visiting and resident boaters on an appropriate
waterfront site in the harbor should be evaluated and to the extent feasible pursued, including opportunities that would provide pedestrian access to and from the harbor and the
commercial business district of the Byram
area of the Town.
4.
Pedestrian Access: Implementation
of the Byram River “Riverwalk” as recommended in the Byram Comprehensive Plan is
supported; to the extent feasible, the Town
should require well-designed facilities and
opportunities for public access to the harbor
through waterfront development projects subject to the Town’s Coastal Site Plan Review
authority in the South Water Street WB Zone.

Photo 6-1: The view downstream over the
Byram River/Port Chester Harbor channel

5.
DPW Park: Relocation of the Department of Public Works storage facilities to a
suitable non-waterfront location is encouraged, along with redevelopment of the property with appropriate facilities and amenities
for public access to the harbor as recommended in the Byram Comprehensive Plan,
consistent with the POCD and the Plan.
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6.
Mooring and Anchoring: Mooring of vessels in the harbor should be restricted to the federal anchorage basin; it should be recognized that anchoring opportunities are significantly limited
due to the narrowness of the waterway and the presence of the federal navigation channel.
7.
Church Street Area: This public street end should be utilized to its full potential as an area
providing pedestrian access to the harbor as recommended in the Byram Comprehensive Plan,
consistent with the POCD and the Plan.
8.
Mitigating Flood Hazards: Appropriate plans and programs to reduce and otherwise mitigate the potential adverse impacts of waterfront flooding on natural resources and property in the
Byram River watershed, are encouraged and supported, in accordance with the Byram River Watershed Management Plan.
9.
Storm Water Management: Suitable structural and/or nonstructural storm water treatment
systems and appropriate technology should be applied to manage, treat, reduce, or otherwise control storm water runoff into the harbor, including runoff from waterfront properties and bridge
decks, including the Putnam Ave., Rte. 1, Metro North Railroad, Mill St., and I-95 bridges, and
runoff into the Byram River upstream of the Mill St. Bridge. Priority projects for implementation
may include storm water management projects identified in the Byram River Watershed Management Plan.
10.
Marine Sanitation: Provision of a vessel-waste pump-out facility may be encouraged and
supported in the South Water Street WB Zone as may be necessary to meet the needs of boaters in
the harbor.
11.
Neighborhood Preservation: The traditional character and beneficial quality of life associated with waterfront residential areas in the Byram area of the Town should be recognized and
protected; implementation of the Byram Comprehensive Plan is supported, consistent with the
POCD and the Plan
12.
Byram River and Watershed: Initiatives to improve water quality in the harbor, address
flooding issues, and otherwise protect and enhance coastal resources should be planned and implemented, to the extent practical, on a watershed-wide basis, and should include initiatives identified in the Byram River Watershed Management Plan.
13.
Coordination with the Village of Port Chester and Other Municipalities: To the extent
practical, the Town should coordinate planning and regulatory initiatives with the Village of Port
Chester and other New York State communities with jurisdictions in the Byram River watershed
to address any common concerns that may affect the harbor, river, and watershed, including, but
not limited to, concerns for protection of coastal resources and water quality, mitigation of flood
hazards, regulation of boating activities, use of the federal navigation project, and implementation
of the Byram River Watershed Management Plan.
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BYRAM HARBOR
1.
Byram Park and Marina: Byram Park should be managed and maintained as a focal point
and central facility for public water access activities on the Town’s shoreline. The park should be
utilized to its full potential as a waterfront park providing opportunities for safe and enjoyable
access to the harbor, including access for boating and swimming, as well as opportunities for special water and waterfront events. Provision of a vessel-waste pump-out facility at the Byram Marina with adequate capacity to serve the needs of boaters in the harbor is encouraged and supported.
2.
Byram Shore Boat Club: Continued beneficial operation of the boat club on Town-owned
land in coordination with operation of the Byram Marina and in accordance with an appropriate
lease agreement with the Town is encouraged and supported.

Photo 6-2: Waterfront residential development and the Byram
Park Marina on the Byram Harbor shoreline

3.
Belle Haven Club: Continued beneficial operation of the club as a viable water-dependent
use providing opportunities for access to the GHA, including access to harbor mooring locations,
is supported. Mooring locations managed and maintained by the club for the exclusive use of
members and guests should be managed and maintained by the club in accordance with appropriate
permits issued by DEEP and the USACE, and permits issued by the Harbor Master. Subject to the
terms and conditions of its state and federal authorizations, the club should be responsible for
determining the precise number of mooring locations, size of moored vessels, and specific locations for placement of mooring tackle.
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4.
Dredging: Maintenance dredging should be conducted in a timely and environmentally
sound manner, as needed to provide for safe and efficient use of designated mooring areas, safe
and efficient public access to the harbor from the Byram Marina, and continued beneficial use of
the Byram Marina and Bell Haven Club marina.
5.
Shell Island Wildlife Sanctuary: Continued management of Shell Island by the Greenwich
Land Trust as a natural area providing wildlife habitat and appropriate opportunities for wildlife
observation and study is supported, consistent with the natural capacity of the island to support
such use in a safe and environmentally sound manner.
6.
Neighborhood Preservation: The traditional character and beneficial quality of life associated with waterfront residential areas, including the Byram and Belle Haven residential areas of
the Town should be recognized and protected.
7.
Storm Water Management: Suitable structural and/or nonstructural best management practices and appropriate storm water treatment systems and technology should be applied to manage,
reduce, treat, or otherwise control storm water runoff and discharges into the harbor, including
runoff from Byram Park parking areas, I-95, and areas adjoining Tom’s Brook. Storm water runoff
from the Byram Marina should be managed in accordance with a Town plan for storm water management.

GREENWICH HARBOR
1.
Water-Dependent Uses: Continued beneficial operation and enhancement of water-dependent uses in the harbor, including Town- and privately operated recreational boating facilities
and facilities in the Steamboat Road WB Zone, is supported, consistent with all other provisions
of the Plan, the POCD, the Town’s Building Zone Regulations, and the CCMA. Future development projects that may affect established water-dependent uses in the Steamboat Road WB Zone
should not result in significant reduction of available recreational boating services.
With recognition of the existing proximity of the navigation channel to the Roger Sherman
Baldwin Park shoreline and Steamboat Road shoreline, all proposals for bulkhead maintenance,
repair, and replacement in the Park and Steamboat Road WB Zone should be designed and reviewed to avoid waterward extension beyond the extent necessary, thereby avoiding adverse impacts on navigation and encroachment into the federal navigation project.
2.
Federal Navigation Project: The Greenwich Harbor federal navigation project, including
the federal channel from Long Island Sound to the Town ferry docks on the east side of Roger
Sherman Baldwin Park and the two federal anchorage basins near Grass Island, should be maintained as needed according to Congressionally authorized dimensions and locations, including the
authorized channel depth of 12 feet MLLW and anchorage depths of six and eight feet MLLW.
Dredging to restore the viability of the federal anchorage west of Roger Sherman Baldwin Park,
including its capacity to serve as a harbor of refuge during storm events, is supported.
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Photo 6-3: Looking south over Greenwich Harbor, the Steamboat Road peninsula, and the intertidal resource area in Smith Cove

3.
Federal Anchorage: All mooring locations in the federal anchorage shall be properly permitted by the Harbor Master and managed in accordance with all applicable federal, state, and
local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and any duly approved agreements and orders relative to management of moorings consistent with local, state, and federal requirements. Any mooring tackle that would interfere with approved maintenance dredging of the federal navigation project must be removed from the navigation project by the owner of that tackle prior to commencement of dredging operations.
4.
Roger Sherman Baldwin Park: Roger Sherman Baldwin Park should be managed and
maintained as a focal point and central facility for public water access activities on the Town’s
shoreline. The park should be utilized to its full potential as a waterfront park providing opportunities for safe and enjoyable access to the harbor, including visual access for enjoyment of scenic
views and access to island recreation areas via Town ferries, as well as opportunities for enjoyment
of special water and waterfront events conducted in accordance with Town-issued permits for
group use of the park. Opportunities for expanded water-dependent use of the park, including
opportunities for establishing public boating facilities enhanced by the park’s proximity to downtown Greenwich, should be evaluated and, to the extent feasible, pursued for the benefit of local
and visiting boaters.
5.
Emergency Services Facilities: Continued operation and enhancement, as necessary, of
the existing water-access facilities and base of operations of the Police Department’s Marine Operations Division is supported.
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6.
Grass Island Park and Marina: Grass Island Park should be managed and maintained as a
focal point and central facility for public water access activities on the Town’s shoreline, in coordination with management and operation of the Town’s Grass Island Wastewater Treatment Plant
and protection of wildlife habitat in the designated Grass Island Conservation Area.
Grass Island Marina should be utilized to its full potential as a public boating facility
providing opportunities for safe and enjoyable boating access to the harbor. Enhancement of marina facilities is encouraged and supported, in accordance with a comprehensive park and marina
management plan. Opportunities for improving boating access to the harbor from the marina
should be pursued to the extent feasible.
The level of facility maintenance and Town resources allocated for facility maintenance
should be commensurate with the status of Grass Island Park and Marina as a focal point and
central facility for public water access on the Town’s shoreline, and operation of the marina as one
of the Town’s four principal public boating facilities.
The existing vessel-waste pump-out facility should be evaluated to ensure it has adequate
capacity and is sited in the most appropriate location at the Grass Island Marina to serve the needs
of boaters in the harbor.
7.
Greenwich Boat and Yacht Club: Continued beneficial operation of the boat and yacht
club as a viable water-dependent use providing opportunities for access to the GHA on Townowned land in coordination with operation of the Grass Island Park and Marina and in accordance
with an appropriate lease agreement with the Town is supported.
8.
Guest Moorings: To complement public boating facilities available in the harbor, a suitable
number of mooring locations with Town-owned mooring tackle should be provided in appropriate
locations at the direction of the HMC for use by visiting boaters. Use of guest moorings shall be
consistent with federal policies for use of federal navigation projects and require permission from
the Harbor Master in accordance with regulations established by the HMC.
9.
Indian Harbor Yacht Club: Continued beneficial operation of the yacht club as a viable
water-dependent use providing opportunities for access to the GHA, including access to harbor
mooring locations, is supported. Mooring locations managed and maintained by the club for the
exclusive use of members and guests should be managed and maintained by the club in accordance
with appropriate permits issued by DEEP and the USACE and permits issued by the Harbor Master. Subject to the terms and conditions of its state and federal authorizations, the club should be
responsible for determining the precise number of mooring locations, size of moored vessels, and
specific locations for placement of mooring tackle.
10.
Nonfederal Dredging: Nonfederal maintenance dredging should be conducted in a timely
and environmentally sound manner, as needed to provide for safe and efficient use of designated
mooring areas, safe and efficient navigation, and continued beneficial use of the Grass Island Marina, Greenwich Boat and Yacht Club, and other water-dependent facilities. Nonfederal maintenance dredging in the harbor may include duly authorized maintenance dredging of areas within
the federal navigation project, funded by or otherwise conducted by the Town and/or other nonfederal entities with appropriate state and federal approvals.
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11.
Harbor Icing: Town, state, and federal agencies and officials, along with water-dependent
facility operators, should coordinate and apply available resources to address any potentially dangerous and damaging conditions caused by ice conditions and the operation of vessels during periods of icing, and to maintain navigable access to and from Long Island Sound, the base of operations of the Greenwich Police Department’s Marine Operations Division, and the Outer Harbor
islands.
12.
Steamboat Road Landing: The Town right-of-way known as the Steamboat Road Landing
at the foot of Steamboat Road should be managed and maintained as a public access area providing
opportunities for visual access to the GHA, consistent with traditional neighborhood character,
parking availability, and the capacity of the area to support public use in a safe and environmentally
sound manner.
13.
Wastewater Treatment Plant: The Town should continue to maintain, operate, and as necessary upgrade the Grass Island Wastewater Treatment Plant in accordance with best available
technology and in coordination with use and management of Grass Island as a focal point and
central facility for public water access on the Town’s shoreline. The plant should be operated and
maintained according to its design standards.
14.
Grass Island Conservation Area: The fish and wildlife habitat associated with the Grass
Island Conservation Area should be preserved and, to the extent feasible, enhanced. Tidal exchange needed to support viable intertidal habitat should be maintained.
15.
Intertidal Resources: Any future plans for waterfront improvements on, in, or contiguous
to the harbor should be carefully planned to avoid, reduce, or otherwise mitigate any significant
adverse impacts on viable intertidal resources, including tidal wetlands and intertidal flats, including intertidal resources in Smith Cove and Indian Harbor.
16.
Storm Water Management: The use of suitable structural and/or nonstructural best management practices and appropriate storm water treatment systems and technology should be applied to manage, reduce, or otherwise control storm water runoff into the harbor, including runoff
from parking areas, Town parks, waterfront commercial areas, I-95, and Horseneck Creek, and
runoff through the two 60-inch storm water discharge pipes at the head of the harbor. Management
of storm water runoff from the Grass Island Marina area and Roger Sherman Baldwin Park should
be in accordance with Town plans for storm water management.
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COS COB HARBOR
1.
Water-Dependent Uses: Continued beneficial operation and enhancement of water-dependent uses in the harbor, including Town- and privately operated recreational boating facilities
and facilities in the River Road Waterfront Business District, is supported, consistent with all other
provisions of the Plan, the POCD, Cos Cob Neighborhood Plan, the Town’s Building Zone Regulations, and the CCMA.
Future development projects that may affect established water-dependent uses in the River
Road WB Zone should not result in significant reduction of available recreational boating services,
including, but not limited to, boat maintenance, repair, berthing, and storage facilities.
With recognition of the existing proximity of the navigation channel to the shoreline of the
River Road WB Zone, all proposals for bulkhead maintenance, repair, and replacement in the
should be designed and reviewed to avoid waterward extension beyond the extent necessary,
thereby avoiding adverse impacts on navigation and encroachment into the federal navigation project.
2.
Mianus River Federal Navigation Project: The federal navigation project, including the
federal channel from Long Island Sound to the head of navigation near the Rte. 1 bridge, should
be maintained in a timely manner as needed according to its Congressionally authorized dimensions and locations, including the authorized channel depth of six feet at MLLW.
3.
Commercial Fishing Facilities: Provision of docking space for commercial fishermen, as
well as service, access, and related storage facilities for commercial fishing operations in suitable
locations, on, in, or near the harbor is supported, consistent with all other provisions of the Plan,
the POCD, Cos Cob Neighborhood Plan, the Town’s Building Zone Regulations, the CCMA, and
state and federal regulatory requirements.
4.
Cos Cob Marina: The Town’s Cos Cob Marina should be managed and maintained as a
focal point and central facility for public boating activities on the Town’s shoreline. The marina
should be utilized to its full potential as a public boating facility providing opportunities for safe
and enjoyable boating access to the harbor. Enhancement of marina facilities is encouraged and
supported in accordance with a comprehensive marina management plan prepared by the Town.
Opportunities for improving boating access to the harbor from the marina should be pursued to the
extent feasible.
Vessel-waste pump-out facilities with adequate capacity should be maintained in the most
appropriate locations at the Cos Cob Marina and in the River Road Waterfront Business District
to serve the needs of boaters in the harbor.
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Photo 6-4: Cos Cob Harbor on the Mianus River;
Cos Cob Park site prior to construction

5.
Cos Cob Park: Cos Cob Park should be managed and maintained as a focal point and
central facility for public water access activities on the Town’s shoreline. The park should be
utilized to its full potential as a waterfront park providing opportunities for safe and enjoyable
access to the harbor, including visual access for enjoyment of scenic views and access for appropriate boating activities, as well as opportunities for enjoyment of special water and waterfront
events.
6.
Mianus River Boat and Yacht Club: Continued beneficial operation of the boat club on
Town-owned land in coordination with operation of the Cos Cob Marina and in accordance with
an appropriate lease agreement with the Town is supported.
7.
Riverside Yacht Club: Continued beneficial operation of the yacht club as a viable waterdependent use providing opportunities for access to the GHA, including access to harbor mooring
locations, is supported. Any mooring locations in the Special Anchorage Areas that are managed
and maintained by the club for the exclusive use of its members and guests should be managed
and maintained in accordance with appropriate permits issued by DEEP, the USACE, and the
Harbor Master.
8.
Nonfederal Dredging: Nonfederal maintenance dredging should be conducted in a timely
and environmentally sound manner, as needed to provide for safe and efficient use of designated
mooring areas, safe and efficient navigation, and continued beneficial use of the Cos Cob Marina,
Mianus Boat and Yacht Club, and other water-dependent facilities, including facilities in the River
Road WB Zone. Nonfederal maintenance dredging in the harbor may include duly authorized
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maintenance dredging of areas within the federal navigation project, funded by or otherwise conducted by the Town and/or other nonfederal entities with appropriate state and federal approvals.
9.
Special Anchorage Areas: Use of the Special Anchorage Areas shall be in accordance with
all applicable local, state, and federal laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations, including the rules
and regulations established in the Code of Federal Regulations (33 CFR 110.58).
10.
Newman Street Property: Relocation of the Department of Public Works Newman Street
facility to a suitable non-waterfront location is encouraged and supported, along with redevelopment of the property with appropriate facilities and amenities for public access to the harbor, as
recommended in the Cos Cob Neighborhood Plan. A Town plan for public use of the property
should be prepared with input from all potentially affected parties, including neighborhood residents and Town agencies.
11.
Railroad Bridge Operation: Procedures and practices to ensure that openings of the MetroNorth Commuter Railroad Bridge occur in the most efficient and effective manner needed to accommodate safe navigation should be maintained. Height gauges should be clearly visible on the
upstream and downstream sides of the bridge. Any work to maintain, repair, or replace the railroad
bridge should be carefully planned, conducted, and monitored to reduce or avoid any potentially
adverse impacts on navigation, coastal resources, and water quality.
12.
Rowing: Recognizing the growing popularity of organized rowing on the Mianus River,
the HMC in consultation with the various stakeholders, should investigate and make recommendations on how best to manage this increasing activity. Organized rowing activities in the Harbor
and events involving rowing shells should be planned and undertaken in a manner to reduce or
avoid potential conflicts and adverse impacts affecting general navigation and other harbor activities.
13.
Cos Cob Mill Pond: Fish and wildlife habitat associated with the Mill Pond should be
preserved and, to the extent feasible, enhanced. Sufficient tidal exchange to support viable intertidal habitat should be maintained; storm water runoff into the Mill Pond should be properly managed to avoid undue pollution and sedimentation affecting the harbor.
14.
Mianus Pond Fishway and Walkway: Effective operation, maintenance, and enhancement,
as needed, of the fishway and walkway to enable diadromous fish to migrate between the harbor
and upstream locations in the river is supported for the purpose of: a) continuing to enhance the
ecological health of the river and harbor; b) providing educational and scientific benefits; and c)
providing opportunities for public enjoyment associated with access to the facility and observation
of its operation.
15.
Neighborhood Preservation: The traditional character and beneficial quality of life associated with waterfront residential areas, including the Cos Cob and Riverside residential areas of the
Town, should be recognized and protected; implementation of the Cos Cob Neighborhood Plan is
supported, consistent with the POCD and the Plan.
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16.
Storm Water Management: Suitable structural and/or nonstructural storm water treatment
systems and appropriate technology should be applied to manage, reduce, or otherwise control
storm water runoff into the harbor, including runoff from waterfront properties and bridge decks,
including the Rte. 1, I-95, and Metro North Railroad bridges, and runoff into the Mianus River
upstream of the Rte. 1 Bridge. Priority projects for implementation may include storm water management projects identified in the Mianus River Watershed-Based Plan. Management of storm
water runoff from the Cos Cob Marina should be in accordance with a Town plan for storm water
management.
17.
Mianus River and Watershed: Initiatives to improve water quality in the harbor, address
flooding issues, and otherwise protect and enhance coastal resources should be planned and implemented, to the extent practical, on a watershed-wide basis, and should include initiatives identified in the Mianus River Watershed-Based Plan.

GREENWICH COVE AND TOMAC CREEK
1.
Water-Dependent Uses: The continued beneficial operation of water-dependent facilities,
including Greenwich Point Park facilities and facilities maintained by the Lucas Point Association
and Rocky Point Club, is supported, consistent with all other provisions of the Plan, the POCD,
the Town’s Building Zone Regulations, and the CCCMA, and the existing non-commercial character of Greenwich Cove and Tomac Creek.
2.
Greenwich Cove Channel and Other Navigation Areas: The nonfederal channel providing
navigation access between Long Island Sound and the boating facilities and designated mooring
area in the cove should be maintained free of obstructions, and with a depth of at least six feet at
MLLW and width of 100 feet. Dredging in an environmentally sound manner, as needed to provide for safe and efficient navigation in the Greenwich Cove channel, beneficial use of the Towndesignated mooring area, continued public access to the GHA from the Greenwich Point Marina,
continued beneficial use of the marina, and continued navigation access to residential docks in the
inner cove is supported. In addition, it is recognized that the cove is subject to ongoing siltation
and that additional dredging may be needed to maintain navigation and vessel usage in other traditional navigation areas in the inner cove, including in the numerous smaller coves and inlets.
3.
Greenwich Point Park: Greenwich Point Park should be managed and maintained as a
focal point and central facility for public water access activities on the Town’s shoreline. The park
should be utilized to its full potential as a waterfront park providing opportunities for safe and
enjoyable access to the cove and GHA by the general public, including both residents and nonresidents of the Town, consistent with the capacity of the area to support safe and enjoyable public
use in an environmentally sound manner. Public facilities and amenities should support access for
boating, swimming, and recreational shellfishing, as well as opportunities for walking, picnicking,
and enjoyment of scenic views and special water and waterfront events conducted in accordance
with Town-issued permits for group use of the park.
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Photo 6-5: Greenwich Point Boatyard and Town-managed mooring field
in Greenwich Cove

4.
Greenwich Point Boatyard: This facility should be utilized to its full potential as a public
boating facility providing opportunities for safe and enjoyable boating access to the GHA. Enhancement of boatyard facilities in accordance with the comprehensive park and boatyard management plan is encouraged and supported. Opportunities for improving boating access to the
cove from the boatyard should be pursued to the extent feasible. Provision of a vessel-waste pumpout facility with adequate capacity and located in the most appropriate location at the Greenwich
Point Boatyard to serve the needs of boaters in the Cove is encouraged and supported. Management of storm water runoff from the boatyard should be in accordance with a Town plan for storm
water management.
5.
Old Greenwich Yacht Club: The continued beneficial operation of the yacht club on Townowned land in coordination with operation of the Greenwich Point Boatyard and in accordance
with an appropriate lease agreement with the Town is supported.
6.
Rocky Point Club1: Continued beneficial operation of the club as a viable water dependent
use providing opportunities for access to the GHA, including access to mooring locations, is supported.
7.
Tomac Creek Overlook: The Town walkway at the foot of Tomac Lane should be managed
and maintained as a public access area for fishing and enjoyment of scenic views, consistent with
traditional neighborhood character and the availability of public parking.

1

The Rocky Point Club is located on the Town’s Long Island Sound shoreline, outside the Town-established boundaries of Greenwich Cove and Tomac Creek.
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8.
Greenwich Point Ponds: The fish and wildlife habitat associated with the Greenwich Point
ponds, including Eagle and Clock Tower ponds, should be preserved and, to the extent feasible,
enhanced. Tidal exchange needed to support viable intertidal habitat should be maintained through
effective and well-maintained tide gates and culverts.
9.
Binney Park Pond: Storm water runoff into Binney Park Pond upstream of the GHA should
be properly managed to avoid undue pollution and sedimentation affecting the GHA. Dredging of
aquatic sediment in the pond is supported if it should be determined, based on best available scientific information, that such dredging can be carried out in a cost-effective manner expected to
have beneficial impacts on water circulation and aquatic habitat without significant adverse environmental impacts.
10.
Improved Water Quality: Environmentally sound initiatives for improving water quality,
reducing sedimentation, and restoring and/or enhancing coastal resources, including shellfish resources, in Greenwich Cove are encouraged and supported. Any proposal for improving water
circulation and tidal exchange between the cove and Long Island Sound should be based on best
available scientific information and sound engineering practice and prepared in consultation with
the Town, state, and federal agencies with relevant authorities and interests. Any project for improving water circulation and tidal exchange in the cove should be pursued if it is determined that
the project will provide significant environmental benefits, be implemented at a reasonable cost to
the Town relative to anticipated benefits, and not be substantially outweighed by any significant
adverse impacts on coastal resources.
11.
Intertidal Resources: Any future plans for waterfront improvements on, in, or contiguous
to the cove and Tomac Creek should be carefully planned to avoid, reduce, or otherwise mitigate
any significant adverse impacts on viable intertidal resources, including tidal wetlands and intertidal flats adjoining Long Meadow Creek and Tomac Creek, and in the Eagle and Clock Tower
ponds.
12.
Neighborhood Preservation: The traditional character and beneficial quality of life associated with waterfront residential areas, including the Riverside and Old Greenwich residential areas
of the Town should be recognized and protected.
13.
Coordination with the City of Stamford: To the extent practical, the Town should coordinate harbor management planning, management, and regulatory actions with the City of Stamford
to address any common concerns that may affect Tomac Creek and the GHA, including, but not
limited to, concerns for protection of coastal resources and water quality, regulation of boating
activities, management of mooring locations that may affect designated shellfishing grounds, and
resolution of any uncertainties regarding municipal boundaries in navigable waters.
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OUTER HARBOR
1.
Navigation Access: The right of the general public to use and have access to the waters of
Long Island Sound in the Outer Harbor in accordance with the Public Trust Doctrine should be
recognized and protected.
2.
Great Captain Island: Great Captain Island should be managed and maintained as a focal
point and central facility for beach recreation in the GHA. In coordination with management of
the island as a beach recreation area, the island’s lagoon and the habitat surrounding the lagoon
should be managed by the Town as a wildlife conservation area. The former federal light house
property should be managed as a Town historic site and September 11 Memorial site.
Water access facilities to be maintained for public use and enjoyment include the public
beach and designated swimming area, picnic areas, and pedestrian facilities for enjoying views of
the GHA and Long Island Sound. Enhancement of the island’s water-dependent facilities, including the Town ferry dock, and beach re-nourishment as needed, is encouraged and supported, in
accordance with a comprehensive park management plan prepared by the Town.
3.
Little Captain Island: Little Captain Island should be managed and maintained as a focal
point and central facility for beach recreation in the GHA. The park should be utilized to its full
potential as a waterfront park providing opportunities for safe and enjoyable access to the GHA,
including access for swimming and recreational shellfishing, as well as opportunities for picnicking and enjoyment of scenic views, consistent with the natural capacity of the island to support
such recreational use in a safe and environmentally sound manner.
Water access facilities to be maintained for public use and enjoyment include the public
beach and designated swimming area, picnic areas, and pedestrian facilities for enjoying views of
the GHA and Long Island Sound. Enhancement of the island’s water-dependent facilities, including the Town ferry dock, and beach re-nourishment as needed, is encouraged and supported, in
accordance with a comprehensive park management plan prepared by the Town.
4.
Calf Island Wildlife Refuge: Continued management of Calf Island as a distinct unit of
the Stewart B. McKinney National Wildlife Refuge providing appropriate opportunities for wildlife observation and study, is supported, provided public use is consistent with the island’s natural
capacity to support such use in a safe and environmentally sound manner. (See Map 6-3.)
5.
Great Captain Island Conservation Area: The fish and wildlife habitat associated with the
Great Captain Island Lagoon and Conservation Area, including, but not limited to, habitat for
egrets and other wading birds, should be preserved and, to the extent feasible, enhanced, restored,
and otherwise managed consistent with the environmental capacity of the affected coastal resources. Tidal exchange in an amount sufficient to support viable intertidal habitat should be
maintained. It is recognized that the increasing numbers of waterfowl and other migratory birds
nesting on Great Captain Island have and are continuing to deforest the trees and shrubs on the
island.
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6.
Commercial “Nurse” Moorings: Placement and use of any commercial mooring locations
in the Town’s Outer Harbor shall require authorization from DEEP, the USACE, and Harbor Master following review by the HMC. Any proposal for placement of a commercial “nurse” mooring
should be carefully planned and reviewed to avoid, reduce, or otherwise mitigate any significant
adverse impacts on coastal resources, water quality, navigation, and other pertinent marine conditions. No commercial “nurse” mooring should be authorized unless it is clearly demonstrated by
the applicant that no significant adverse impacts on pertinent marine conditions should be expected. Placement and use of any authorized mooring shall be in accordance with any terms and
conditions as may be specified in the state and federal authorizations for that mooring.

Photo 6-6: Little Captain Island

Final Draft for Adoption
August 2017

Chapter Seven:

Authorities and
Responsibilities for
Plan Implementation
This chapter establishes the responsibilities for implementing the Plan.
Plan implementation is achieved through the actions and decisions of: 1) the RTM; 2) BOS; 2)
HMC, including the HMC’s responsibility for carrying out the Town’s Harbor Management Review Process; 3) other Town agencies; 4) the Harbor Master; 5) state and federal agencies; and 6)
private groups and individuals.
It is herein recommended that Plan implementation should be pursued through an on-going, evolving process involving the coordinated actions of all Town, state, and federal agencies with programs and authorities that affect the GHA.
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REPRESENTATIVE TOWN MEETING
The RTM provides leadership and support for the Town’s land- and water-use planning initiatives,
including harbor management initiatives, and has the following responsibilities for advancing the
Plan.

1.

Adoption of the Plan and any future amendments to the Plan as needed to respond to changing conditions and circumstances.
Responsibility for adoption of the Plan rests with the RTM. Sec. 22a-113m of the Connecticut General Statutes sets forth the procedure for approval and adoption of municipal
harbor management plans.1 In accordance with this procedure, the Plan prepared by the
HMC must be reviewed by the USACE, approved by the Connecticut Commissioner of
Energy and Environmental Protection and Connecticut Port Authority, and adopted by the
RTM before it may take effect. In addition, in accordance with Chapter 7A of the Town
Code, the BOS will review the draft Plan and any subsequent amendments prior to review
by the USACE and approval by the State of Connecticut; and approval by the BOS of the
Plan and any amendments is required prior to adoption by the RTM.

2.

Adoption of amendments to the Town Code, as needed, to implement certain
provisions of the Plan.
To implement the Plan and any future Plan amendments, it may be necessary from time to
time to amend Chapter 7A of the Town Code (HMC chapter) and other Town ordinances.
Amendment of the ordinances may be based on recommendations provided by the HMC
to the BOS and RTM. Any amended sections of the Town ordinances pertaining to the
operation of vessels must be submitted to the Boating Division of DEEP for review and
approval.2

1

Sec. 22a-113m of the Connecticut General Statutes specifies that a municipal harbor management
plan “... may be adopted by ordinance by the legislative body of each municipality...” With respect
to this statute, “adopted by ordinance” is to be distinguished from “adopted as an ordinance.” The
Harbor Management Plan and any future Plan amendments are not published and adopted as an
ordinance. The “ordinance” by which the RTM may adopt the Plan and future Plan amendments
is in the form of a resolution following a public hearing. Chapter 7A of the Town Code may then
be amended to include reference to the effective date of the adopted Plan and any future Plan
amendments.

2

Sec. 15-136 of the Connecticut General Statutes authorizes any town to make regulations respecting
the operation of vessels within its territorial limits, subject to review and approval by the Connecticut Commissioner of Energy and Environmental Protection. In 2016, DEEP’s Boating Division
reviews any such regulations on behalf of the Commissioner.
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3.

Adoption of harbor management fee schedules.
In accordance with Sec. 22a-113s of the General Statutes and Chapter 7A of the Town
Code, the HMC has authority to propose a fee schedule for a mooring or any other activity
within the scope of the Plan. To take effect, any such fee schedule must be approved by
the RTM and BOS. All fees collected pursuant to the Plan, excluding fees collected by
Department of Parks and Recreation for use of Town boating facilities, must be deposited
into the dedicated, non-lapsing Town Harbor Management Fund and used exclusively for
maintenance and improvement of the GHA for the public, and for personnel and equipment
directly related to the function of the HMC and Harbor Master. (See the later section on
the HMC.) When considering fees for mooring permits, the RTM may consider adopting
the maximum fee provided by the General Statutes and authorizing the HMC to set the
precise fee within that limit. Any adopted fee schedule should be properly published and
posted for public review, including review on the Town website.

4.

Appointment of the HMC.
Pursuant to Chapter 7A of the Town Code, the HMC’s seven members and two alternate
members are nominated by the BOS and appointed by the RTM.

BOARD OF SELECTMEN
The BOS, with leadership by the First Selectman, as the Town’s Chief Executive Officer, will
contribute to implementation of the Plan through the following actions.

1.

Approval of the Plan and any future amendments to the Plan prior to adoption by the RTM.
While responsibility for adoption of the Plan and any future Plan amendments rests with
the RTM pursuant to Sec. 22a-113m of the Connecticut General Statutes, Chapter 7A of
the Town Code also requires Plan approval by the BOS.

2.

Support for amendment of Town ordinances, as necessary, to implement the
Plan.
As may be necessary to implement certain aspects of the Plan, the BOS may prepare recommendations for proposed amendments to the Town Code and submit those recommendations to the RTM. When preparing any proposed amendments, the BOS will consider
recommendations by the HMC.

3.

Preparation and adoption of rules, regulations, and orders regarding use of
the GHA by all vessels.
The BOS retains its authority under Special Legislative Acts 288 and 93 and Sec. 307 of
the Town Charter regarding use of the GHA, including the establishment of regulations for
the mooring and anchoring of all vessel for the purpose of advancing the Plan. Pursuant to
Special Legislative Act 288, regulations for the mooring and anchoring of vessels may
specify administrative and other appropriate responsibilities of the Harbor Master for im-
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plementation of those regulations. Any such specified responsibilities of the Harbor Master should be consistent with the Plan and not conflict with regulations adopted by the HMC
pursuant to Sec. 7A-6 of the Town Code and with the Harbor Master’s powers and duties
set forth in the Plan and General Statutes.

4.

Review of actions by the HMC.
Pursuant to Chapter 7A of the Town Code, the BOS may allow for an appeal to the BOS
by any person aggrieved by a decision or action of the HMC concerning a matter subject
to a special act authority of the BOS. Pursuant to Sec. 7A-1 of the Town Code, at its own
instigation, the BOS may review actions by the HMC as necessary to ensure that such
actions are consistent with the Plan. A HMC decision may be set aside by the BOS only
if it is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the
Plan. Accordingly, the HMC must articulate in writing a rational connection between the
facts determined and the conclusions made by the HMC in accordance with the Plan’s
policies and other provisions. (See the later section on the HMC.)

5.

Nomination of the members of the HMC.
According to the procedure for appointment of the seven-member HMC specified in Chapter 7A of the Town Code, members of the HMC are nominated by the BOS for appointment
by the RTM.

6.

Leadership and coordination for advancing the Town’s interests pertaining to
the GHA.
The BOS will provide leadership and coordination for achievement of the Town’s goals,
established in the Plan and POCD, for safe and beneficial use of the GHA and waterfront
and for conservation of coastal resources.

HARBOR MANAGEMENT COMMISSION
The HMC will function as the Town’s principal agency for the GHA through the following actions.

1.

Management of uses and activities affecting the GHA.
Consistent with its powers, duties, and responsibilities as a municipal harbor management
commission authorized by the Connecticut General Statutes and established by Chapter 7A
of the Town Code, the HMC will function as the principal agency of the Town for managing the beneficial use and conservation of the GHA and otherwise implementing the Plan
in coordination with other Town agencies.
The HMC may utilize committees as necessary to carry out its powers and duties in the
most effective manner, including, but not limited to: 1) a Finance Committee to address
preparation and review of budget and financial matters; 2) an Application Review Committee to review proposals for consistency with the Plan; 3) a Mooring Committee to oversee implementation of the HMC’s mooring regulations and ensure coordination between
the Harbor Master and HMC for implementation of the regulations; and 4) a Long-Range
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Planning Committee to periodically review the Plan, recommend amendments to the Plan
and Town ordinances for implementing the Plan, and recommend special projects for implementing the Plan. All committees will be appointed by the Chairman of the HMC who
may from time to time authorize other committees to fulfill the HMC’s responsibilities.
Recommendations and decisions of HMC committees will become effective upon approval
by the HMC.

2.

Ongoing coordination with Town, state, and federal agencies for harbor management.
The HMC will maintain regular communication and liaison with the other Town agencies
with authorities and responsibilities concerning the GHA, including the Town’s land-use
and public safety agencies, and any other agency with relevant authorities or programs. In
this regard, the HMC will notify other Town agencies of applications for state permits and
certificates submitted to the HMC, and will seek input from other Town agencies with
relevant expertise when reviewing those applications for consistency with the Plan. The
HMC will also seek input from other Town agencies when considering development of
regulations, procedures, and other HMC initiatives, and will work with the Conservation,
Inland Wetlands, Shellfish, Planning and Zoning, and other Town agencies to identify areas of special environmental sensitivity. In addition, the HMC will maintain regular communication and liaison, as necessary, with the divisions and units of DEEP, the USACE,
U.S. Coast Guard, and other state and federal agencies. The purpose of this communication
and liaison will be to address matters affecting implementation of the Plan and to otherwise
advance the Town’s goals for beneficial use and conservation of the GHA, consistent with
all applicable Town, state, and federal laws, regulations, and ordinances, including, but not
limited to, the POCD, Connecticut Harbor Management Act, and CCMA.

3.

Actions to ensure continued boating and navigation safety in the GHA.
Acting in coordination with the Greenwich Police Department, Harbor Master, USACE,
U.S. Coast Guard, DEEP, and other agencies, the HMC will continue to support and promote boating and navigation safety in the GHA. To help ensure continued boating and
navigation safety, the HMC may:
3.1

Recommend changes to Town Ordinances.
Sec. 15-136 of the Connecticut General Statutes enables the Town to adopt local
regulations regarding the operation of vessels in the GHA. In addition, Sec. 22a113n of the General Statutes enables the Town to adopt ordinances to implement
the Plan. Using this authority, the HMC may from time to time review the HMC
Ordinance and other Town ordinances affecting the GHA and recommend
changes—for approval by the BOS and adoption by the RTM—to respond to conditions and circumstances and to otherwise implement the Plan. Any recommended
changes are to be based on, and be in conformance with, the applicable provisions
of the Plan.
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3.2

Provide assistance and recommendations for identification and elimination of any
unauthorized encroachments in the GHA.
All proposed activities that would occur waterward of the CJL and which require
DEEP approval are reviewed by the HMC for consistency with the Plan. In accordance with the Plan, all unauthorized structures (including unpermitted docks, floats,
piers, bulkheads, pilings, and mooring tackle) and other work (including any unauthorized dredging or fill) extending into the federal navigation projects or into any
other areas waterward of the CJL should be eliminated or otherwise corrected. Any
existing unauthorized encroachments (those pre-dating the effective date of the
Plan and identified either prior to, or after the effective date of the Plan) should be
evaluated individually by the appropriate state and/or federal regulatory agency,
with appropriate input from the HMC. Specific measures should be developed to
remove or otherwise correct these existing violations.
The HMC will work in coordination with the appropriate state and federal authorities to ensure that any unauthorized encroachments constructed or occurring after
the effective date of the Plan are eliminated or otherwise corrected by the offending
party. The HMC should discourage the issuance of “after-the-fact” permits that
would bring such violations into compliance, unless there are compelling, clearly
demonstrated reasons to do so.

3.3

Review aids to navigation in and near the GHA.
With assistance from the Police Department, Harbor Master, Parks and Recreation
Department, and DEEP as necessary, the HMC may periodically assess the appropriateness of federal aids to navigation in and near the GHA and transmit the results
of this assessment to the U.S. Coast Guard.
With assistance from the Police Department, Harbor Master, Parks and Recreation
Department, and DEEP as necessary, the HMC will review the proposed placement
of all nonfederal aids to navigation in the GHA and provide comments to the agencies responsible for regulating that placement. The HMC may recommend, purchase, and direct the placement (following receipt of necessary state and federal
permits) of additional nonfederal aids to navigation, as needed, to mark restricted
speed zones and otherwise maintain and improve safe and efficient navigation in
the GHA.

3.4

Designate navigation fairways to be kept free of obstructions.
Navigation fairways to be kept free of mooring tackle and any other obstructions
may be designated by the HMC, in consultation with the Harbor Master, where
necessary to ensure safe passage of recreational and commercial vessels to, from,
through, and alongside the federal navigation projects and other boating activity
areas (including docking, launching, and mooring areas) in the GHA.
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3.5

Evaluate the appropriate extent to which docks, floats, and piers should extend waterward to reach navigable water.
Evaluation of proposed in-water structures will be carried out in accordance with
the Harbor Management Review Process, taking into consideration the littoral/riparian rights of waterfront property owners, the Public Trust Doctrine, existing conditions such as distance from shore to navigable water, location of federal navigation projects, relevant state and federal resource protection laws including the
CCMA, Tidal Wetlands Act, and Structures and Dredging Act, and other relevant
conditions and site-specific characteristics. The HMC’s recommendations concerning the appropriate distance that docks, floats, and piers should extend from
shore to reach navigable water should be a principal consideration in the coastal
permitting decisions of state and federal agencies.
The HMC will review proposals affecting the GHA as submitted to state and Town
agencies to help ensure that all in-water structures are set back a safe and sufficient
distance from the nearest channel, anchorage, or fairway boundary, in accordance
with the policies and guidelines established in the Plan.

3.6

Encourage and support maintenance dredging.
The HMC will serve as the Town’s principal advocate for maintenance dredging of
the federal navigation projects, working cooperatively with the USACE, DEEP,
CPA, and any other involved agencies, to ensure that maintenance dredging is carried out in the most efficient and timely manner to maintain safe and efficient navigation and the continued viability of water-dependent uses in the GHA.
In addition, the HMC will encourage timely, cost-effective, and environmentally
sound non-federal dredging projects, including Town projects, as needed to provide
safe and efficient navigation, continued viability of water-dependent uses, and public access to the GHA and Long Island Sound.
In connection with the foregoing, the HMC will encourage and support initiation
and completion of environmental assessments and other pre-dredging requirements, including funding requirements, so that any needed maintenance dredging
may be carried out without undue delay.

3.7

Recommend restricted speed zones as needed.
Restricted speed zones controlling the speed and wake of all power-propelled vessels in the GHA are established in the Town Code. In coordination with the Police
Department and Harbor Master, and with consideration of public comments, the
HMC may review the status of existing restricted speed zones and the marking of
such zones in the GHA, and may recommend designation of new zones and/or modification of existing zones as may be needed to maintain public safety. The HMC’s
recommendations for restricted speed zones will be provided to the BOS for approval subject to the requirements of Sec. 15-136 and Sec. 15-140 of the General
Statutes.
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3.8

Convene public meetings and forums to provide information and otherwise address
issues concerning navigation safety in the GHA.
Acting in coordination with the Police Department, Harbor Master, Coast Guard,
DEEP, and other appropriate agencies and officials, as necessary, the HMC should
assist with organizing and conducting public discussions on matters concerning
navigation safety, including but not limited to, discussions to address conflicts
among power- and sail-boating activities, hand-powered vessels such as kayaks and
rowing craft, personal watercraft, and sail-training programs.

4.

Adopt and amend harbor management regulations.
Pursuant to authority set forth in Chapter 7A-6 of the Town Code, the HMC may propose
and amend regulations to implement its responsibilities. Regulations adopted pursuant to
the Plan will be incorporated by reference therein. The HMC will propose regulations
concerning the mooring and anchoring of vessels in the GHA and minimum standards for
mooring tackle used in the GHA. The HMC should regularly review these rules and regulations in coordination with the Harbor Master and prepare any amendments that may be
required to respond to changing conditions and circumstances. Regulations for mooring
and anchoring vessels in the GHA should address, among other pertinent matters: 1) establishment of a mooring committee of the HMC; 2) requirements for mooring permits; 3)
requirements for keeping mooring records; 4) procedures for assigning individual-private
and commercial mooring locations; 5) establishment of navigation fairways as needed; 6)
procedures for applying for a mooring permit; 7) procedures for renewing mooring permits;
8) requirement for an annual mooring permit fee; 9) transfer of mooring permits: 10) placement of mooring tackle; 11) use of mooring tackle; 12) responsibility of the vessel owner
for secure mooring and anchoring; 13) identification of mooring locations and permitted
vessels; 14) mooring inspection; 15) revocation of mooring permits; 16) transient mooring;
17) powers and duties of the harbor master; 18) procedures for appeal and review of mooring-related decisions; and 19) penalties for violations.

5.

Implement the Town’s Harbor Management Review Process to review all proposals affecting the GHA for consistency with the Harbor Management Plan.
(See Figure 7-1.)
In accordance with authority provided by Sec. 22a-113p of the Connecticut General Statutes and Chapter 7A of the Town Code, the HMC may review proposals affecting the real
property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA for consistency with the Plan. The review process will be known as the Harbor Management Review Process.
As necessary, the HMC may utilize an Application Review Committee of the HMC to
review proposals subject to the Harbor Management Review Process and prepare recommendations for consideration by the HMC. The HMC may make a determination of a
proposal’s consistency with the Plan and transmit comments and recommendations concerning the proposal to the appropriate Town, state, or federal agency.
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FIGURE 7-1:
HARBOR MANAGEMENT REVIEW PROCESS
● A Harbor Management Review Process is established to help ensure effective implementation
of the Plan and to provide coordinated, efficient, and comprehensive local review of proposed
projects affecting the GHA.
● The HMC may review, for consistency with the Plan, all proposals submitted to, or proposed
by, Town of Greenwich agencies affecting the real property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA,
as well as applications submitted to DEEP and the USACE, including, but not limited to:
All proposals requiring a Coastal Site Plan Review (i.e. submitted to the Planning and Zoning
Commission or Zoning Board of Appeals in accordance with the CCMA) and affecting property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA.
All activities involving placement of temporary or permanent structures (e.g., docks, floats,
piers), dredging, filling, or other activities below (waterward of) the high tide line.
All proposed revisions or amendments to Town plans, rules, and regulations affecting the
GHA and lands adjacent to the GHA, including, but not limited to, proposed revisions and
amendments to the Zoning Regulations and POCD, regulations for use of Town water-access
facilities, and regulations affecting wetlands and flood and erosion control.
●

It is the responsibility of project applicants to provide the information necessary for the HMC
to adequately assess: a) the potential impacts of the proposal on the GHA; and b) the consistency of such proposals with the Plan. Information required should be reasonable in scope
and should be in balance with the size, scope, and potential positive and negative impacts of
the proposal.

●

The HMC may determine the consistency of proposals with the Plan and make that finding
known to the appropriate Town, state, or federal authority within an established period of time.
If no comment regarding the consistency of the proposed project is made by the HMC within
the established time period, the proposal will be assumed to be consistent with the Plan.

●

In accordance with Sec. 22a-113p of the Connecticut General Statutes, a 2/3 vote of the referring Town agency is required to approve a proposed project that has not received a favorable
recommendation from the HMC, provided that the HMC’s recommendation does not alter the
authority of the agency having primary jurisdiction over the proposal.

●

Pursuant to Sec. 22a-113n of the Connecticut General Statutes, a recommendation of the HMC
that is consistent with and adequately supported by the Plan with respect to a proposed project
shall be binding on any official of the State of Connecticut when making regulatory decisions
or undertaking or sponsoring development affecting the GHA, unless such official shows
cause why a different action should be taken.
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With regard to any determination by the HMC regarding a proposal affecting the GHA, the
HMC must articulate a rational connection between that determination and the provisions
of the plan. The HMC should prepare written comments on any proposal it reviews for
consistency with the Plan. Recommendations of the HMC pursuant to the Plan should be
well-grounded in the Plan’s goals and policies and prepared and presented with reference
to the relevant provisions of the Plan.

6.

Ongoing examination of the effectiveness of the Plan and conditions in the
GHA; preparation of proposed amendments to the Plan and Town ordinances
as necessary.
The Plan should be amended as needed to respond to changing conditions and circumstances affecting the GHA.
6.1

Annual Review
Each year, preferably at the close of the boating season, the HMC will hold a meeting to review the Plan and consider the need for any changes.
The HMC should also consider any physical or institutional changes affecting the
GHA that may have taken place during the preceding year, including new development, development proposals, physical changes caused by storms and other forces
of nature, improvement or degradation in environmental quality and any new plans
or policies established by Town, state, or federal agencies.
The HMC should consider any requests for Plan amendments that may be presented
by stakeholders with an interest in the GHA, including Town residents, business
owners, and private groups and organizations The HMC should also consider any
requests by state and federal agencies, including DEEP and the USACE.

6.2

Plan Amendment
The HMC should pursue amendments to the Plan according to the following procedure.
a)
b)

Prepare recommended changes to the Plan, including any changes in the
text, maps, or other elements of the Plan.
Obtain public comments on the proposed changes.

c)

Submit the proposed changes to the BOS for review.

d)

Submit the proposed changes, modified as necessary following review by
the BOS, to the USACE for review and DEEP for review and approval.

e)

Make any necessary changes to the Plan document following review of public comments and review of comments from the USACE and DEEP.

f)

Adopt the changes.
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g)

Submit the changes to the BOS for approval and then transmittal by the
BOS to the RTM for adoption by the Town following a public hearing.

A similar procedure should be followed for any changes to Town ordinances
needed to implement provisions of the Plan or amendments to the Plan.
The HMC will not be restricted to any specific time period for making changes to
the Plan. If unusual circumstances arise that require modification of the Plan, the
HMC may initiate the review and revision process at any time.
6.3

Plan Addendum
As an alternative to rewriting and republishing the Plan document each time the
Plan may be amended, the HMC may prepare a Plan Addendum to summarize the
significant changes that may have taken place and to include any amendments to
the Plan’s provisions. The HMC may periodically publish a revised Plan document
to incorporate updated descriptions of all relevant conditions that have changed
since the Plan was adopted or last amended, as well as any Plan amendments that
may have been adopted.

7.

Review of actions by the Harbor Master.
Any person aggrieved by a decision or action by the Harbor Master (including, any Deputy
Harbor Master appointed by the Governor) may present his or her grievance to the HMC.
At a public meeting, the HMC may review the matter and invite the involved parties to
present relevant information.
Sec. 15-1 of the Connecticut General Statutes requires the Harbor Master to conduct his or
her duties in a manner consistent with the Plan. While the Connecticut General Statutes
provide no authority for the HMC to overturn Harbor Master decisions or actions within
his/her statutory authority or to act as an appeals board with regard to those decisions or
actions the HMC may hear any local concerns that may be expressed with regard to decisions or actions by the Harbor Master. The HMC should consider the consistency of the
Harbor Master’s conduct with the Plan and attempt to resolve the expressed concerns without usurping the Harbor Master’s authority and then, if necessary, bring those concerns to
the attention of the BOS for further review and to the appropriate state agency or official
for any corrective action that may be necessary.

8.

Advisory participation in all Town-supported planning and development initiatives affecting the GHA.
The HMC may provide advisory comments and recommendations to any Town agency
initiating a planning, development, or other initiative affecting the real property on, in, or
contiguous to the GHA. The HMC may provide information on how the proposed initiative
can be planned and implemented for consistency with the Plan and how the initiative may
have the most positive impact on the GHA. The HMC’s advisory comments should help
to avoid, before the proposed initiative is finalized, any potential harbor management issues
or conflicts. Another important purpose of the HMC’s involvement should be to help
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maintain effective cooperation and coordination among all Town agencies with authorities
that directly and indirectly affect the GHA.

9.

Support and promotion of initiatives to increase public interest and awareness.
The HMC may prepare informational materials for public distribution through printed materials and the Town website, including, but not limited to, an annual boating guide for the
Greenwich harbors with information on public boating and access facilities, boating regulations, and safety considerations. Informational materials may be used to highlight the
major elements of the Plan; provide information on GHA laws, rules, regulations, and ordinances; promote local services and attractions for visiting boaters; and provide information on other harbor management-related topics.

10.

Preparation of recommendations for establishment of harbor fees.
Pursuant to Chapter 7A of the Town Code, the HMC may propose—for approval by the
BOS and RTM—a fee schedule for mooring and anchorage permits and any activity within
the scope of the Plan. (See the previous sections concerning the BOS and RTM.) Collected
fees must be deposited into the Harbor Management Fund and used for maintenance and
improvement of the GHA and for necessary expenses for personnel, professional services,
and equipment, including a vessel, related directly to the functions of the HMC and the
Harbor Master.
To the extent authorized by the Connecticut General Statutes and the Town Code, the HMC
may recommend establishment of dock and boat slip fees in the GHA, including fees for
use of Town marina facilities managed by the Department of Parks and Recreation. Additional fees should be considered to the extent that such fees would make a significant contribution to maintenance and improvement of the GHA in support of the Plan.

11.

Preparation of annual operating and capital budgets.
The HMC’s Finance Committee will prepare a proposed annual operating and capital
budget for the HMC’s consideration and approval. Upon approval, the HMC will submit
the budget to the BOS and BET in accordance with the Town’s budget process. The budget
will include a section reflecting estimated revenues and a section covering requested expenses by project or activity, including requested capital expenditures. The HMC will
regularly review the status of its operating and capital budget throughout the year according
to Town standards for financial reporting.
The HMC should evaluate other potential sources of funds, in addition to mooring permit
fees, to be used for harbor management purposes, and provide recommendations to the
BOS and RTM to generate operating and capital funds, including funds for long-term projects for dredging, marine structures, and other waterfront and harbor improvements.
All requests for expenditures from the Harbor Management Account will be submitted by
the HMC to the BOS for approval. The HMC will regularly review the status of the Harbor
Management Fund and report to the BOS on the use and allocation of all funds from the
account as necessary.
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12.

Maintenance of appropriate information and records pertaining to the GHA
and harbor management decisions.
In accordance with applicable Town standards, the HMC will maintain appropriate records
of its decisions, including decisions concerning the collection and allocation of harbor management funds, and, in coordination with the Town Clerk, organize and maintain other
information pertaining to the GHA. The information, maintained in the Town Hall, should
serve as a source of information on existing and historic conditions in the GHA and may
be used by the HMC when making decisions pertaining to the GHA.

13.

Pursuit of grants for harbor management purposes.
The HMC, in coordination with other Town agencies as necessary, may pursue governmental and private grants to help fund harbor improvement projects, including dredging
and public access projects. The Plan provides the basis for a number of projects eligible
for state and federal grants, including projects to improve access to the GHA, enhance
environmental resources, increase public awareness of the natural values of the GHA, and
improve harbor infrastructure.

14.

Ongoing study of the GHA to provide useful information for decision-making,
necessary Plan modifications, and other harbor management purposes.
Conditions in the GHA, particularly conditions pertaining to uses and activities in the GHA
and the institutional framework for managing the GHA, are constantly changing. Some
changes will affect the provisions of the Plan. As a result, the HMC will monitor conditions
in the GHA for the purpose of identifying any changes that may influence both short- and
long-term harbor management decisions and programs. The HMC should also encourage
and support scientific studies and other investigations, including investigations by educational institutions and students, which provide useful information for advancing the Town’s
harbor management goals.
The HMC’s continuing investigations should be designed to increase understanding of natural processes and human actions affecting the GHA and to increase understanding of harbor management-related issues and concerns. These continuing investigations should be
applied to help provide a solid basis for management decisions and for any modifications
of the Plan that may be necessary from time to time

15.

Employment of consultants and other assistants, as needed, to assist with implementation of the Plan.
Sec. 22a-113l of the Connecticut General Statutes and Chapter 7A of the Town Code empower the HMC to enter into contracts, retain consultants and other assistants, and receive
and expend funds for harbor management purposes, including compensation for expenses
and equipment directly related to the function of the HMC and Harbor Master. When hiring consultants and other assistants, the HMC may request an allocation of funds from the
Greenwich Harbor Management Fund. Any contracts to be entered into by the HMC shall
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be first approved by the BOS and be subject to the Town’s purchasing policies and procedures.

16.

Provision of recommendations to the Governor for appointment of the Harbor
Master and, as needed, Deputy Harbor Master.
The Harbor Master is appointed by the Governor pursuant to the Connecticut General Statutes for a three-year term and until a successor is appointed and qualified. Sec. 15-1 of the
General Statures requires that appointment of a harbor master and deputy harbor master
for any municipality with an adopted harbor management plan shall be made by the Governor from a list of not less than three nominees submitted by the municipality’s harbor
management commission. Accordingly, prior to expiration of the term of service of the
Harbor Master, the HMC should provide the Governor with recommendations for appointment to this position. In addition, the HMC may request appointment of a Deputy Harbor
Master who would have all of the powers and duties of the Harbor Master and be subject
to the control and direction of the Harbor Master. When considering candidates for the
positions of Harbor Master and Deputy Harbor Master, the HMC will conduct a properly
noticed search for potential candidates and evaluate potential candidates with respect to
job qualifications established by the HMC.

17.

Outreach to other municipalities to address matters of common interest.
The HMC should establish and maintain cooperative relationships with agencies in other
towns, including the Stamford and Port Chester harbor management commissions, to address matters of common interest, including, but not limited to, matters concerning boating
safety, mooring administration, public access, and water quality, and to otherwise coordinate harbor management initiatives in the most efficient and coordinated manner.

18.

Leadership for addressing water quality issues.
The HMC may provide leadership and coordination as necessary for developing and implementing initiatives to identify and address water quality issues in the GHA. In coordination with other Town, state, and federal agencies, the HMC may assist with the identification of sources of pollution, recommend measures to protect and improve the quality of
surface water in the GHA, and pursue increased public awareness of water quality issues
and initiatives.

19.

Maintenance of a master schedule of activities in the GHA.
To ensure that major in-water special events and any activity expected to significantly affect navigation facilities do not create undue congestion or conflicts, the HMC, in consultation with the Harbor Master and Police Department, will maintain a master schedule of
activities in the GHA. All sponsors of major in-water events should notify the HMC in
advance of their proposed activity.
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OTHER TOWN AGENCIES
Town agencies with authorities and responsibilities affecting the GHA will contribute to advancement of the Plan in the following manner.

1.

Provide, for HMC review, proposals affecting the GHA that are submitted to
other Town agencies.
In accordance with Section 22a-113p of the Connecticut General Statutes and Sec. 7A-4 of
the Town’s HMC Ordinance, each Town agency with authority to approve a proposal affecting real property on, in, or contiguous to the GHA will refer the proposal to the HMC
for review. The proposals will be provided to the HMC at least 35 days prior to any public
hearing on the proposal or, absent a hearing, prior to any final action by the approving
Town agency. As required by Sec. 22a-113p of the Connecticut General Statutes, the Town
agency authorized to act on the proposal will consider the recommendations of the HMC.
A two-thirds vote of all the members of the Town agency authorized to act on the proposal
shall be required to approve a proposal that that has not received a favorable recommendation from the HMC.

2.

Provide, for HMC review, proposals affecting the GHA that are prepared by
other Town agencies.
Proposals by other Town agencies affecting the real property on, in, or contiguous to the
GHA also should be provided to the HMC for review and comments, including but not
limited to, proposals to amend Town plans and regulations and agency proposals for dredging and other construction projects.

3.

Implementation of agency responsibilities affecting the GHA in a manner consistent with the Plan and in a manner that advances the Plan.
To the extent practical and permitted by law, Town agencies with harbor managementrelated authorities should carry out their following responsibilities affecting the GHA in a
manner consistent with the Plan and in a manner that contributes to Plan implementation.


Department of Parks and Recreation: Planning, operation, maintenance, and
management of waterfront parks, beaches, and other recreational facilities, including the Town’s boating facilities; establishment of fees for use of Town boating
facilities, including marina boat slips; pump out facilities; breaking ice in Greenwich and Cos Cob harbors as necessary to maintain essential access to Town boating facilities; placement and maintenance of certain non-federal aids to navigation.



Board of Parks and Recreation: Provision of proposals, recommendations, and
long-range plans to the Board of Selectmen concerning the Town’s water and waterfront recreational facilities, including the Town’s boating facilities and beaches.
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Planning and Zoning Commission and Department: Implementation of Town
land-use authorities affecting the GHA, including: preparation and adoption of the
POCD; adoption, amendment, and enforcement of the Town’s Building Zone Regulations; including those affecting water dependent activities and business; review
and regulation of municipal improvement projects; implementation of coastal site
plan review requirements; and coordination of Town agency review of development proposals.



Conservation Commission: Implementation of Town conservation authorities affecting the GHA, including: provision of recommendations to appropriate agencies
concerning water and waterfront development proposals; planning for use of waterfront open space areas; and promotion of watershed planning initiatives to protect water quality in the GHA.



Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency: Implementation of Town wetland
protection authorities affecting the GHA, including regulatory authorities affecting
development in the watersheds draining into the GHA.



Shellfish Commission: Management and protection of shellfish resources in the
GHA.



Police Department: Enforcement of Town and state boating laws, regulations, and
ordinances, including regulations established by the Board of Selectmen; coordination of emergency response activities with the Fire Department, DEEP, U.S. Coast
Guard, and municipalities with jurisdictions adjoining the GHA; enforcement of
Town shellfishing regulations; assistance for removal of in-water debris creating a
hazard or obstruction to navigation.



Fire Department: Coordination of emergency response activities, including response to oil and fuel spills, with the Police Department, Harbor Master, DEEP,
U.S. Coast Guard, and municipalities with jurisdictions adjoining the GHA.



Department of Public Works: Construction, operation, maintenance, and repair
of all storm water and wastewater infrastructure of the Town, including collection
and treatment facilities.



Health Department: Testing of water quality and closing of shellfish beds and
beach swimming areas as necessary to protect public health.
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT
HARBOR MASTER FOR GREENWICH
The Harbor Master is appointed by the Governor of Connecticut for a three-year term and is responsible for the general care and supervision of the GHA. Principal authorities of the Harbor
Master are included in Sections 15-1 through 15-9 and other sections of the Connecticut General
Statutes. In addition, Special Legislative Act 288 establishes responsibilities of the Harbor Master
for advising and reporting to the Board of Selectmen. The Harbor Master will have the following
responsibilities for implementing the Plan.

1.

Performance of all duties in a manner consistent with the Plan.
Sec. 15-1 of the Connecticut General Statutes requires that “harbor masters or deputy harbor masters shall exercise their duties in a manner consistent with any [harbor management] plan adopted pursuant to Sec. 22a-113m for a harbor over which they have jurisdiction.” Actions of the Harbor Master pursuant to his or her responsibilities established in
the Connecticut General Statutes therefore must be consistent with the provisions of the
Harbor Management Plan.
In addition, the Harbor Master’s actions must be consistent with any regulations for the
operation of vessels established by the BOS, to the extent those regulations do not conflict
with the Harbor Master’s responsibilities established in the General Statutes and HMC.

2.

Cooperation and coordination with the HMC and assistance to the HMC with
implementation of the Plan.
As authorized by Sec. 22a-113k of the Connecticut General Statutes and established by
Chapter 7A of the Town Code, the Harbor Master is a nonvoting, ex-officio member of the
HMC. When exercising responsibilities for mooring administration and conducting other
statutory duties for safe and efficient operation of the GHA, the Harbor Master should work
cooperatively with the HMC, and otherwise assist the HMC with implementation of the
Plan, and shall exercise his or her duties in a manner consistent with the plan. The Harbor
Master should attend the HMC’s monthly meetings, provide a monthly written report of
his or her activities to the HMC in advance of the HMC’s monthly meeting, and discuss
issues, occurrences, and events pertinent to the business of the HMC as necessary. In addition, the Harbor Master may be asked to attend special meetings that may be held by the
HMC to report on his or her activities and address questions raised by the public. The
Harbor Master may also be asked to attend meetings of the HMC’s committees and provide
assistance to those committees as necessary to address matters affecting safe and efficient
operation of the GHA.

3.

Implementation of requirements for administration of all mooring locations in
the GHA.
The Harbor Master is responsible for: issuing mooring permits and assigning mooring locations, including locations for guest moorings; maintaining records on mooring locations,
mooring tackle, moored vessels and owners/operators of moored vessels; oversight of
mooring tackle placement and inspection; revoking mooring permits as may be necessary;

7-18

Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Plan (August 2017 Final Draft)

and removing mooring tackle, if necessary. All mooring-related activities of the Harbor
Master must be consistent with the Plan, relevant sections of the Connecticut General Statutes, and Chapter 7A and any other relevant chapters of the Town Code, and be in accordance with any regulations for mooring and anchoring vessels adopted by the HMC. The
HMC will have access to all records of the foregoing activities. As directed by the HMC,
issuance of mooring permits and collection of mooring fees may be facilitated through an
on-line system established by the HMC.

4.

Provision of advisory assistance to the Police Department and other law enforcement authorities, as necessary and appropriate, to maintain safe and efficient operation of the GHA.
While the Harbor Master has no public safety authority, he/she may provide appropriate
advisory assistance to Town, state, and federal law enforcement agencies, as needed, to
maintain boating and navigation safety in the GHA. The Harbor Master’s responsibility in
this regard shall be carried out in a manner consistent with all applicable federal, state, and
Town laws, regulations, and ordinances, including but not limited to, applicable sections
of the Connecticut General Statutes establishing the enforcement-related authorities of
State of Connecticut harbor masters.3 The Harbor Master should call upon the Police Department or state or federal law enforcement authorities for assistance in all situations involving potential arrest or confrontation, and otherwise act in accordance with directions
provided by duly authorized law enforcement authorities in all law enforcement situations.
The Harbor Master should advise the Police Department, DEEP, the USACE, and/or U.S.
Coast Guard, as necessary, of any problems concerning enforcement of Town, state, and/or
federal laws, regulations, and ordinances affecting the GHA. In addition, the Harbor Master may request assistance from the Police Department when necessary for enforcement of
any order by the Harbor Master for the stationing of vessels in the GHA pursuant to the
Connecticut General Statutes.

5.

Application and interpretation of the Connecticut boating statutes and regulations concerning removal of abandoned and derelict vessels.
Consistent with all applicable Town, state, and/or federal laws, statutes, regulations, and
ordinances, the Harbor Master may provide assistance to Town, state, and federal agencies

3

Under the current Sec. 15-154 of the General Statutes, harbor masters are empowered to enforce
state boating laws within their jurisdiction, except that harbor masters who are not certified law
enforcement officers may not enforce the “boating under the influence” laws. Since no police
training is provided to Connecticut harbor masters, the policy of the State of Connecticut, first
promulgated by the Connecticut Department of Transportation and now the Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection, advises harbor masters who have not been certified
as law enforcement officers to report violations of law to the local police department or other law
enforcement authorities rather than become directly involved with arrests or confrontations with
violators.
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for implementing certain State of Connecticut boating statutes and regulations as they relate to removal of abandoned vessels, and for communication of these statutes and regulations, as necessary, to the public.
In accordance with Sec. 15-140c of the Connecticut General Statutes as amended by Public
Act 14-57 effective January 1, 2015, any vessel “not moored, anchored or made fast to the
shore and unattended for a period greater than 24 hours, or left [upon private property]
without the consent of said property owner for a period greater than twenty-four hours”
shall be presumed abandoned. Acting in coordination with the HMC, Police Department,
and other appropriate agencies, the Harbor Master may apply his or her authorities as necessary to implement the provisions of this statute in the GHA.

6.

Operation of Harbor Master vessel as available.
The Harbor Master (and Deputy Harbor Master at the direction of the Harbor Master) may
operate a Town-provided vessel for the purpose of conducting the Harbor Master’s duties
pursuant to the Connecticut General Statutes and Plan. Such vessel will be operated in
accordance with all rules and regulations for use adopted by the HMC, all applicable terms
and conditions for use and operation of Town property, and appropriately marked and readily identifiable when operated. As available, the Harbor Master vessel should be operated
for the purpose of responding to boating and navigation issues in the GHA. The normal
period of operation of the Harbor Master vessel should be from April 1 through November
30 during which time the Harbor Master may conduct routine inspections of the GHA. The
purpose of those inspections should be to help assure safe and efficient operation of the
GHA and compliance with applicable Town and state laws, regulations, and ordinances.

7.

Provision of information concerning boating laws, regulations, and ordinances,
the Plan, and other harbor management topics to the general public.
The Harbor Master may assist the HMC with provision of information to the general public
concerning applicable boating laws, regulations, and ordinances; conditions in the GHA;
provisions of the Plan; regulations adopted by the HMC; and other information intended to
increase public awareness and otherwise maintain safe and efficient operation of the GHA.

8.

Ongoing communication with Town, state, and federal agencies concerning the
GHA.
In addition to communication and coordination with the HMC, Police Department, and
other Town agencies, the Harbor Master should maintain effective communication and liaison, as necessary, with various divisions and units of DEEP, the USACE, U.S. Coast
Guard, and other state and federal agencies with authorities affecting the GHA. The purpose of this communication and liaison should be to address matters affecting the safe and
efficient operation of the GHA.
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Operation and maintenance of cell phone and email communication capabilities.
The Harbor Master, in consultation with the HMC and Police Department, will operate and
maintain a cell phone line with voice mail capability and an email address. The Harbor
Master’s voice mail should provide phone numbers for reporting emergencies. The Harbor
Master should keep a monthly record of calls to the Harbor Master’s office and may be
reimbursed from the Harbor Management Fund for reasonable and documented expenses
related to operation and maintenance of the Harbor Master communications system.

10.

Review and comment on proposals for dredging, filling, or placement of structures in the GHA.
The Harbor Master’s review of applications affecting the GHA should be carried out in
coordination with the Harbor Management Review process conducted by the HMC. The
Harbor Master may provide comments on those applications to DEEP, the USACE, and
other regulatory agencies as appropriate.

11.

Provision of assistance to the HMC for preparation of operating budget recommendations.
The Harbor Master should provide data on expenses for personnel and equipment directly
related to the function of the Harbor Master and Deputy Harbor Master, including expenses
for operation of the Town vessel provided for use by the Harbor Master and Deputy Harbor
Master, and other information to the HMC for the purpose of assisting the HMC with preparation of its annual operating budget recommendations.

STATE AND FEDERAL AGENCIES
To the extent permitted by law, state and federal agencies with authorities pertaining to the GHA
should carry out their responsibilities in accordance with the provisions of the Plan, and generally
cooperate with the HMC to advance the Plan. State and federal agencies may apply their authorities in the following manner to help advance the Plan.

1.

Review and approval of the Plan and any future amendments to that Plan.
Sec. 22a-113m of the Connecticut General Statutes specifies the procedure for approval
and adoption of the Plan. In accordance with this procedure, the HMC must submit the
proposed Plan (and future amendments to the Plan) to the USACE for review, comments,
and recommendations. The proposed Plan and any future amendments also must be submitted for approval to the Connecticut Commissioner of Energy and Environmental Protection and Connecticut Port Authority. Upon approval by the Commissioner and Port
Authority, the proposed Plan and any future amendments may be adopted by the RTM.
(See the previous section on the RTM.)
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Any revisions to the Town Code adopted by the RTM and pertaining to the operation of
vessels must be submitted to DEEP’s Boating Division for review and approval as required
by Sec. 15-136 of the General Statutes. Sec. 15-136 of the General Statutes requires that
any local ordinance “...respecting the operation of vessels on any body of water within its
territorial limits” be submitted to the Commissioner of Energy and Environmental Protection for review and approval. This review is carried out by DEEP’s Boating Division.
DEEP has sixty days to disapprove any part of the ordinance that it finds to be “..arbitrary,
unreasonable, unnecessarily restrictive, inimical to uniformity or inconsistent with...” established state policy regarding administration of boating safety. If DEEP does not disapprove all or part of the proposed ordinance within sixty days, the ordinance will take effect
upon publication and posting as required by Sec. 15-138 of the General Statutes.

2.

Inclusion of the HMC’s comments and recommendations into coastal permitting decisions.
Proposals for filling of aquatic areas, dredging, placement of structures, and other work in
or otherwise affecting the GHA are subject to state and federal regulatory programs administered by DEEP and the USACE, respectively, and cannot be implemented without the
required authorization. Coastal permitting requirements established by DEEP require applicants to consult with and notify the HMC during the permitting process. The HMC will
review proposals affecting the GHA, consider their consistency with the Plan and any
amendments or regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and provide appropriate comments
and recommendations to DEEP and the USACE.
In their review and decision-making processes, DEEP and the USACE should consider the
HMC’s consistency findings and recommendations to the maximum extent permissible in
accordance with state statutory policies and federal law. Pursuant to Sec. 22a-113n of the
Connecticut General Statues, a recommendation of the HMC that is consistent with and
adequately supported by the Plan with respect to a proposed project shall be binding on
any official of the State of Connecticut when making regulatory decisions or undertaking
or sponsoring development affecting the GHA, unless such official shows cause why a
different action should be taken.
The HMC should be provided with a copy of any authorization issued by DEEP or the
USACE for filling aquatic areas, dredging, or placement of structures in the GHA.

3.

Coordination and cooperation with the HMC for implementation of the Plan.
State and federal agencies should recognize the Plan as the Town’s principal guide (in
coordination with the POCD) for safe and beneficial use of the GHA and protection of
coastal resources and environmental quality in the GHA. DEEP, the USACE, and other
state and federal agencies should apply their planning as well as regulatory programs in a
manner to assist the HMC with Plan implementation. To the extent possible, the agencies
should provide information and technical assistance to the HMC for the purpose of addressing matters affecting safe and beneficial use off the GHA, protection of environmental
quality and coastal resources in the GHA, and other public purposes consistent with the
Plan. State and federal grant programs should be used to help implement special projects
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to achieve the Town’s harbor management goals. In addition, proposals affecting the GHA
prepared by state and federal agencies should be designed for consistency with the Plan
and be provided to the HMC for review and comment.

PRIVATE INDIVIDUALS AND ORGANIZATIONS
Private individuals and organizations may also contribute to implementation of the Plan. Town
residents, waterfront property owners, operators of water-dependent facilities, and others must
comply with Town, state, and federal laws, regulations and ordinances pertaining to use of the
GHA. In addition, there are a number of voluntary (non-regulatory) initiatives for managing and
enhancing the GHA. Concerned citizens and organizations may contribute to implementation of
the Plan through the following actions.
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BRUCE MUSEUM
RTM EXPLANATORY COMMENTS FOR SEPTEMBER 2017 MEETING
I.

History and Background Information

Upon his death in 1909, Mr. Robert Bruce bequeathed his entire 100+/- acre property, inclusive of
his dwelling house, to the Town of Greenwich. As part of this gift, Mr. Bruce placed several conditions on
the conveyance of his property to the Town. Mr. Bruce specified that his “dwelling house…be used as a
Natural History, Historical and Art Museum, for the use and benefit of the public." Further, Mr. Bruce
established a trust fund to assist in the operational costs and maintenance of the future museum and
surrounding "Bruce Memorial Park", but specified in his deed to the Town that "…after the trust fund which
I have created by said agreement shall have been expended, by said trustees, then said grantee [the Town]
shall, at its own expense, keep and maintain said Museum for the use of the public, either in said building
or in another proper building on said park premises to be provided for that purpose.” (See EXHIBIT A,
GLR Book 123, Page 162).
On October 16, 1909, the Town Meeting accepted the land from Mr. Bruce and became responsible
for the creation and maintenance of both the Bruce Museum and the Bruce Memorial Park. This included
employing Museum staff and maintaining the Park and Museum premises. (See EXHIBIT B, RTM
Minutes, Book 4, Page 49).
Following that gift and for approximately 50 years, the majority of all improvements made to Bruce
Park and the Bruce Museum were done through Town funds. However, in the 1960's the Museum started
to significantly expand its base of support and outreach into the Greenwich community through an active
volunteer fundraising organization known is Bruce Museum Associates. On June 9, 1969, Bruce Museum
Associates was incorporated and became Bruce Museum, Inc. (BMI). This "nonprofit support group" began
to privately raise funds to "support the increasing operating needs of the Museum".
On June 12, 1972, the Town Meeting adopted Sections 2-1 through 2-4 of Article 1 of Chapter 2
of the Code of the Town of Greenwich, which established the Bruce Museum Board. The Bruce Museum
Board had "supervision and control of all administrative functions relative to the Bruce Museum" for nearly
20 years thereafter. (See EXHIBIT C, RTM Minutes, June 12, 1972).
In April of 1990, the Board of Selectmen approved a proposal for extensive additions and
renovations to the Bruce Museum. To support this expansion project, BMI privately raised substantial
funds for the purposes of expanding and improving the physical facilities of the Museum and to establish
an endowment fund, the income of which would be used to supplement Town funds available for the
operation of the Museum.
In connection with this expansion, and for the future operations and maintenance of the Museum,
the Town reorganized the operational and financial management of the Bruce Museum so that such
responsibilities would be under the purview of BMI. To accomplish this, the RTM did the following at its
October 28, 1991 Meeting:
1.) The RTM repealed Sections 2-1 through 2-4 of Article 1 of Chapter 2 of the Code of the Town
of Greenwich, which outlined the provisions for the establishment of the Bruce Museum Board,
the municipal board established to supervise and control all administrative functions relative to
the Museum (Item 7 on the 10/28/91 Call);
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2.) The RTM amended the Town Charter to establish Section 81a. Bruce Museum, which
specifically includes a provision that the Director of Parks and Recreation, subject to RTM
approval, may enter into an agreement with BMI to allow BMI to "administer, supervise,
manage, and operate the Bruce Museum…" (Item 8 on the 10/28/91 Call); and
3.) The RTM authorized the execution of the Bruce Museum Management Agreement (Item 9 on
the 10/28/91 Call)
On January 31, 1992, the Town executed and entered into the Bruce Museum Management
Agreement with BMI (the "1992 Management Agreement", See EXHIBIT D). As part of this Agreement,
the Town acknowledged that the "future maintenance and operation of the Museum… [could] best be
accomplished as contemplated by this Management Agreement."
For the past 25 years, BMI has managed and operated the Museum and administered its affairs in
conformance with Paragraph 4 of the 1992 Management Agreement. Further, except for the annual budget
appropriation made to BMI by the Town, BMI has been, and continues to be, primarily responsible for the
Museum's finances.
In October of 2014, BMI began the initial design stages to renovate and expand the Museum (the
"2017 Expansion Project"). As part of this initiative, the Town, BMI and local legislators succeeded in
obtaining a $750,000 grant from the State of Connecticut to assist in funding a renovation of the Museum's
permanent science gallery, a project that would become part of the overall 2017 Expansion Project. To
implement application of the Grant, the 1992 Management Agreement was amended on November 2, 2016
as described in the First Amendment to Bruce Museum Management Agreement (the "First Amendment",
See EXHIBIT E) 1.
The First Amendment did two (2) important things: 1.) It revised the definition of "Plans" from
the 1992 Management Agreement to include work to the Museum's permanent science gallery (now a phase
of the 2017 Expansion Project); and 2.) Extended the terms of the 1992 Management Agreement for an
additional twenty-five (25) years, commencing on January 31, 2017, through January 31, 2042.
II.

2017 Expansion Project and Town Approvals To Date

The Museum is dedicated to providing the public with the best exhibitions and educational
opportunities available; however, the physical constraints of the existing museum limit the services BMI
can provide to the community. As a result, and as noted above, in 2014 BMI initiated a process to further
expand and improve the physical facilities in the following ways:
1.)
2.)
3.)
4.)
5.)

Increase gallery space for permanent and changing exhibitions of art and science;
Expand on-site educational classroom space;
Create adequate storage space for permanent collections;
Establish appropriate exhibition preparation space; and
Create visitor amenities on par with other high caliber museums.

To date, BMI has, at its sole cost (approx. $4M), prepared plans and specifications (the "2017 Plans")
illustrating the 2017 Expansion Project and has privately raised an additional $22M for the purposes of
constructing such further expansion and improvements to the Museum facilities and the Museum Premises
in accordance with the 2017 Plans. The project's overall cost is estimated at approximately $60M ($45M
in construction costs; $15M additional to the endowment).

1

Approved by the RTM at its June 2016 Meeting.

Page | 2

2

The 2017 Plans have been reviewed in detail over the past year by the Town. Such review has
included the examination of plans and reports by many Town Agencies and Departments and has included
the following approvals (in chronological order, See EXHIBIT F):
•

July 19, 2016 - The Greenwich Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency (“IWWA”) Staff made
the formal determination that an IWWA Permit or other approval would not be required for the
proposed work.

•

July 28, 2016 - BMI obtained MI Status from the Greenwich Board of Selectmen to proceed with
the 2017 Plans.

•

October 18, 2016 - The Greenwich Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed BMI's Preliminary
Coastal Site Plan Application (#PLPZ 2016 407) and moved the application "to final". This review
included review and issuance of advisory comments from the following Town departments: DPW
Engineering, DPW Sewer, Zoning Enforcement, Conservation, BETA Group, Inc. (the Planning and
Zoning Commission's third party traffic consultant), the Department of Environmental and Energy
Protection (DEEP).

•

November 7, 2016 - The Greenwich Planning and Zoning Board of Appeals approved Appeal
#PLZE 2016 0256, which granted a special exception to permit the Museum to construct a 36-foot
addition pursuant to Section 6-203(c) and granted variances of building height and number of
permitted stories to construct the building as shown on the 2017 Plans.

•

November 9, 2016 - The Greenwich Architectural Review Committee approved the overall
project, including site landscaping [Note: The Museum will return to the ARC with construction
documents and its full lighting plan.]

•

December 20, 2016 - The Tree Warden approved the 2017 Plans as evidenced by his Final Decision,
attached hereto as part of EXHIBIT F.

•

March 15, May 1, & May 5, 2017 - BMI met with senior Town staff to discuss and amend various
aspects of the 2017 Expansion Project and solidify a final draft of the 2nd Amendment to the Bruce
Museum Management Agreement. Town personnel involved in these discussions included: Benjamin
Branyan, Town Administrator; Joseph Siciliano, Director of Parks and Recreation; Bruce Spaman,
Tree Warden; Katie DeLuca, Town Planner/Director, Planning and Zoning; Patrick LaRow, Assistant
Town Planner/Deputy Director, Planning and Zoning, Amy Siebert, Commissioner of Public Works;
Rita Azrelyant; Director, Parking Services; Wayne Fox, Town Attorney, and Eugene Mclaughlin,
Assistant Town Attorney.

•

May 22, 2017 – BMI submitted revised plans and documents to the Greenwich Board of Selectmen
and Greenwich Planning and Zoning Department based on the discussions noted above.

•

May 30, 2017 – The Greenwich Board of Selectmen approved the proposed Second Amendment to
Bruce Museum Management Agreement and modified the following Sections of the Greenwich
Municipal Ordinances per BMI's request: Section 14-1, Schedule I; 14-5, Schedule II; and Section
14-7.6, Schedule VIIA.

•

June 1, 2017 - The Greenwich Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed and approved the 2017
Plans as part of BMI's Applications for Final Coastal Site Plan (#PLPZ 2017 00045), Special Permit
(#PLPZ 2017 00046) and Municipal Improvement (#PLPZ 2017 00048). This review included
review and issuance of advisory comments from the following Town departments: DPW
Engineering, DPW Sewer, Zoning Enforcement, Conservation, BETA Group, Inc. (the Planning and
Zoning Commission's third party traffic consultant), the Department of Environmental and Energy
Protection (DEEP).
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III.

Request to the RTM

BMI now seeks authorization from the RTM pursuant to Section 81a.(b) of the Town Charter to
update and amend the Management Agreement to move forward with the 2017 Expansion Project and
clarify the ongoing maintenance of the Bruce Museum (hereinafter referred to as the "Second Amendment",
See EXHIBIT G). Primarily, the Second Amendment will: Amend the definition of "Plans" in the
Management Agreement to reflect the 2017 Plans, which includes reorganization of the existing 29,639 SF
museum and the construction of an integrated 37,656 SF addition, site landscaping, as approved by the
Town Tree Warden and Greenwich Architectural Review Committee, drainage improvements, as approved
by the Department of Public Works' Engineering Division, and the creation of parking to support the
expanded use; Add a new provision to Management Agreement to coordinate the Museum’s use of any
Town parking lot through the Town Director of Parking Services; and clarify and more specifically define
the maintenance obligations of the Town and BMI.
It should be noted that BMI and the Town (Department of Parks and Recreation, Parking Services,
Office of the First Selectman, Planning and Zoning Department, Department of Public Works) worked
diligently and cooperatively to ensure that maintenance of the new museum would not add to the Town's
maintenance responsibilities for the site. Existing maintenance activities were clearly identified by the
Department of Parks and Recreation as well as the Department of Public Works and any new areas of
maintenance above those already provided will be assumed by BMI, as outlined in Paragraph 8 of the
Second Amendment (EXHIBIT G).
The Second Amendment as presented herewith has been reviewed to the satisfaction of the Town
Attorney.
IV.

Strengthening a Greenwich Resource

The Bruce Museum facilitates discovery, shares knowledge, and inspires thought. From providing
educational programming to children of all ages, to motivating adults to discover more about history, art,
and science, the Bruce Museum inspires a passion for knowledge and a lifelong love of learning. The 2017
Plan will strengthen this beloved Greenwich Resource by increasing gallery space for permanent and
changing exhibitions of art and science, expanding the on-site educational program, and providing ancillary
spaces for storage, exhibit preparation and visitor amenities.
Galleries of Art and Science
While the Bruce Museum has developed a diverse collection of approximately 16,500 objects
through both gifts and purchases, all of which are the collective property of the citizens of Greenwich, it
does not have a permanent gallery for art to display these objects. The modest 3,500 SF permanent gallery
space that the Museum has is used exclusively to display the permanent science exhibit: “Changes in Our
Land”, which recently received State funding for renovation.
The 2017 Plans layout a 15,194 SF addition to the Museum's main level, creating an overall second
floor of 28,806 SF. The area of the addition will be almost entirely dedicated to providing new gallery
space for the Museum's permanent and changing art collections. To date, over $100M worth of art has been
promised to fill the Museum’s new permanent art galleries. With artworks ranging in date from the fourth
century B.C. to the early twenty-first century, the expanded Bruce Museum will have space to celebrate the
achievements of artists from diverse cultures around the world. As noted above, and in accordance with
the Management Agreement and Town Charter, all items in the Museum’s collections and all additions to
that collection are property of the Town.
Science and natural history galleries will also be expanded as part of the 2017 Project.
Encompassing nearly all of the Museum’s existing gallery space, the science wing of the expanded Bruce
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Museum will have the space to explore cutting-edge themes in science in greater depth. The permanent
science galleries will be redesigned and reinstalled, adding more exceptional minerals, fossils, and unique
specimens of the natural world to the Bruce Museum’s collection. New lighting, sound effects, and updates
to the interactives provided within the permanent science galleries will present a multi-sensory expedition
through the region’s rich natural history.
The future changing exhibition space within the science wing will allow visitors to explore themes
such as paleontology, biology, chemistry, engineering, physics, and so much more. In this new changing
exhibition space, visitors will investigate a new show every three to four months, igniting imaginations and
providing a platform to examine discoveries of the past, present breakthroughs, and the possibilities for the
future.
Education
Education is the focus of the Museum’s operations and can be seen in its every initiative. The
Bruce Museum’s Education Department is award winning, most recently receiving an award from the Lois
Bronz Center in Westchester for its afterschool programs for disadvantaged youth (2016) and from the
Cultural Alliance of Fairfield Country for Excellence and Innovation in Education (2016).
Presently, the Museum offers approximately 1,550 educational programs per year, which serve
over 38,000 people annually in every age group. Programs targeted at students from Pre-Kindergarten to
twelfth grade include the Museum’s object-based learning and hands-on activities that supplement school
curricula. These school-aged programs currently serve over 10,000 students per year. In the expanded
Museum, spaces dedicated to hands-on learning will triple in size over existing conditions, enabling
Museum Educators to reach over 200 students 2 per day in grades K-12. It is anticipated that the new Bruce
Museum will welcome over 35,000 students in the first year of operations.
Overall educational programs will also increase to approximately 2,100 per year. Adult programs,
such as lectures, films, and symposia, take place in an existing 1,254 SF multi-purpose Lecture Hall gallery,
which also functions as a flexible gallery space and community rental space. This space, as it currently
exists, is also used for social events like exhibition opening receptions, dinners, cocktail parties, etc. A new
multi-purpose lecture hall, adjacent to a new and inviting lobby, will provide an updated space for
community events and for visitors to engage with leaders in the fields of art and science.
Benefits to Greenwich
While the Bruce Museum draws visitors from a broader area, it is the Town of Greenwich that
benefits the most from the Bruce Museum and from any improvements made to same. Physically, the
Museum's real property: its land, structures, and any improvements thereto, belong to and become the
property of the Town. The objects in the collection the Bruce Museum, and all additions thereto, are vested
exclusively in the Town of Greenwich and held in public trust.
Operationally, two-thirds of BMI's Board of Trustees must be residents of the Town of Greenwich.
This ensures that the core values and purposes of BMI, now and in the future, are reflective of the values
held by Greenwich residents. In addition to this two-thirds requirement, the First Selectman, the Moderator
of the Representative Town Meeting, and the Chairman of the Board of Estimate and Taxation are all exofficio voting members of the BMI Board.

2

The existing Museum reaches approximately 75 students per day.
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Greenwich also benefits the most from the enrichment that the Bruce Museum provides to its
visitors. Based on a 2013 Study published in the journal Education Next (WINTER 2014 / VOL. 14, NO.
1), researchers found that museum visits resulted in " improvements in students' knowledge of and ability
to think critically about art, a stronger display of ‘historical empathy,’" greater tolerance for differing views,
and interest in repeating the experience of attending such a cultural institution." Over 33% of all Bruce
Museum visitors come from Town (see EXHIBIT H). Further, over 50% of the students reached each year
by the Museum are Greenwich-based. During the 2016-2017 fiscal year, the Bruce Museum delivered 337
programs to 6,595 participants from Greenwich-based schools and organizations. A list of these
organizations is included herewith as EXHIBIT I. These initiatives will only increase with the expanded
Museum facility and programming opportunities.
V.

Project Cost and Financial Impacts

General Information
The Town of Greenwich assumed the financial obligations associated with "keep[ing] and
maintain[ing] said museum…" when it accepted Mr. Bruce's gift in 1909. As such, the full expense of
running the museum was part of the Town's Budget.
Starting with the 1992 Management Agreement, BMI assumed the financial responsibilities to
maintain and run the museum, except for certain contributions to be continued by the Town. These
contributions were to provide reasonable physical maintenance and repair of the Museum building and
premises and to provide financial assistance by way of an annual budget appropriation to BMI to assist
BMI in meeting its operating requirements. As outlined in the 1992 Management Agreement, it was the
Town's intention to provide funding "equal to the aggregate of funds and services appropriated by the Town
for the 1991-1992 fiscal year for the purposes of the Museum, adjusted annually on account of increases or
decreases in the cost of services, supplies and materials, and other items due to changes in the cost of living
and other factors affecting the Town's budget."
Over the years, the Town's dollar amount contribution to the Museum's operating costs has
increased due to inflation and increases in the cost of living. However, on a percentage basis, that
contribution has gone from 22% of the Museum's annual budget in 1996 to approximately 15% today (see
EXHIBIT J. The Town has benefited from BMI's investment in the Museum, which has increased the value
of the real estate and collection significantly. over the last 25 years. The Museum's collection alone has
increased in value by approximately $3.5M, and is currently valued at about $8M. Further, BMI has raised
the Museum's status within the art community and given Greenwich a museum it can be proud of.
Financially, BMI is held to a high level of public accountability and transparency. Financial
statements are regularly prepared and provided to the Town which evidence BMI's financial health and its
commitment to function in the highest public interest. The Bruce Museum is audited on an annual basis
and, most recently, PFK O'Connor Davies, LLC has audited the financial condition of the organization (see
EXHIBIT K for Financial Statements).
2017 Expansion - Project Cost
As noted above, the expansion of the Bruce Museum will require approximately $60 Million, of
which $45 Million is in planning and construction costs and $15 Million is in endowment. To date, BMI
has already raised $23 Million towards its goals - $18 Million in capital and $5 Million in endowment.
2017 Expansion – Budgetary Impact
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The current operating budget of the Bruce Museum is $5,117,023. Post-construction, the operating
costs of the Bruce Museum are expected to increase to $7,514,8443, a 47% increase.
However, this increase in operating costs will be offset by increased revenues and an increase in
endowment, maintaining BMI's financial stability. Specifically, annual revenues at the Bruce Museum are
expected to increase from $5,117,295 to $7,533,959, a 46% increase. This projected revenue includes
approximately $1,900,000 from BMI's endowment fund, which it created and continues to manage to
provide the Museum with a steady stream of income. BMI's existing endowment fund is approximately
$23 Million and is expected to grow to around $38 Million as a result of the 2017 Expansion Project. In
sum, BMI anticipates a break-even budget with no changes in the allocation from the Town.
Bruce Museum's Economic Impact on the Town of Greenwich
The Bruce Museum generates a great deal of economic activity in Town of Greenwich. Using
the Arts and Economic Prosperity Calculator 4 the Bruce Museum has had the following economic
impacts during the 2017 fiscal year:
The total dollars spent by the Bruce Museum and its audiences is over $7.lM (Note: event
related spending by visitors is estimated using the average dollars spent per person by arts event
attendees in similarly populated communities);

•

The total dollars paid to community residents (e.g., salaries, wages, proprietary income) as
a result of the expenditures by the Bruce Museum and its audiences is $5.6M;

•

The total dollars received by the local government (through fees/taxes, etc.) as a result of
the Bruce Museum's expenditures and those of its audiences is over $280,000;

•

The total dollars received by the State government as a result of the Bruce Museum's·
expenditures and those of its audiences is over $320,000.

In addition to the Americans for the Arts calculations, a visitor survey was conducted by the· Bruce
Museum in March 2016. One-hundred ninety one (191) visitors from outside of Greenwich, CT
indicated the following about their spending during their trip to the Bruce:

VI.

•

91% reported spending up to $100 on retail shopping;

•

88% reported spending up to $100 on food and beverages at local restaurants.
Conclusion

Under the administrative leadership of BMI, the Bruce Museum has undergone a professional
transformation on every level. Since the establishment of the 1992 Management Agreement, the Bruce
Museum has been accredited by the American Association of Museums, become the second most popular
art museum in Connecticut, mounted world-class exhibits, expanded its public presence, and increased its
annual attendance at an accelerated rate. With its enhanced reputation, the Bruce Museum has become an

3

Projected data provided by M. Goodwin Museum Planning, Inc.
Developed in 2012 by the non-profit advocacy group Americans for the Arts to quantify the economic impact of arts
and culture in the state of Connecticut. The calculator uses a sophisticated economic analysis called input -output analysis,
which is a system of mathematical equations that combines statistical methods and economic theory enabling economists
to track how many times a dollar is "re-spent" within the local economy. For example, in addition to the money spent
from visitors to the region, if the Bruce Museum purchases several gallons of paint from a local hardware store, the
hardware store then uses that money to pay employees, who in turn spend that money on lunch in the area.
4

Page | 7

7

economic engine that supports jobs, generates government revenue, and is a cornerstone of the regional
tourism industry.
As noted above, the Museum enriches the lives of Greenwich residents. Since 1992, BMI has
appropriately and markedly managed the Museum, both physically and from a programmatic standpoint,
and promoted its growth and reputation.
According to the Town's 2009 Plan of Conservation and Development, the Bruce Museum
"enhances the quality of life [in Town] and Greenwich should continue to support the Museum." BMI now
asks that the Town support the Museum in its request to amend the Management Agreement to move
forward with the 2017 Expansion Project and clarify the ongoing maintenance of the Bruce Museum.
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Stormwater Management Practices Maintenance Declaration
THIS DECLARATION is made this date, ______________, 20_____ , by and between the Town of
Greenwich, a municipal corporation with principal offices located at 101 Field Point Road, Greenwich, CT
06830 and
Bruce Museum Inc.
_______________________________________________________________________
[Owner(s) Name]
1 Museum Drive, Greenwich, CT
_______________________________________________________________________
[Address]

AF

T

hereinafter referred to as “Owner(s)” of the “Property” as more fully described in a deed recorded in Book
________ at Page ________ of the Greenwich Land Records. In accordance with the Town of
Greenwich Drainage Manual as Amended, the “Owner(s)” agree to install and maintain stormwater
management practice(s) on the subject Property in accordance with approved plans and conditions. The
Owner further agrees to the terms stated in this document to ensure that the stormwater management
practice(s) continues serving the intended function in perpetuity. This Declaration includes the following
exhibits located in the project files of one or all of the following Town of Greenwich Departments:
 Building Division – Permit #________________________
 Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency – Application # _____________________
 Planning and Zoning – Application # ________________________

R

Exhibit A: Long-term Maintenance Plan that prescribes those activities that must be carried out to
maintain compliance with this Declaration. Approved Maintenance Plan dated
May 18, 2017
___________________.

D

Exhibit B: Improvement Location Survey depicting “As-Built” conditions and showing an
accurate location of each stormwater management practice affected by this Declaration. Approved
Improvement Location Survey dated ______________.
Note: After construction has been verified and accepted by the Town of Greenwich for the
stormwater management practices, this declaration shall be recorded by the Owner on the
Greenwich Land Records and copies of the recorded document shall be submitted to all of the
following Town of Greenwich Departments involved in the approval:
o Building Division
o Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency
o Planning and Zoning
Through this Declaration, the Owner(s) hereby subjects the Property to the following covenants,
conditions, and restrictions:

1. The Owner(s), at its expense, shall secure from any affected owners of land all easements and
releases of rights-of-way necessary for utilization of the stormwater practices identified in Exhibit
B and shall record them with the Town Clerk. These easements and releases of rights-of-way shall
Form MD-100
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not be altered, amended, vacated, released or abandoned without prior written approval of the
Town of Greenwich.
2. The Owner(s) shall be solely responsible for the installation, maintenance and repair of the
stormwater management practices, drainage easements and associated landscaping identified in
Exhibit B in accordance with the Operation and Maintenance Plan (Exhibit A).
3. No alterations or changes to the stormwater management practice(s) identified in Exhibit B shall
be permitted unless they are deemed to comply with this Declaration and are approved in writing
by the Town of Greenwich.
4. The Owner(s) shall retain the services of a qualified inspector (as described in Exhibit A) to
operate and ensure the maintenance of the stormwater management practice(s) identified in
Exhibit B in accordance with the Operation and Maintenance Plan (Exhibit A).

T

5. The Owners(s) must maintain all records (logs, invoices, reports, data, etc.) and have them readily
available for inspection at all times. Inspection Documentation must be maintained as frequently as
required in Exhibit A.

R

AF

6. The Town of Greenwich or its designee is authorized to access the property as necessary to
conduct inspections of the stormwater management practices or drainage easements to ascertain
compliance with the intent of this Declaration and the activities prescribed in Exhibit A. Upon
written notification by the Town of Greenwich or their designee of required maintenance or
repairs, the Owner(s) shall complete the specified maintenance or repairs within a reasonable time
frame determined by the Town of Greenwich. The Owner(s) shall be liable for the failure to
undertake any maintenance or repairs so that the public health, safety, general welfare or the
environment shall not be endangered.

D

7. If the Owner(s) does not keep the stormwater management practice(s) in reasonable order and
condition, or complete maintenance activities in accordance with the Operation and Maintenance
Plan contained in Exhibit A, or the required maintenance or repairs under 6 above within the
specified time frames, the Town of Greenwich is authorized, but not required, to perform the
specified inspections, maintenance or repairs in order to preserve the intended functions of the
practice(s) and prevent the practice(s) from becoming a threat to public health, safety, general
welfare or the environment. In the case of an emergency, as determined by the Town of
Greenwich, no notice shall be required prior to the Town of Greenwich performing emergency
maintenance or repairs. The Town of Greenwich may levy the costs and expenses of such
inspections, maintenance, repairs and appropriate fees against the Owner(s). The Town of
Greenwich at the time of entering upon said stormwater management practice for the purpose of
maintenance or repair may file a notice of lien upon the property affected by the lien. If said costs
and expenses are not paid by the Owner(s), the Town of Greenwich may pursue the collection of
same through appropriate court actions.
8. The Owner(s) hereby conveys to the Town of Greenwich an easement over, on and in the
Property for the purpose of access to the stormwater management practice(s) for the inspection,
maintenance and repair thereof, should the Owner(s) fail to properly inspect, maintain and repair
the practice(s). The Town of Greenwich’s execution of any repair or maintenance does not alter
the Owner(s) responsibility to maintain in future.
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9. The Owner(s) agrees that this Declaration shall be recorded and that the land described in a deed
recorded in Book ________ at Page ________ of the Greenwich Land Records shall be subject to
the covenants and obligations contained herein, and this Declaration shall bind all current and
future owners of the property.
10. The Owner(s) agrees in the event that the Property is sold, transferred, or leased to provide
information to the new owner, operator, or lessee regarding proper inspection, maintenance and
repair of the stormwater management practice(s). The information shall accompany the first deed
transfer and include Exhibits A and B and this Declaration. The transfer of this information shall
also be required with any subsequent sale, transfer or lease of the Property.
11. The Owner(s) agree that the rights, obligations and responsibilities hereunder shall commence
upon execution of the Declaration.
12. The parties whose signatures appear below hereby represent and warrant that they have the
authority and capacity to sign this declaration and bind the respective parties hereto.

D

R

AF

T

13. The Proprietor, its agents, representatives, successors and assigns shall defend, indemnify and hold
the Town of Greenwich harmless from and against any claims, demands, actions, damages,
injuries, costs or expenses of any nature whatsoever, hereinafter “Claims”, fixed or contingent,
known or unknown, arising out of or in any way connected with the design, construction, use,
maintenance, repair or operation (or omissions in such regard) of the storm drainage system
referred to in the permit as Exhibit “A” hereto, appurtenances, connections and attachments
thereto which are the subject of this Declaration. The Proprietor, its agents, representatives,
successors and assigns shall not be required to indemnify the Town, its officers, agents, servants,
or employees, against any such damages occasioned solely by acts or omissions of the Town, its
officers, agents, servants or employees, other than supervisory acts or omissions of the Town, its
officers, agents; servants, or employees, in connection with such Claims or the enforcement of
this Declaration.

Form MD-100

February 2014

137

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the “Owner(s)” have executed this Declaration on this ______day of
____________________, 20_____.

By:

By:

STATE OF CONNECTICUT
COUNTY OF FAIRFIELD

[Owner(s)]

[Owner(s)]

)
) ss: Greenwich
)

T

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this___________ day of

AF

_______________, 20 _____, by _____________________________________, the
[Owner(s)]

R

“Owner(s)” of _____________________________________________________.
[Address]

D

Notary Public
My Commission Expires On:

WHEN RECORDED RETURN COPY TO:
[All of the following departments involved in approval:
Building Division, Inland Wetlands & Watercourses Agency, and Planning & Zoning]
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Exhibit A
Operations and Maintenance Plan
1 Museum Drive
May 18, 2017

Scope:
The purpose of the Operations and Maintenance Plan is to ensure that the existing and proposed
stormwater components installed at 1 Museum Drive are maintained in operational condition
throughout the life of the project. The service procedures associated with this plan shall be performed
as required by the parties legally responsible for their maintenance.
Recommended Frequency of Service:
As further defined below, all stormwater components should be checked on a periodic basis and kept
in full working order. Ultimately, the required frequency of inspection and service will depend on
runoff quantities, pollutant loading, and clogging due to debris. At a minimum, we recommend that all
stormwater components be inspected and serviced twice per year, once before winter begins and
once during spring cleanup.
Qualified Inspector:
The inspections must be completed by an individual experienced in the construction and maintenance
of stormwater drainage systems. Once every five years the inspections must be completed by a
professional engineer.
Service Procedures:
1. Catch Basins & Drainage Inlets:
a. Catch basins and drainage inlets shall be completely cleaned of accumulated debris
and sediments at the completion of construction.
b. For the first year, catch basins and drainage inlets shall be inspected on a quarterly
basis.
c. Any accumulated debris within the catch basins/inlets shall be removed and any
repairs as required.
d. From the second year onward, visual inspections shall occur twice per year, once in
the spring and once in the fall, after fall cleanup of leaves has occurred.
e. Accumulated debris within the catch basins/inlets shall be removed and repairs made
as required.
f. Accumulated sediments shall be removed at which time they are within 12 inches of
the invert of the outlet pipe.
g. Any additional maintenance required per the manufacturer’s specifications shall also
be completed.
2. Storm Drainage Piping and Manholes/Junction Boxes:
a. All storm drainage piping shall be completely flushed of debris and accumulated
sediment at the completion of construction.
b. Manholes/Junction Boxes shall be inspected and repaired on an annual basis.
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c. Unless system performance indicates degradation of piping, comprehensive video
inspection of storm drainage piping shall occur once every ten years.
d. Any additional maintenance required per the manufacturer’s specifications shall also
be completed.
3. Stormwater Control Structures:
a. All control structures (orifice, weir, etc.) shall be completely cleaned of accumulated
debris and sediments at the completion of construction. Any repairs shall be
performed.
b. For the first year, control structures (orifice, weir, etc.) shall be inspected on a quarterly
basis.
c. Any accumulated debris shall be removed and any repairs made to the control
structures (orifice, weir, etc.) as required.
d. From the second year onward, visual inspections shall occur twice per year, once in
the spring and once in the fall, after fall cleanup of leaves has occurred.
e. Accumulated debris shall be removed and repairs made as required.
f. Any additional maintenance required per the manufacturer’s specifications shall also
be completed.
4. Hydrodynamic Separator:
a. Hydrodynamic Separator shall be completely cleaned of accumulated debris and
sediments at the completion of construction.
b. For the first year, the hydrodynamic separator shall be inspected on a quarterly basis.
c. Any accumulated debris within the hydrodynamic separator shall be removed and any
repairs made to the unit as required.
d. From the second year onward, visual inspection shall occur twice per year, once in the
spring and once in the fall, after fall cleanup of leaves has occurred.
e. Accumulated debris within the unit shall be removed and repairs made as required.
f. Accumulated sediments shall be removed at which time they are within 12 inches of
the invert of the outlet pipe.
g. All inlets, outlets and components of the unit shall be inspected and cleared of debris.
Any repairs shall be performed.
h. Any additional maintenance required per the manufacturer’s specifications shall also
be completed.
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5. Bioretention/Biofiltration Basins and Rain Gardens:
a. Bioretention/Biofiltration basins and rain gardens shall be cleaned of debris and
sediments upon the completion of construction. Any filter media (bioretention soil)
impacted by the construction activities shall be removed and replaced at this time.
b. The filter media (bioretention soil) shall be visually inspected on a monthly basis for the
first 6 months. Any erosion or displacement of the filter media (bioretention soil) shall
be promptly repaired and the cause of the problem shall be identified and corrected.
Monthly inspections shall continue until successful operation of the system is
confirmed.
c. Bioretention/Biofiltration areas and rain gardens with grass shall not be mowed more
than twice during the growing season, preferably only in late October. More frequent
mowing will eliminate native forbs and sedges from the meadow cover.
d. Bioretention/Biofiltration areas and rain gardens with mulch and plantings shall be
inspected during spring cleanup and one just prior to the winter season.
e. All dead plants and missing mulch shall be replaced and any necessary pruning of
vegetation shall be completed.
f. The surface of these structures shall be inspected on a quarterly basis after the first six
months of successful operation and after heavy runoff events (e.g. >3.0” in a 24-hour
period). One inspection shall occur immediately following the completion of winter
sanding and subsequent sweeping operations, and one shall occur just prior to the
winter season. Any accumulated debris and sediments shall be removed.
g. Check draining time of bioretention/biofiltration areas and rain gardens annually.
Check within 72 hours after a minimum one inch rain event. If there is no standing
water, infiltration is acceptable. If draining time is excessive, quantitatively determine
infiltration rate. Use a double ring infiltrometer or monitor drop in water level after a
significant storm. If infiltration rate <0.5 in. /hour, remedial action shall be taken.
h. A soil-core investigation may be used to identify the clogged portion of stormwater
facility and depth of clogging. Remedial measures may include removal of clogged soil
layer and replacement with suitable media, aeration, and mixing upper strata with lower
soil strata. After corrective measures have been implemented, infiltration rate and
draining time shall be retested.
6. Porous Pavement (Pervious Concrete, Porous Asphalt, Permeable Interlocking Concrete
Pavers, Flexi pave, Etc.):
a. Changing the porous pavement surface to an impervious surface requires the review
and approval of the Town of Greenwich DPW Engineering Division.
b. Clean and vacuum (Regenerative Air Vacuum for Permeable Interlocking Concrete
Pavers) the porous pavement upon the completion of construction.
c. Check for standing water on the surface of the pavement after a precipitation event. If
standing water remains within 30 minutes after rainfall had ended, cleaning of porous
pavement is recommended.
d. Vacuum sweeper shall be used regularly to remove sediment and organic debris on
the pavement surface. The sweeper may be fitted with water jets.
e. Pavement vacuuming should occur during spring cleanup following the last snow event
to remove accumulated debris, at a minimum.
f. Pavement vacuuming should occur during fall cleanup to remove dead leaves, at a
minimum.
g. Power washing can be an effective tool for cleaning clogged areas. See manufacturer’s
specifications.
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h. Check for debris accumulating on pavement, especially debris buildup in winter. For
loose debris, a power/leaf blower or gutter broom can be used to remove leaves and
trash.
i. In the event that the porous surface becomes clogged an engineer must be retained to
determine how to restore the porous surface to its original condition.
j. Any additional maintenance required per the manufacturer’s specifications shall also
be completed.
7. Roof Gutters:
a. Remove accumulated debris and inspect for damage. Any damage should be repaired
as required.
Disposal of Debris and Sediment:
All debris and sediment removed from the stormwater structures and bioretention/biofiltration basins
shall be disposed of legally. There shall be no dumping of silt or debris into or in proximity to any
inland or tidal wetlands.
Maintenance Records:
The Owners(s) must maintain all records (logs, invoices, reports, data, etc.) and have them readily
available for inspection at all times.
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Operations and Maintenance Log (Page 1 of 4)
1 Museum Drive
February 1, 2017
_________________________________________________________________________________
Type of Inspection:

 Spring

 Fall

 Other

Inspector’s Name:______________________________

Date of Inspection:___________________

Affiliation:_____________________________________ Phone #:___________________________

Catch Basins & Drainage Inlets:




Has accumulated debris been removed from grates?
Do any basins require additional repair? (identify below):
Have sumps been cleaned of sediment?

 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A

Notes:

Storm Drainage Piping and Manholes/Junction Boxes:





Has accumulated debris been removed?
Do any manholes require additional repair? (identify below):
Is there any evidence of stormwater piping failure?
Has a comprehensive video inspection been completed?

 Yes
 Yes
 Yes
 Yes

 No
 No
 No
 No






N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Notes:

Stormwater Control Structures:




Has accumulated debris been removed?
Are any repairs required? (identify below):
Have orifices and weirs been cleaned of debris?

 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A

Notes:
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Operations and Maintenance Log (Page 2 of 4)
1 Museum Drive
February 1, 2017
Hydrodynamic Separators:




Has accumulated debris been removed?
Does unit require additional repair? (identify below):
Has unit been cleaned of sediment?

 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A

Notes:

Bioretention/Biofiltration Basins/Rain Gardens:





Have basins been cleared of debris/sediments?
Have draining times of basins been verified?
Has vegetation been mowed (twice/year max.)?
Has plantings and mulch been replaced (twice/year)?

 Yes
 Yes
 Yes
 Yes

 No
 No
 No
 No






N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Notes:

Porous Pavement:



Has pavement been vacuumed?
Has draining times been verified?

 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A

Notes:
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Operations and Maintenance Log (Page 3 of 4)
1 Museum Drive
February 1, 2017

Roof Gutters:



Has accumulated debris been removed from gutters?
Do any gutters require additional repair? (identify below):

 Yes  No  N/A
 Yes  No  N/A

Notes:
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Operations and Maintenance Log (Page 4 of 4)
1 Museum Drive
February 1, 2017

__________________________________________________________ _____________________
Signature of Inspector:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Trustees
Bruce Museum, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Bruce Museum, Inc., which
comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related
statements of activities and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Bruce Museum, Inc. as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in
its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
PKF O’CONNOR DAVIES, LLP
3001 Summer Street, 5th Floor East, Stamford, CT 06905 I Tel: 203.323.2400 I Fax: 203.967.8733 I www.pkfod.com
PKF O’Connor Davies, LLP is a member firm of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent firms and does not accept any
responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms.
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Report on Supplementary Information
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as
a whole. The supplemental information on pages 18 through 21 are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Stamford, Connecticut
November 3, 2016
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Statements of Financial Position
June 30,
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, unrestricted
Pledges receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets held in endowment
Property and equipment, net
Other assets - museum expansion costs

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Refundable contributions
Deferred revenue
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Unrestricted
Operating
Board designated for capital account
Board designated endowment
Investment in property and equipment
Total Unrestricted

2016

2015

$ 2,132,455
1,607,579
3,156,726
66,589
99,133
21,886,468
1,519,636
2,398,623

$ 1,563,462
595,075
2,932,001
66,776
133,790
23,074,738
1,733,403
836,049

$ 32,867,209

$ 30,935,294

$

$

466,694
867,963
207,500
1,542,157

505,027
175,500
680,527

108,758
27,919
1,411,512
1,519,636
3,067,825

215,097
27,919
1,537,904
1,733,403
3,514,323

Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted

9,385,734
18,871,493

8,770,891
17,969,553

Total Net Assets

31,325,052

30,254,767

$ 32,867,209

$ 30,935,294

See notes to financial statements
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PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions
Town of Greenwich appropriations
Endowment spending appropriation
Admissions
Membership dues
Museum store revenue
Special events revenue
Annual events
Biannual and other events
Rental and other revenue
Donor redesignation
Net assets released from restrictions
Total Public Support and Revenue
EXPENSES
Program
Development
Administrative and general
Museum store
Special events costs
Annual events
Biannual and other events
Total Expenses
Excess (Deficiency) of Support and Revenue
Over Expenses from Operations
OTHER INCOME
Investment return, net of endowment
spending appropriation
Change in Net Assets
NET ASSETS
Beginning of year
End of year

See notes to financial statements

Bruce Museum, Inc.

(336,690)

396,211
10,769
5,768,300

3,638,231
996,172
303,899
423,018

857,902
17,455
113,685
516,919
5,431,610

$ 1,086,351
822,000
1,056,708
198,061
461,091
301,438

Unrestricted

(1,476,818)

2,091,661

-

-

(516,919)
2,091,661

$ 2,608,580
-

901,940

-

901,940

-

-

901,940

901,940
-

Year Ended June 30, 2016
Temporarily
Permanently
Restricted
Restricted

30,254,767

1,070,285

(1,586,626)

2,656,911

396,211
10,769
5,768,300

3,638,231
996,172
303,899
423,018

857,902
17,455
113,685
8,425,211

$ 4,596,871
822,000
1,056,708
198,061
461,091
301,438

Total

$ 3,514,323

3,716,598

(202,275)

(51,678)

(150,597)

288,008
72,267
5,579,849

3,486,136
1,015,983
308,844
408,611

774,764
192,023
113,467
213,638
5,429,252

$ 1,465,452
806,000
948,310
196,544
462,059
256,995

Unrestricted

$ 8,770,891

5,873,045

2,897,846

(717,367)

3,615,213

-

-

50,000
(70,000)
(213,638)
3,615,213

$ 3,848,851
-

$ 17,969,553

17,772,185

197,368

-

197,368

-

-

70,000
197,368

127,368
-

Year Ended June 30, 2015
Temporarily
Permanently
Restricted
Restricted

$ 30,254,767

27,361,828

2,892,939

(769,045)

3,661,984

288,008
72,267
5,579,849

3,486,136
1,015,983
308,844
408,611

824,764
192,023
113,467
9,241,833

$ 5,441,671
806,000
948,310
196,544
462,059
256,995

Statements of Activities

(109,808)

614,843

17,969,553

$ 31,325,052

Total

(446,498)

8,770,891

$ 18,871,493

$

3,514,323

$ 9,385,734

$

$ 3,067,825

4
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30,
2016
2015
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash from operating activities
Depreciation
Net realized gains and unrealized losses on investments
Cash contributions for capital expenditures
Cash collected on pledged contributions for capital expenditures
Pledged contributions for capital expenditures
Interest earned on certificate of deposit
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Pledges receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Refundable contributions
Deferred revenue
Net Cash from Operating Activities

$ 1,070,285

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property and equipment
Acquistion of other assets - museum expansion costs
Investment in certificate of deposit
Redemption of certificate of deposit
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments
Net Cash from Investing Activities
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash collected from contributions for capital expenditures

$ 2,892,939

230,029
1,672,474
(1,163,414)
(1,523,793)
(1,297,250)
(841)

231,331
1,247,156
(755,419)
(2,782,867)
-

1,072,525
187
34,657
(180,193)
867,963
32,000
814,629

(11,104)
9,474
(67,539)
(24,719)
(163,200)
576,052

(16,262)
(1,420,714)
(1,000,000)
8,472,549
(8,968,416)
(2,932,843)

(775,954)
259,997
3,157,617
(3,909,879)
(1,268,219)

2,687,207

755,419

568,993

63,252

1,563,462

1,500,210

End of year

$ 2,132,455

$ 1,563,462

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
Other assets financed included with accounts payable
and accrued expenses

$

$

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of year

201,955

60,095

See notes to financial statements
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
1. The Organization
Bruce Museum, Inc. (“BMI”) operates a museum of arts and science located in Greenwich,
Connecticut.
On January 31, 1992, BMI entered into a management agreement (the “Agreement”) with the
Town of Greenwich, Connecticut (the “Town”), whereby the Town appointed BMI,
exclusively, to supervise, manage and operate the Bruce Museum (the “Museum”) and
administer its affairs subject to certain provisions set forth in the Agreement. The Agreement
was originally scheduled to expire in January 2017. On June 14, 2016, the Greenwich
Representative Town Meeting (“RTM”) voted to extend the Agreement through January
2042, subject to BMI’s continuing compliance with the contract terms. In addition to the
responsibilities assumed by BMI, the Agreement also covers the ownership and use of
Museum real property, the ownership of collection objects, the status of Museum employees
and certain commitments of the Town to the Museum (see Note 8).
BMI is exempt from federal income taxes under Sections 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code.
BMI is currently conducting a capital campaign to raise funds to expand the Museum’s
facilities and to increase the size of the endowment fund.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), which requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Accordingly actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
BMI considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less, at the time
of purchase, to be cash equivalents.
Contributions
Contributions are recorded in the statement of activities when an unconditional promise is
received. Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as an increase in
temporarily or permanently restricted net assets depending on the nature of the restrictions.
When a restriction expires or is satisfied, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to
unrestricted net assets.
Contributions of assets other than cash are recorded at fair value at the date of donation.
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contributions (continued)
An allowance for uncollectible pledges is provided based on management’s evaluation of
potential uncollectible contributions receivable at year end. The Museum has considered a
number of factors in evaluating this reserve including the economy, the current status of the
capital campaign and pledge payment history.
Collections
Contributions and purchases of art and natural science treasures and other similar assets
are not capitalized in the accompanying financial statements.
Inventory
Inventory consists of items held for sale in the Museum’s store. Inventory is stated at the
lower of actual cost (first-in first-out basis) or market (net realizable value).
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Museum follows U.S. GAAP guidance on Fair Value Measurements which define fair
value and establishes a fair value hierarchy organized into three levels based upon the input
assumptions used in pricing assets. Level 1 inputs have the highest reliability and are
related to assets with unadjusted quoted prices in active markets. Level 2 inputs relate to
assets with other than quoted prices in active markets which may include quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities or other inputs which can be corroborated by observable market
data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs and are used to the extent that observable
inputs do not exist.
During the year ended June 30, 2016, BMI adopted new U.S. GAAP guidance which
removed the requirements to categorize within the fair value hierarchy alternative
investments where fair value is measured using the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per share as a
practical expedient. Adoption of this guidance was applied retrospectively and had no effect
on the carrying value of such investments.
The value by input level of BMI’s investments is included in Note 3 to the financial
statements.
Investments Valuation
Investments are carried at fair value.
Certificates of Deposit
Certificates of deposit are carried at cost plus accrued interest.
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, Equipment and Depreciation
Property and equipment represent expenditures made by BMI from private funds for the
expansion, renovation and improvement of land and buildings made available by the Town.
Title to the property and physical building is held by the Town; however, under the
Agreement BMI has the exclusive right to the use of the facility (see Note 1).
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, or if received by donation, at estimated fair
value at the time of the donation. It is BMI’s policy to capitalize expenditures for these items
with a cost in excess of $5,000. Lesser amounts are expensed. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of the assets which range from 3 to
30 years.
Investment Income Recognition
Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is
recorded on the accrual basis and dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date.
Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in the determination of the change
in net assets.
Advertising
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense totaled $104,781 and
$154,610 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
BMI recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than
not to be sustained. Management has determined that BMI had no uncertain tax positions
that would require financial statement recognition or disclosure. For information returns, BMI
is no longer subject to examinations by the applicable taxing jurisdictions for periods prior to
years ending June 30, 2013.
Subsequent Events Evaluation by Management
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure and/or recognition in the
financial statements through the date that the financial statements were available to be
issued, which date is November 3, 2016.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the June 30, 2015 financial statement
presentation to correspond to the current year’s format. The reclassifications had no effect
on net assets or changes in net assets as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015.
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
3. Investments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following tables present the composition of investments and cash equivalents and the
fair value hierarchy of those investments that are measured at fair value as of June 30:

Description
Investments, unrestricted
Mutual fund - fixed income

2016
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)
$

606,738

$

Certificate of deposit

Total
606,738

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)
$

595,075

Total
$

595,075
-

1,000,841

Total Investments, Unrestricted
Investments, endowment
Money market funds
Mutual funds
Domestic equity
International equity
Fixed income
Hedge funds
Real estate
Commodities

2015

$

897,057

$

1,607,579

$

897,057

$

740,928

$

595,075

$

740,928

10,149,584
2,408,906
3,161,502
1,543,291
831,039
633,612

10,149,584
2,408,906
3,161,502
1,543,291
831,039
633,612

11,178,065
765,285
7,825,884
-

11,178,065
765,285
7,825,884
-

$ 19,624,991

19,624,991

$ 20,510,162

20,510,162

Total Investments, Endowment
at Fair Value
Cash

643,863

352,818

Investments measured at net asset
value
Private equity investments (1)
Hedge funds (1)
Total Assets Held in Endowment

(1)

852,454

918,725

765,160

1,293,033

$ 21,886,468

$ 23,074,738

As discussed in Note 2, investments that are measured using the practical expedient
are not classified within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in
the total column of this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value
hierarchy to the amounts presented in the balance sheets.

Level 1 cash equivalents reported in cash and cash equivalents on the statement of
financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015 were $451,563 and $412,631.
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
3. Investments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)
The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for assets measured
at NAV during the period ended June 30:

Beginning balance
Unrealized gains on investments held
at year end
Realized gain on redemptions
Purchases
Redemptions
Ending Balance

2016
Private Equity
Investments
$
918,725
$
67,978
8,250
(142,499)
$

852,454

Hedge
Funds
1,293,033

2015
Private Equity
Investments
$ 1,039,797
$

1,699
30,261
(559,833)
$

765,160

48,623
49,503
(219,198)
$

918,725

Hedge
Funds
1,187,109
108,419
(2,495)

$

1,293,033

Information regarding investments measured at NAV using the practical expedient at June
30, 2016 is as follows:

Fair
Value
Private equity investments (see "a"
below)
Equity market neutral hedge fund (see
“b” below)
Multi-strategy hedge fund (see “c”
below)
Managed futures hedge fund (see "d"
below)

$

$

852,454

Unfunded
Commitments
$

120,991

Redemption
Frequency
(If Currently
Eligible)

Redemption
Notice
Period

N/A

N/A

110,921

-

Quarterly

15-30 days

536,198

-

Quarterly

30 days

118,041

-

Monthly

15 days

1,617,614

$

120,991

(a)

This category includes several private equity funds that invest in private investment
companies and managed advisory accounts. These investments can never be
redeemed with the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in this category is
that distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the
funds. There is no estimate as to when the underlying investments will be liquidated
by the funds.

(b)

This category includes a hedge fund that pursues equity market neutral strategies.
The hedge funds’ composite portfolio for this category includes investments in
approximately 83% United States equity securities and 17% foreign equity securities.

10
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Bruce Museum, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2016 and 2015
3. Investments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)
(c)

This category includes a hedge fund that pursues multiple strategies to diversify risks
and reduce volatility. The hedge fund’s composite portfolio consists of approximately
12% in private investment companies that invest in distressed assets, 48% in private
investment companies that pursue an equity hedge strategy, 30% in private
investment companies that pursue a global macro strategy, and 10% in private
investment companies that pursue other investment strategies. The hedge fund’s
investments are subject to various redemption restrictions. 5% of the hedge fund’s
investments are subject to gate provisions, 8% of the hedge fund’s investments are
subject to lock-up provisions through December 2018, and 1% of the hedge fund’s
investments have indeterminate redemption periods due to side pocket provisions.
The remaining redemption period for the investments held by the hedge fund ranged
from monthly to annually at June 30, 2016.

(d)

This category includes a hedge fund that pursues a strategy of managed futures. It
has leveraged fully-diversified futures portfolio with positions in currency, global
interest rates, equities, energy, precious and industrial metals and agricultural future
markets.

Components of investment return for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

2016
$ 1,142,556
302,251
(1,974,725)
$ (529,918)

Dividends and interest
Net realized gain on investments
Net unrealized loss on investments
Total Investment Return

2015
$ 1,426,421
203,405
(1,450,561)
$
179,265

Investment return in excess or less than the spending policy amount is reflected in the
statement of activities as non-operating revenue or loss for the years ending June 30 as
follows:

2016
$ 1,056,708

Endowment spending appropriation
Investment return, net of endowment
spending appropriation
Total Investment Return

(1,586,626)
$ (529,918)

$

2015
948,310

$

(769,045)
179,265

4. Pledges Receivable
Pledges receivable as of June 30 are as follows:

Pledges receivable due in less than one year
Pledges receivable due in one to five years
Less discount on pledges
Pledges Receivable, net
11

2016
$ 1,323,152
1,942,767
3,265,919
(109,193)
$ 3,156,726

2015
$ 1,707,401
1,305,000
3,012,401
(80,400)
$ 2,932,001
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June 30, 2016 and 2015
4. Pledges Receivable (continued)
The aforementioned pledges have been included in the following net asset categories at
June 30:

2016
$
113,402
2,556,324
487,000
$ 3,156,726

Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted
Permanently restricted

2015
$
149,134
2,782,867
$ 2,932,001

Unrestricted pledges receivable represent promises to give to fund current operations of BMI
for which payment was due as of June 30, 2016 and 2015.
Restricted pledges outstanding are receivable as follows for the years ending June 30:

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Less discount on pledges

$ 1,130,518
1,319,500
597,499
55,000
50,000
3,152,517
(109,193)
$ 3,043,324

For the several years, BMI received indications of support for the endowment fund and for
the expansion of its facility. These indications of support do not meet the criteria to be
recognized as either an asset or revenue on the accompanying financial statements. In
addition to the pledges receivable recorded above, As of June 30, 2016, there were
outstanding indications of support of approximately $3,300,000 and $11,900,000 for its
endowment and expansion of its facility, respectively, that have not been recognized on the
financial statements because they do not meet the criteria to be recognized as either an
asset or revenue on the financial statements.
5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment at June 30 consists of the following:

Building improvements
Furniture and equipment
Vehicles
Accumulated depreciation

12

2016
$ 7,086,595
436,122
59,386
7,582,103
(6,062,467)

2015
$ 7,086,595
419,860
59,386
7,565,841
(5,832,438)

$ 1,519,636

$ 1,733,403
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6. Other Assets – Museum Expansion Costs
Other assets represents pre-construction costs related to designing, developing and
preparing for construction of a new extension and renovations to the existing building and
grounds that house the Museum and BMI. BMI will begin to depreciate the property over its
estimated useful life when the improvements are placed into service.
7.

Refundable Contributions
The Museum received cash for contributions which are conditional upon construction
beginning on the expansion of the building. Accordingly, the contributions will not be
recognized as revenue until the conditions for recognition have occurred.

8. Transactions with the Town of Greenwich
The Agreement between BMI and the Town (see Note 1) provides that the Town will:
!

Give an annual budget appropriation to BMI to assist it in meeting its operating
requirements,

!

Maintain insurance coverage on Museum premises and collection objects, including
items on temporary loan, and

!

Provide maintenance and repairs, as defined in the Agreement.

During the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, budget appropriations made by the Town
on behalf of and paid to BMI amounted to $822,000 and $806,000, representing 9% and
15% of BMI’s total public support and revenue.
The extension to the Agreement approved by RTM in 2016, includes a grant to BMI for
$750,000 to renovate the Museum’s permanent science gallery. The estimated project cost
is $810,000. Cost above the grant will be BMI’s responsibility.
9. Employee Benefits
BMI sponsors a 401(k) plan. This plan is for the benefit of substantially all full-time
professional and support staff of BMI. For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, BMI’s
contribution to the 401(k) plan was $111,778 and $112,055.
10. Contributed Services
Numerous unpaid volunteers have contributed their time to develop the Museum’s
programs, principally in development, curatorial and educational programs. The value of
contributions which do not involve specialized skills is not reflected in these financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and is not
susceptible to objective measurement of valuation. Contributions revenue and expenses for
2016 and 2015 include $100,178 and $78,039 for volunteer time which required specialized
skills, primarily the conducting of educational tours and seminars in the Museum. Of the
contributed services recognized on the statements of activities, $17,309 and $15,270 was
included in Museum store expenses for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.
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10. Contributed Services (continued)
As described in Note 1, BMI manages and operates the Museum in a facility that is owned
by the Town of Greenwich. The use of the facility by BMI is provided by the town free of
charge. In exchange for the use of the facility and in lieu of paying rent, BMI agreed in 1992
to incur the cost to improve, expand, and operate the facility pursuant to the Agreement.
Additionally, BMI has agreed to oversee the renovation of the permanent science exhibit and
to incur the costs of the renovation in excess of a $750,000 grant awarded by the State of
Connecticut to the Town which will be passed through to BMI. At the end of the Agreement
between BMI and the Town, all improvements to the facility become the Town’s property.
Since the cost of the improvements, expansion, and operations exceed the fair rental value
of the property over the extended term of the Agreement, BMI has not recorded any
contribution income in connection with the use of the facility.
11. Temporarily and Permanently Restricted Net Assets
Temporarily restricted net assets are restricted for the following purposes at June 30:

2016
529,554
292,226
2,008,072
6,555,882
$ 9,385,734

Programs
Collection acquisitions
Shelter Our Strays
Unappropriated endowment returns
Capital campaign

$

2015
556,772
329,226
55,897
3,484,890
4,344,106
$ 8,770,891

$

Net assets released from temporary restrictions during the years ended June 30 by incurring
expenses that satisfy the restricted purposes or by the occurrence of other events specified
by donors were as follows:

2016
Programs
Collection acquisitions
Shelter Our Strays
Capital campaign

$

$

167,940
43,000
57,097
248,882
516,919

2015
$

$

106,954
19,479
87,205
213,638

Permanently restricted net assets are restricted to investment in perpetuity, with investment
return to primarily support educational programs, exhibitions, art acquisitions and key
staffing, as well as general programming. Permanently restricted net assets as of June 30
are comprised of the following:

2016
$ 18,384,493
487,000
$ 18,871,493

Endowment fund
Pledges receivable

14

2015
$ 17,969,553
$ 17,969,553
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12. Endowment Fund
BMI maintains various donor-restricted and board-designated funds whose purpose is to
provide long term support for its charitable programs. In classifying such funds for financial
statement purposes as either permanently restricted, temporarily restricted or unrestricted
net assets, the Board looks to the explicit directions of the donor where applicable and the
provisions of the laws of the State of Connecticut. Absent donor stipulations to the contrary,
Connecticut State law suggests a permanent restriction on the portion of the total return of
the endowment required to maintain its purchasing power over time. Connecticut State law
suggests a temporary (time) restriction on the balance of the total return over such amount
until appropriated by the Board for expenditure. For the years ended June 30, 2016 and
2015, the Board utilized a spending rate of five percent (5.0%) of its endowment to be
calculated based upon the average value of such endowment on each of the twelve
previous calendar quarters ending on March 31.
The following is a reconciliation of the activity in the endowment funds for the year ended
June 30, 2016:
Board
Designated
Endowment

Unrestricted
Balance, July 1, 2015
Cash contributions received and
pledge collections
Dividends and interest
Realized gain
Unrealized loss
Appropriation for expenditure

$

Balance, June 30, 2016

$

82,391

$ 1,537,904

82,391

Temporarily
Restricted
$

89,098
23,828
(156,011)
(83,307)
$ 1,411,512

3,484,890
1,041,056
278,423
(1,822,896)
(973,401)

$

2,008,072

Permanently
Restricted

Total

$ 17,969,553

$ 23,074,738

414,940
$ 18,384,493

414,940
1,130,154
302,251
(1,978,907)
(1,056,708)
$ 21,886,468

The following is a reconciliation of the activity in the endowment funds for the year ended
June 30, 2015:
Board
Designated
Endowment

Unrestricted
Balance, July 1, 2014
Cash contributions received and
pledge collections
Board designated for endowment
transfer
Transfer from endowment fund
Donor redesignation
Dividends and interest
Realized gain
Unrealized gain
Appropriation for expenditure

$

Balance, June 30, 2015

$

207,196

$ 1,494,907

-

-

(124,805)
82,391

Temporarily
Restricted
$

103,683
110,662
15,865
(113,248)
(73,965)
$ 1,537,904

15

Permanently
Restricted

Total

4,202,257

$ 17,671,290

$ 23,575,650

-

228,263

228,263

1,308,137
187,540
(1,338,699)
(874,345)
$

3,484,890

70,000
$ 17,969,553

103,683
(124,805)
70,000
1,418,799
203,405
(1,451,947)
(948,310)
$ 23,074,738
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12. Endowment Fund (continued)
BMI maintains an endowment fund comprised of both unrestricted, temporarily and
permanently restricted amounts.
The investment objectives for BMI are 1) to provide BMI with a dependable source of
income to be applied towards the spending policy; 2) to increase the size of the endowment
fund by achieving positive returns on a net basis after expenses and withdrawals; and 3) to
maintain required amounts in the endowment funds pursuant to the Board’s interpretation of
Connecticut state law. BMI seeks to achieve these objectives through the use of broad
diversification in order to control the risks of loss and volatility and through the use of an
asset allocation policy appropriate to the needs of BMI, designed to maximize risk-adjusted
long-term returns. This diversification means that in addition to the traditional investment
classes of equity and fixed-income securities, the fund’s assets may be allocated to nontraditional investment classes including foreign securities, real estate, commodities, private
equity, derivatives and “alternative investments” such as hedge funds. These non-traditional
investment classes may have higher risk characteristics than traditional investment classes.
13. Collections
The Museum’s collections comprise artwork consisting of fine examples of 19th and 20th
century American and European painting, sculpture, and graphics, as well as world-class
minerals and exceptional wildlife specimens depicted in their native environments. The
Museum’s collections of pre-Columbian, Native American, and Asian art enable the Museum
to mount exhibits of rich cultural diversity.
In addition to the permanent display of natural history objects, the Museum rotates art
objects onto display from the permanent collection, often featuring them in temporary
exhibitions. When off view the objects are kept in a secure, climate controlled storage. The
Museum maintains policies and procedures addressing the collection’s maintenance and
upkeep, as well as aspects of its management, including accessioning and de-accessioning.
These procedures are in accordance with guidelines from the American Association of
Museums, which reaccredited the Bruce Museum in December 2007. The permanent
collections are insured by the Town for $50 million; additional insurance is purchased to
cover the value of works loaned to the Museum for temporary exhibitions.
Various collection items were donated to the Museum, which is owned by the Town, during
the year ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. Title to all objects in the collections of the
Museum, and all additions thereto, is vested exclusively in the Town and is held in public
trust. Accordingly, BMI did not recognized income from the donations of objects to the
Museum’s collection on the statement of changes in net assets.
BMI purchased $117,200 and $0 collection items during the years ended June 30, 2016 and
2015. There were no items de-accessed during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.
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14. Concentration of Credit Risk and Related Party Transactions
Cash and Investments Held at Financial Institutions
BMI maintains cash and investment balances at multiple financial institutions. Accounts at
each banking institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC
insured) up to $250,000 and accounts at each brokerage institution are insured by the
Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC insured) up to $500,000 ($250,000 for
cash). As of June 30, 2016, cash held in banks in excess of the Federally insured limits was
approximately $2,040,000. As of June 30, 2016, investments held in financial institutions in
excess of the Federally insured limited was approximately $19,200,000. The Organization
believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash and investment balances.
Contributions
For the year ended June 30, 2016, one donor represented 18% of Contributions. For the
year ended June 30, 2015, two donors represented 36% of Contributions. Three donors
represent 49% and 78% of pledge receivables as of June 30, 2016 and 2015.
For the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, BMI received contributions, membership
dues, and special events revenues from trustees totaling approximately $767,000 and
$3,219,000 representing 13% and 47% of total contributions, membership dues, and special
event revenues. As of June 30, 2016 and 2015, 56% and 57% of pledges receivable were
due from trustees.
Alternative Investments
Alternative Investments consist of non-traditional, not readily marketable investments, some
of which may be structured as offshore limited partnerships, venture capital funds, hedge
funds, private equity funds and common trust funds. The underlying investments of such
funds, whether invested in stock or other securities, are generally not currently traded in a
public market and typically are subject to restrictions on resale. Values determined by
investment managers and general partners of underlying securities that are thinly traded or
not traded in an active market may be based on historical cost, appraisals, a review of the
investees’ financial results, financial condition and prospects, together with comparisons to
similar companies for which quoted market prices are available or other estimates that
require varying degrees of judgments.
Investments
Investments are carried at fair value. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuations, the
estimated fair values may differ significantly from the value that would have been used had a
ready market for such investments existed or had such investments been liquidated, and
those differences could be material.
*****
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ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, unrestricted
Pledges receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Interfund receivables
Assets held in endowment
Property and equipment, net
Other assets - museum expansion costs

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Refundable contributions
Deferred revenue
Interfund payables
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Unrestricted
Operating
Board designated for capital account
Board designated endowment
Investment in property and equipment
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets

See Independent Auditors' Report

Bruce Museum, Inc.

1,519,636
$ 1,058,330

-

451,563
606,738
29

Temporarily
Restricted
Fund

$ 7,432,332

$ 442,692
1,000,841
2,556,324
1,033,852
2,398,623

Capital
Campaign
Fund

$ 22,373,468

$
487,000
643,863
21,242,605
-

Endowment
Fund

-

-

$
(1,834,265)
(1,834,265)

$ (1,834,265)

$ (643,863)
(1,834,265)
643,863
-

Eliminations

$

9,385,734
18,871,493

108,758
27,919
1,411,512
1,519,636
3,067,825

466,694
867,963
207,500
1,542,157

$ 32,867,209

$ 2,132,455
1,607,579
3,156,726
66,589
99,133
21,886,468
1,519,636
2,398,623

Total

Statements of Financial Position - Supplemental Schedule
June 30, 2016

$

1,519,636

867,963
867,963

82,391
1,411,512
1,493,903

-

31,325,052

Property and
Equipment
Fund

$

80,000
156,550
236,550

8,487
8,487

2,008,072
18,871,493

-

Operating
Fund

$ 2,317,708

$

-

-

6,555,882
-

22,373,468

$ 32,867,209

$

$

$ 466,694
127,500
1,677,715
2,271,909

1,519,636
1,519,636

821,780
-

6,564,369

$ (1,834,265)

$ 1,882,063
113,402
66,589
99,104
156,550
-

17,880
27,919
45,799

-

821,780

$ 22,373,468

$

-

1,519,636

$ 7,432,332

$

45,799

$ 1,058,330

$

1,519,636

$ 2,317,708
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ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, unrestricted
Pledges receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Interfund receivables
Assets held in endowment
Property and equipment, net
Other assets - museum expansion costs

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Interfund payables
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Unrestricted
Operating
Board designated for capital account
Board designated endowment
Investment in property and equipment
Total Unrestricted
Temporarily Restricted
Permanently Restricted
Total Net Assets

See Independent Auditors' Report
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Property and
Equipment
Fund

Endowment
Fund

Total

Capital
Campaign
Fund

$ 1,563,462
595,075
2,932,001
66,776
133,790
23,074,738
1,733,403
836,049

Eliminations

Temporarily
Restricted
Fund

$

(352,818)
(642,956)
352,818
-

$ 30,935,294

Statements of Financial Position - Supplemental Schedule
June 30, 2015

Operating
Fund

$
352,818
22,721,920
-

(642,956)

$

$ 442,515
2,782,867
290,138
836,049

$

$

$

412,631
595,075
-

$ 23,074,738

$

1,733,403
-

$ 1,061,134
149,134
66,776
133,790
-

$ 4,351,569

$

$ 1,007,706

$

505,027
175,500
680,527

1,733,403

$

(642,956)
(642,956)

$

-

215,097
27,919
1,537,904
1,733,403
3,514,323

$ 1,410,834

-

-

$

-

82,391
1,537,904
1,620,295

-

7,463
7,463

$ 505,027
175,500
642,956
1,323,483

65,811
65,811

1,733,403
1,733,403

8,770,891
17,969,553

59,432
27,919
87,351

-

941,895
-

3,484,890
17,969,553

-

4,344,106
-

-

4,351,569

30,254,767

1,007,706

-

1,733,403

$

23,074,738

87,351

$ 23,074,738

$ 30,935,294

$ 4,351,569

(642,956)

$ 1,007,706

$

1,733,403

$ 1,410,834
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Endowment
Fund

Total

4,596,871
822,000
1,056,708
198,061
461,091
301,438

Capital
Campaign
Fund

901,940
-

857,902
17,455
113,685
8,425,211

Temporarily
Restricted
Fund

2,460,664
-

901,940

3,638,231
996,172
303,899
423,018
396,211
10,769
5,768,300

Property and
Equipment
Fund
148,394
640
-

2,460,664

-

2,656,911

Operating
Fund
-

149,034

176,779
72,103
248,882

901,940

(1,586,626)
-

$

$ 1,085,873
822,000
1,056,708
197,421
461,091
301,438
-

358,518
358,518

2,211,782

(1,603,210)
-

1,070,285

OTHER CHANGES AND TRANSFERS
Investment return, net of endowment
spending appropriation
Transfer

6,564,369

$ 22,373,468

$ 31,325,052

$

857,902
17,455
113,685
4,913,573

150,631
48,852
10,642
19,904
230,029

(209,484)

1,018
-

(701,270)

$

2,952,303
875,217
293,257
403,114
396,211
10,769
4,930,871

(230,029)

11,706
11,852

2,212,800

$

PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions
Town of Greenwich appropriations
Endowment spending appropriation
Admissions
Membership dues
Museum store revenue
Special events revenue
Annual events
Biannual and other events
Rental and other revenue
Total Public Support and Revenue

(17,298)

16,262

(185,926)

Change in Net Assets

$

EXPENSES
Program
Development
Administrative and general
Museum store
Special events costs, annual events
Special events costs, other events
Total Expenses

3,860
(28,114)

(213,767)

Excess of Support and Revenue Over
Expenses from Operations

(41,552)

30,254,767
$

23,074,738
$

821,780

4,351,569
$

1,519,636

1,007,706
45,799

1,733,403
$

87,351

NET ASSETS
Beginning of year
End of year

See Independent Auditors’ Report
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Endowment
Fund

Total

$ 5,441,671
806,000
948,310
196,544
462,059
256,995

Capital
Campaign
Fund

127,368
-

824,764
192,023
113,467
9,241,833

Temporarily
Restricted
Fund

3,538,286
-

127,368

3,486,136
1,015,983
308,844
408,611
288,008
72,267
5,579,849

Property and
Equipment
Fund
310,931
230
-

3,538,286

-

3,661,984

Operating
Fund
-

50,000
361,161

87,205
87,205

127,368

(769,045)
-

OTHER CHANGES AND TRANSFERS
Investment return, net of endowment
spending appropriation
Transfers

4,351,569

$ 23,074,738

$ 30,254,767

$

1,465,086
806,000
948,310
196,314
462,059
256,995
-

152,506
152,506

3,451,081

(778,053)
48,878

2,892,939

$

774,764
192,023
113,467
5,215,018

151,483
49,129
10,702
20,017
231,331

208,655

749
-

(601,807)

$

3,182,147
879,649
298,142
388,594
288,008
72,267
5,108,807

(231,331)

6,036
106,944

3,451,830

Change in Net Assets

$

PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions
Town of Greenwich appropriations
Endowment spending appropriation
Admissions
Membership dues
Museum store revenue
Special events revenue
Annual events
Biannual and other events
Rental and other revenue
Total Public Support and Revenue

106,211

-

321,635

$

EXPENSES
Program
Development
Administrative and general
Museum store
Special events costs, annual events
Special events costs, other events
Total Expenses

2,223
(155,822)

(231,331)

Excess (Deficiency) of Support and Revenue
Over Expenses from Operations

(47,388)

27,361,828
$

23,676,545
$

1,007,706

899,739
$

1,733,403

686,071
87,351

1,964,734
$

134,739

NET ASSETS
Beginning of year
End of year
See Independent Auditors’ Report
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT
TOWN OF GREENWICH

A regular Representative Town Meeting of the Town of Greenwich will be held in the auditorium of
Central Middle School on Monday October 23, 2017 at 8:00 P. M. for the following purposes:
1. To consider and act upon the following resolution, which was postponed from the
September 18, 2017 meeting.
RESOLVED, that the following named person, nominated by the Board of Selectmen, be
reappointed a member of the Historic District Commission, for a term expiring March 31, 2022.
MARIE WILLIAMS
Referred to Appointments Committee
Referred to Land Use Committee

2.

To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Appointments Committee.

BE IT RESOLVED, that the Committee on Aging will change its name to the Commission on Aging
effective immediately, and …
The resolution establishing the Committee on Aging, which was adopted by action of the Representative
Town Meeting on February 10th 1975, as per Item 8 found in Book 13 on pages 277-278 of the Archives of the
Minutes of the Representative Town Meeting, shall be amended by replacing the second paragraph of the
resolution with the following:
a.

Composition
1. The Commission on Aging shall consist of seven (7) members.

b.

Eligibility
Members shall be electors of the Town of Greenwich.

c.

Appointment Process
1. Members shall be nominated by the Board of Selectmen and appointed by the Representative
Town Meeting.
2. Vacancies in the membership of the Commission shall be filled for the unexpired portion of a
term in the same manner as regular appointments.

REPRESENTATIVE TOWN MEETING
TOWN OF GREENWICH

OCTOBER 2017 Call
Page 1 of 16

d.

Establishment of Unique Designations
1. Each of the seven (7) appointed positions on this Commission is assigned a unique designation to
facilitate auditing of the appointment process over the course of time. Each designation contains a
letter followed by a number. The letter identifies the category of membership; “R” indicating a
regular member. Should the commission be assigned alternate members in the future, the letter “A”
shall indicate an alternate member. The number following the letter uniquely identifies each position
within the respective category.
2. The initial association of position designations to names of appointed members shall
be established by resolution adopted by the appointing authority, the Representative Town Meeting.

e.

Length and types of terms
1. Terms for appointed members shall be for a period of three (3) years.
2. In the subsections below, “Current Term” refers to a term to which someone has been both
appointed before January 1, 2018 and which appointment expires after January 1, 2018.
3. When appointing a new member to this Commission, the new member will receive the position
designation previously assigned the person she or he is succeeding and such designation will be
indicated on all notices of nomination and appointment including, but not limited to, the agenda and
the minutes of the Representative Town Meeting, the committees of the Representative Town
Meeting and, where appropriate, the agenda and minutes of the Board of Selectmen.
4. Effective January 1, 2018, Current Terms shall expire on June 30 and commence on July 1
according to the designations in subsection (f.1).
5. Each regular member and alternate member appointed heretofore and serving on January 1,
2018 shall continue to serve such term to which such member was appointed. Such term shall be
extended to expire on June 30 following the date on which their current appointment was scheduled
to expire.
6. Appointed members of the Commission shall hold office until their successors shall have been
appointed and shall qualify.

REPRESENTATIVE TOWN MEETING
TOWN OF GREENWICH

OCTOBER 2017 Call
Page 2 of 16

f.

Designation of Commission Positions
1. The positions for the seven (7) appointed regular members shall be designated positions R1
through R7. The terms for these positions are defined as follows:

(R1): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R2): The Current Term for regular member (R2) shall expire June 30, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R3): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R4): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R5): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years
(R6): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years
(R7): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years
Referred to Legislative and Rules Committee
Referred to Health & Human Services Committee

3. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Appointments
Committee.
BE IT RESOLVED, that CHAPTER 2A. ALARM DEVICES, CHAPTER 2A. – ALARM DEVICES, Sec. 2A4. - Alarm Appeal Board of the Code of Ordinances of the Town shall be amended by replacing said Section 2A4 with the following:
2A-4 Alarm Appeals Board
There shall be in the Town an Alarm Appeal Board, which shall have the powers and duties granted to it under
this chapter.
4. Composition
a. The Alarm Appeals Board shall consist of five (5) regular members.
REPRESENTATIVE TOWN MEETING
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5. Eligibility
Members shall be electors of the Town of Greenwich and serve without compensation.
6. Appointment Process
a. Members of the Alarm Appeals Board shall be nominated by the Board of
Selectmen and appointed by the Representative Town Meeting.
b. Vacancies in the membership of the Board shall be filled for the unexpired portion
of a term in the same manner as regular and alternate appointments.
c. Three (3) members of such Board shall constitute a quorum. All decisions shall be
by a majority of those present and voting.
7. Establishment of Unique Designations
a. Each of the five (5) appointed positions on this Board is assigned a unique
designation to facilitate auditing of the appointment process over the course of time.
Each designation contains a letter followed by a number. The letter identifies the
category of membership; “R” indicating a regular member and, should this board ever
be assigned alternate members, “A” indicating an alternate member. The number
following the letter uniquely identifies each position within the respective category.
b. The initial association of position designations to names of appointed members shall
be established by resolution adopted by the appointing authority, the Representative
Town Meeting.
8. Length and types of terms
a. Terms for appointed regular members and alternates shall be for a period of four (4)
years except for the shorter one-time interim term for member R5, as designated in
subsection f, “Designation of Board Positions”
b. Three (3) types of terms are utilized in the subsections below. “Current
Term” refers to a term to which someone has been both appointed before January 1,
2018 and which appointment expires after January 1, 2018. “Interim Term” refers to a
single term of less than four (4) years and which is used once, as specified in subsection
(f.1) below, to accomplish a staggering of the term expiration years of the Board
REPRESENTATIVE TOWN MEETING
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positions for the purpose of limiting the scheduled turnover of Board members in a
single year, thus minimizing risk to Board continuity.
c. When appointing a new member to this Board, the new member will receive the
position designation previously assigned the person she or he is succeeding and such
designation will be indicated on all notices of nomination and appointment including,
but not limited to, the agenda and the minutes of the Representative Town Meeting, the
committees of the Representative Town Meeting and, where appropriate, the agenda
and minutes of the Board of Selectmen.
d. Effective January 1, 2018, Current Terms shall expire on June 30 and commence on
July 1 according to the designations in subsection (f.1).
e. Each regular member and alternate member appointed heretofore and serving on
January 1, 2018 shall continue to serve such term to which such member was
appointed. Such term shall be extended to expire on June 30 following the date on
which their current appointment was scheduled to expire.
f. Appointed members of the Board shall hold office until their successors shall have
been appointed and shall qualify.
9. Designation of Board Positions
a. The positions for the five (5) appointed regular members shall be designated
positions R1 through R5. These terms for these positions are defined as follows:

(R1): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R2): The Current Term for regular member (R2) shall expire June 30, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R3): The Current Term for regular member (R3), shall expire June 30, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R4): The Current Term for regular member (R4) shall expire June 30, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
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(R5): The Current Term for regular member (R5), shall expire June 30, 2018. The next
appointment will be to a three-year (3-year) interim term which will expire June 30, 2021.
Terms thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
Referred to Legislative & Rules Committee
Referred to Town Services Committee

4. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Appointment Committee.
BE IT RESOLVED, that CHAPTER 2. ADMINISTRATION, ARTICLE 2. - CODE OF ETHICS, Sec. 2-11. Board of Ethics; membership; term; vacancy of the Code of Ordinances shall be amended by replacing said
Section 2-11 with the following:
Sec. 2-11-Membership; number; appointment.
There shall be established a Board of Ethics in and for the town
g.

Composition

The Board shall consist of five (5) regular members. The members shall elect a Chairman and a Secretary.
h.

Eligibility
Members shall be electors of the Town of Greenwich and hold no other office.

i.

Appointment Process
1. Members shall be nominated by the Board of Selectmen and appointed by the Representative
Town Meeting.
2. Vacancies in the membership of the Board shall be filled for the unexpired portion of a term in the
same manner as regular and alternate appointments.

j.

Establishment of Unique Designations
1. Each of the five (5) appointed positions on this Board is assigned a unique designation to facilitate
auditing of the appointment process over the course of time. Each designation contains a letter
followed by a number. The letter identifies the category of membership; “R” indicating a regular
member and, should this board ever be assigned alternate members, “A” indicating an alternate
member. The number following the letter uniquely identifies each position within the respective
category.
2. The initial association of position designations to names of appointed members shall
be established by resolution adopted by the appointing authority, the Representative Town Meeting.

k.

Length and types of terms
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1. Terms for appointed regular members and alternates shall be for a period of three (3) years.
2. In the subsections below, “Current Term” refers to a term to which someone has been both
appointed before January 1, 2018 and which appointment expires after January 1, 2018.
3. When appointing a new member to this Board, the new member will receive the position
designation previously assigned the person she or he is succeeding and such designation will be
indicated on all notices of nomination and appointment including, but not limited to, the agenda and
the minutes of the Representative Town Meeting, the committees of the Representative Town Meeting
and, where appropriate, the agenda and minutes of the Board of Selectmen.
4. Effective January 1, 2018, Current Terms shall expire on June 30 and commence on July 1
according to the designations in subsection (f.1).
5. Each regular member and alternate member appointed heretofore and serving on January 1, 2018
shall continue to serve such term to which such member was appointed. Such term shall be extended to
expire on June 30 following the date on which their current appointment was scheduled to expire.
6. Appointed members of the Board shall hold office until their successors shall have been appointed
and shall qualify.
l.

Designation of Board Positions
1. The positions for the five (5) appointed regular members shall be designated positions R1 through
R5. These terms for these positions are defined as follows:

(R1): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire June 30, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R2): The Current Term for regular member (R2) shall expire June 30, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R3): The Current Term for regular member (R3), shall expire June 30, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
(R4): The Current Term for regular member (R4) shall expire June 30, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
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(R5): The Current Term for regular member (R5) shall expire June 30, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of three (3) years.
Referred to Legislative & Rules Committee
Referred to Town Services Committee

5. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Appointments
Committee.
BE IT RESOLVED, that CHAPTER 6. LAND USE, ARTICLE 5. - HISTORIC DISTRICT, Sec. 6-309. Commission. Through Section 310 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town shall be amended by replacing said
Sections 309 and 310 with the following:
309- An Historic District Commission is hereby established
310 - Membership; number; appointment.
m.

Composition
1. The Historic District Commission shall consist of five (5) regular members.
2. In addition to five (5) regular members, the Historic District Commission shall also include five (5)
alternate members.

n.

Eligibility
Members shall be electors of the Town of Greenwich.

o.

Appointment Process
1. Five (5) regular members and the five (5) alternate members shall be nominated by the Board of
Selectmen and appointed by the Representative Town Meeting.
2. Vacancies in the membership of the Commission shall be filled for the unexpired portion of a term
in the same manner as regular and alternate appointments.

p.

Establishment of Unique Designations
1. Each of the ten (10) appointed positions on this Commission is assigned a unique designation to
facilitate auditing of the appointment process over the course of time. Each designation contains a
letter followed by a number. The letter identifies the category of membership; “R” indicating a regular
member and “A” indicating an alternate member. The number following the letter uniquely identifies
each position within the respective category.
2. The initial association of position designations to names of appointed members shall
be established by resolution adopted by the appointing authority, the Representative Town Meeting.
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q.

Length and types of terms
1. Terms for appointed regular members and alternates shall be for a period of five (5) years.
2. In the subsections below, “Current Term” refers to a term to which someone has been both
appointed before January 1, 2018 and which appointment expires after January 1, 2018.
3. When appointing a new member to this Commission, the new member will receive the position
designation previously assigned the person she or he is succeeding and such designation will be
indicated on all notices of nomination and appointment including, but not limited to, the agenda and
the minutes of the Representative Town Meeting, the committees of the Representative Town Meeting
and, where appropriate, the agenda and minutes of the Board of Selectmen.
4. Effective January 1, 2018, Current Terms shall expire on October 31 and commence on November
1 according to the designations in subsection (f.1).
5. Each regular member and alternate member appointed heretofore and serving on January 1, 2018
shall continue to serve such term to which such member was appointed. Such term shall be extended to
expire on October 31 following the date on which their current appointment was scheduled to expire.
6. Appointed members of the Commission shall hold office until their successors shall have been
appointed and shall qualify.

r.

Designation of Commission Positions
1. The positions for the five (5) appointed regular members shall be designated positions R1 through
R5 and the positions for the five (5) appointed alternate members shall be designated positions A1
through A5. These terms for these positions are defined as follows:

(R1): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire October 31, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(R2): The Current Term for regular member (R2) shall expire October 31, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(R3): The Current Term for regular member (R3), shall expire October 31, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
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(R4): The Current Term for regular member (R4) shall expire October 31, 2021. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(R5): The Current Term for regular member (R5) shall expire October 31, 2022. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(A1): The Current Term for alternate member (A1) shall expire October 31, 2018. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(A2): The Current Term for alternate member (A2) shall expire October 31, 2019. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(A3): The Current Term for alternate member (A3) shall expire October 31, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(A4): The Current Term for alternate member (A4) shall expire October 31, 2021. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
(A5): The Current Term for alternate member (A5) shall expire October 31, 2022. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of five (5) years.
Referred to Legislative & Rules Committee
Referred to Land Use Committee
6. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Appointments
Committee.
BE IT RESOLVED, that CHAPTER 2. ADMINISTRATION, ARTICLE 6: INLAND WETLANDS AND
WATERCOURSES AGENCY, sec 2-20 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town shall be amended by replacing
said Section 6-220 with the following:
Sec. 6-220 - Membership; number; appointment.
s.

Composition
1. The Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency shall consist of seven (7) regular members.
2. In addition to seven (7) regular members, the Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency shall also
include three (3) alternate members.

t.

Eligibility
Members shall be electors of the Town of Greenwich.

u.

Appointment Process
1. The seven (7) regular members and the three (3) alternate members of this agency shall be
nominated by the Board of Selectmen and appointed by the Representative Town Meeting.
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2. Vacancies in the membership of the agency shall be filled for the unexpired portion of a term in the
same manner as regular and alternate appointments.
3. Members and alternate members of the Inland Wetland and Water Courses Agency shall serve
without compensation.
v.

Establishment of Unique Designations
1. Each of the ten (10) appointed positions on this agency is assigned a unique designation to
facilitate auditing of the appointment process over the course of time. Each designation contains a
letter followed by a number. The letter identifies the category of membership; “R” indicating a regular
member and “A” indicating an alternate member. The number following the letter uniquely identifies
each position within the respective category.
2. The initial association of position designations to names of appointed members shall
be established by resolution adopted by the appointing authority, the Representative Town Meeting.

w.

Length and types of terms
1. Terms for appointed regular members and alternates shall be for a period of four (4) years except
for the shorter one-time interim terms for members R5, R6, R7, A2, and A3 as designated in
subsection f, “Designation of Board Positions”
2. Three (3) types of terms are utilized in the subsections below. “Current Term” refers to a term to
which someone has been both appointed before January 1, 2018 and which appointment expires after
January 1, 2018. “Interim Term” refers to a single term of less than four (4) years and which is used
once, as specified in subsection (f.1) below, to accomplish a staggering of the term expiration years of
the Board positions for the purpose of limiting the scheduled turnover of agency members in a single
year, thus minimizing risk to agency continuity.
3. When appointing a new member to this agency, the new member will receive the position
designation previously assigned the person she or he is succeeding and such designation will be
indicated on all notices of nomination and appointment including, but not limited to, the agenda and
the minutes of the Representative Town Meeting, the committees of the Representative Town Meeting
and, where appropriate, the agenda and minutes of the Board of Selectmen.
4. Effective January 1, 2018, Current Terms shall expire on October 31 and commence on November
1 according to the designations in subsection (f.1).
5. Each regular member and alternate member appointed heretofore and serving on January 1, 2018
shall continue to serve such term to which such member was appointed. Such term shall be extended to
expire on October 31 following the date on which their current appointment was scheduled to expire.
6. Appointed members of the Board shall hold office until their successors shall have been appointed
and shall qualify.

x.

Designation of Agency Positions
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1. The positions for the seven (7) appointed regular members shall be designated positions R1
through R7 and the positions for the three (3) appointed alternate members shall be designated
positions A1 through A3. These terms for these positions are defined as follows:
(R1): The Current Term for regular member (R1) shall expire October 31, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R2): The Current Term for regular member (R2) shall expire October 31, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R3): The Current Term for regular member (R3), shall expire October 31, 2021. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R4): The Current Term for regular member (R4) shall expire October 31, 2021. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R5): The Current Term for regular member (R5) shall expire October 31, 2020. The next
appointment will be to a two-year (2-year) Interim Term which will expire October 31, 2022. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years
(R6): The Current Term for regular member (R6) shall expire October 31, 2021. The next
appointment will be to a one-year (1-year) interim term which will expire October 31,
2022. Terms thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(R7): The Current Term for regular member (R4) shall expire October 31, 2021. The next
appointment will be to a two-year (2-year) interim term which will expire October 31,
2023. Terms thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(A1): The Current Term for alternate member (A1) shall expire October 31, 2020. Terms
thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(A2): The Current Term for alternate member (A2) shall expire October 31, 2021. The next
appointment will be to a one-year (1-year) interim term which will expire October 31,
2022. Terms thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
(A3): The Current Term for alternate member (A3) shall expire October 31, 2020. The next
appointment will be to a three-year (3-year) interim term which will expire October 31,
2023. Terms thereafter shall be for a period of four (4) years.
Referred to Legislative & Rules Committee
Referred to Land Use Committee

7. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Superintendent of
Parks and Recreation and approved by the First Selectman.
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RESOLVED, that the RTM approves the sublease between the Greenwich Garden Education
Center and the Greenwich Tree Conservancy for a part of the West Wing of the former mansion
owned by the Town and located within the Montgomery Pinetum Park.
Referred to Land Use Committee
Referred to Legislative and Rules Committee
Referred to Parks & Recreation Committee
8. To consider and act upon the following resolution.
RESOLVED, that the following named person, nominated by the Appointments Committee,
be appointed Member of the Labor Contracts Committee for the term expiring 12/31/17.
Carl “Rob” Perelli-Minetti
Referred to Appointments Committee
Referred to Finance Committee
9.

To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Director of Nathaniel
Witherell and approved by the Board of Estimate and Taxation.

WHEREAS, the Nathaniel Witherell’s Tower Building was originally opened in 1974, and;
WHEREAS, over the course of 44 years of continuous use, the Tower Building’s four
nursing units require significant renovations/upgrades to successfully compete for and attract
long-term skilled nursing care consumers; and
WHEREAS, the Nathaniel Witherell needs to attract residents with the ability to pay
privately for their care; and
WHEREAS, each of the four nursing unit renovations will include the replacement of all
ceiling and lighting fixtures, stripping and resurfacing with paint and wallpaper all interior walls,
replacing handicap railings and trim, replacing carpeting, replacing furnishings & window
treatments, renovating the personal hygiene center (including a tub room, two shower rooms and
two bathrooms), and updating the nurse call and public address systems; and
WHEREAS, Nathaniel Witherell’s approved capital budget for FY16 included a
$950,000 appropriation to renovate the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th floor nursing units; and
WHEREAS, after issuing 3 RFBs soliciting contractors to bid on the work required to
complete the above referenced renovations, the lowest bid to complete the renovations totaled
$1,327,000 (a difference of $377,000); and
WHEREAS, the Friends of Nathaniel Witherell has previously raised $200,000 for
Project Renew and has agreed to support the additional costs of this renovation project with the
aforementioned funds. The additional dollars required from the Town of Greenwich to complete
this project is $177,000.
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the sum of $377,000 is hereby
appropriated for the additional costs associated with renovating the four nursing units at a total
cost of $1,327,000.
Referred to Finance Committee
Referred to Health & Human Services Committee

10. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the First Selectman and
approved by the Board of Selectmen.
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RESOLVED, that the Representative Town Meeting consider enacting an ordinance adopting the Town of
Greenwich Harbor Management Plan August 2017 (Final Draft for Town Adoption) prepared by the Town of
Greenwich Harbor Management Commission in accordance with Sections 22a-113k, et seq. of the Connecticut
General Statutes.
WHEREAS, the Town of Greenwich seeks to enhance the beauty and value of the Greenwich Harbors Area, its
associated waterways and the Greenwich shoreline as a recreational, environmental and economic resource; and
WHEREAS, in order to accomplish these ends, in 2013, the Town of Greenwich established the Greenwich
Harbor Management Commission pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 444a of the Connecticut General Statutes
§ 22a-113k, with all of the powers provided to such a commission pursuant to the provisions of §§ 22a-113l et
seq. of the Connecticut General Statutes, including the authority to prepare a Harbor Management Plan; and
WHEREAS, in order to strengthen the Town of Greenwich’s role in the management of activities affecting the
Greenwich Harbors Area, to identify priority issues and to develop long-range policies for the beneficial use and
conservation of the Greenwich Harbors Area, the Greenwich Harbor Management Commission has drafted a
Harbor Management Plan; and
WHEREAS, each of the Greenwich Harbor Management Commission, the Board of Selectmen, the Connecticut
Department of Energy & Environmental Protection and the Connecticut Port Authority has separately reviewed
and approved the Harbor Management Plan, which was also reviewed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; and
WHEREAS, the Town of Greenwich desires to adopt the Harbor Management Plan pursuant to the authority
provided by § 22a-113m of the Connecticut General Statutes.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, that the Representative Town Meeting of the Town of Greenwich
hereby adopts the Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Plan (Final Draft for Town Adoption) through
approval of the following ordinance:
Pursuant to the provisions of § 22a-113m of the Connecticut General Statutes, the Town of Greenwich
hereby adopts the plan entitled “Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Plan, August 2017 (Final Draft
for Town Adoption)” prepared by the Town of Greenwich Harbor Management Commission in
accordance with Sections 22a-113k, et seq. of the Connecticut General Statutes.
Effective Date: This ordinance shall take effect upon enactment.
Referred to Land Use Committee
Referred to Legislative & Rules Committee
Referred to Parks & Recreation Committee

11. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the Superintendent of Schools and

and approved by the Board of Education.
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Whereas, the Board of Education hereby affirms the need for the new New Lebanon School as
currently designed and for which all necessary approvals have been secured.
Whereas, the project is approved by the CT State Board of Education as meeting the requirements
for state reimbursement under the Diversity Grant Statute.
Whereas, the ongoing budget impasse in CT has caused uncertainty.
Whereas the New Lebanon Building Committee advised the BOE on 9/14/17 of likely cost increases
and further delays should the project start date be extended beyond (on or about) October 24th.
Whereas, the BET conditioned the release of funding for the New Lebanon project in the amount of
$34,359 million in the 2016-'17 budget.
Whereas, the BET has given guidance that such conditions will not be released without an
affirmative vote by the Representative Town Meeting.
Resolved, the Board of Education requests that via a sense of the meeting resolution the RTM
support the release of funding conditions so this long needed project can commence.
Further resolved, the BOE respectfully requests the BET to consider the release of conditions at the
earliest opportunity.
Referred to Education Committee
Referred to Finance Committee
12. To consider and act upon the following resolution.
RESOLVED, that the following named person, nominated by the Board of Selectmen, be
appointed a member of the Historic District Commission, for a term expiring 3/31/19.
CYNTHIA SMITH
Referred to Appointments Committee
Referred to Land Use Committee
13. To consider and act upon the following resolution.
RESOLVED, that the following named person, nominated by the Board of Selectmen, be
appointed a member of the Board of Parks and Recreation for a term expiring 3/31/18.
KIRK SCHUBERT
Referred to Appointments Committee
Referred to Parks & Recreation Committee
14. To consider and act upon the following resolution, requested by the First Selectman and
approved by the Board of Selectmen.
RESOLVED, that upon unanimous approval by the Board of Selectmen, that New Lebanon Avenue,
which commences at Delavan Avenue and ends at Wessels Place, for a distance of 300 feet, be
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renamed to Veterans Way. The request by the Byram Veterans Association has been approved by
the one abutting landowner as well as the Police Department, Town Clerk, Fire Department,
Highway Department, Building Inspector, Planning and Zoning Office, the Post Office, Board of
Education, Tax Assessor, Registrars of Voters and the Zoning Enforcement Officer. This name
change is to take effect upon ratification of the Representative Town Meeting.
Referred to Public Works Committee
15. To consider and act upon the following resolution.
WHEREAS, the Town entered into a Management Agreement with the Bruce Museum, Inc. (BMI) on
January 31, 1992, which designated and appointed BMI to supervise, operate and manage the Museum
and administer its affairs;
WHEREAS, said Management Agreement was amended on November 2, 2016;
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the First Selectman is authorized to execute the
Second Amendment to Bruce Museum Management Agreement which amends the definition of “plans” to
include reorganization of the existing facility and construction of an integrated addition, clarify overflow
parking procedures, and more specifically define the maintenance obligations of the Town and BMI.

Referred to Education Committee
Referred to Finance Committee
Referred to Legislative & Rules Committee

Dated at Greenwich, Ct
October 9, 2017
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